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£428.8m
Group revenue
+56.5% (2006: £274.0m)

£36.1m
Group operating profit from continuing 
operations before exceptional items 
+143.9% (2006: £14.8m)

£33.0m
Group profit before tax
+111.5% (2006: £15.6m)

£17.8m
Cash generated from operating activities 
before industrial disease scheme funding
up 29.9% (2006: £13.7m)

£180.7m
Net assets
+140.3% (2006: £75.2m)

26.2p
Diluted EPS from continuing operations
+63.8% (2006: 16.0p)

23.6p
Underlying adjusted EPS 
from continuing operations 
+47.5% (2006: 16.0p)

> High levels of organic growth 
in every region; order book
continues to strengthen

> Australian acquisitions;
diversification into 
resources sector

> Acquisition of additional
complementary services 
within the UK 

> Group reorganised into four 
key geographic regions;
Regional Directors appointed

> Appointment of additional
Non-Executive Director and
Group Human Resources &
Safety Directors

> Continued investment in
training; CISRS approved
training centre in the Philippines

> Every region recognised by
clients for safety performance

> Rebranding of all Group
businesses as Cape – replacing
previous trading styles CIS,
RB Hilton and Cape East
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Cape is a leading international
provider of essential industrial
services to the energy and
natural resources sectors,
providing a broad range of
multi-disciplinary, skilled support
services throughout the life
cycle of major industrial assets.

Cape’s 13,000 employees
deliver safe, reliable, on time
and intelligent solutions
both on and offshore in over
23 countries around the world.
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Cape’s international coverage now extends 
from the UK, through the Gulf/Middle East,
CIS/Caspian and into the Far East/Pacific 
Rim, working with many of the world’s leading 
national and international petrochemical,
LNG and mining companies.

Group at
a glance

Gulf/Middle East

The local management team has been further
strengthened to ensure that the Group is in 
the best position to take advantage of the
buoyant Oil and Gas market in the Middle East.
Continued investment in both staff and assets
led to an exceptional year for the region.

UK 

+42.2%
£270.1m  

Highlights
–  Acquisition of Total Rope Access International Limited 

and Endecon Limited in June 2007 to further enhance 
the Group’s package of bundled services. 

–  Appointment of UK Regional Director.
–  New contract wins including: maintenance contracts with 

John Wood Group at Shell St Fergus and Mossmorran terminals
in Scotland and maintenance contracts at Didcot A and B 
and Aberthaw power station with RWE Npower.

Highlights
–  £9.8m invested in scaffold and other fixed assets.
–  Major contract wins in Saudi, (Yansab £15m, Tekfen £8.5m) 

and continued growth in Abu Dhabi and Qatar.
–  Major breakthroughs in Kuwait (Gulf Spic £2.5m) 

and Oman (Mukhainza Gas Field £4m).

The UK has seen strong organic growth in
business, with revenue and operating profit 
up 32.6% and 79.8% respectively after 
taking out the effect of the 2006 and 2007
acquisitions. The business has extensive
operations both onshore and offshore on 
the UK continental shelf. 

Revenue

+103.9%
£21.0m

Operating profit

+62.8%
£66.1m  

Revenue

+31.9%
£12.4m  

Operating profit
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CIS/Caspian Far East/Pacific Rim

Focused on Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan and
Sakhalin Island, Cape continues to deliver first
class services in harsh environments. This 
has been acknowledged by excellent results 
for the year.

Three business acquisitions in Australia has
strengthened Cape’s footprint in the region 
and significantly increased the Group’s position
in the strong natural resources sector in
Western Australia.

Highlights
–  The Sakhalin contract exceeded $53m revenue in 2007 

with operating profit of $5.6m.
–  4 million man hours worked on Sakhalin contract 

without a lost time incident.
–  Kazakhstan PFD Tengiz insulation contract contributed $22m 

to revenue in 2007, generating $3.5m gross margin.
–  New contracts won in Kazakhstan for Aker Kvaerner Hook Up

and Ersai, ensuring a strong head of work going into 2008.

Highlights
–  Acquisition of TCC, Concept Hire and PCH Group in Australia.
–  Continued progress on Inco Goro Nikel project in New Caledonia.
–  Strong growth in Singapore with revenue up 33.8% to £3.5m 

with further growth expected in 2008.

+45.8%
£45.2m  

Revenue

+1050%
£4.6m  

Operating profit

+285.6%
£45.5m  

Revenue

+ from
breakeven

£2.9m

Operating profit
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2007 has been a transformational year for Cape
and I am delighted to report that, during a period
of significant acquisition activity, Cape has also
posted record levels of revenue and profit.The
outlook for 2008 is also looking very promising.

Chairman’s
statement

2007 has been a transformational year
for Cape and I am delighted to report
that, during a period of significant
acquisition activity, Cape has also
posted record levels of revenue and
profit. The outlook for 2008 is also
looking very promising. 

On 23 April 2007, Cape completed 
the placing of 26.9 million Ordinary
Shares at £2.60 per share, raising 
£70 million before expenses. The
placing was oversubscribed and the
net proceeds were used to part fund
the Australian acquisitions.

During the year Cape entered into 
a new £220 million committed, five 
year banking facility with Barclays
Bank. Net debt at the year end was
£189.2 million.

As outlined in the 2006 Annual Report,
the Group has embarked upon a
programme of strategic acquisitions.
During the first half of 2007, Cape
made two bolt-on acquisitions in the
UK, namely the rope access company,
Total Rope Access International
(‘TRAIL’), and the specialist industrial
cleaning company, Endecon. More
materially, these were followed by
three strategic acquisitions in Australia
in the second half to extend the
Group’s footprint within the Far East 
& Pacific Rim: TCC in August and
Concept Hire and PCH in October 
and November, respectively.

Results for 2007
Group revenue for the year was up
56.5% to £428.8 million (2006: £274.0
million), an increase of £154.8 million.
Of this increase, revenue attributable
to organic growth was £127.0 million.
Group operating profit from continuing
operations before exceptional items
increased by 143.9% to £36.1 million
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(2006: £14.8 million). Diluted earnings
per share from continuing operations
increased 63.8% to 26.2 pence (2006:
16.0 pence) and the adjusted fully
diluted EPS for 2007 (excluding the
effect of a one off tax credit received 
in the year on the consolidation 
of Concept Hire in Australia) were 
23.6 pence (2006: 16.0 pence). Cape
has now delivered substantial growth
in revenue and underlying profitability
for the last four consecutive years.

The Board
Since 1 April 2007, when Sean
O’Connor rejoined the Board, its
composition has remained unchanged.
The Board currently comprises:

David McManus – Non-Executive
Chairman

Martin May – Chief Executive
Mike Reynolds – Group Finance

Director
David Robins – Non-Executive

Director
Sean O’Connor – Non-Executive

Director

Cape is undergoing dynamic change
and the demands on the Board are
growing. My own work commitments
elsewhere are also growing and it is
with some regret therefore that I have
concluded I cannot devote sufficient
time to my role as Chairman.
Accordingly, it is my intention to step
down as Chairman at the conclusion
of the 2008 Annual General Meeting. 
I am delighted to confirm however that
with the unanimous approval of the
Board, Sean O’Connor has agreed to
become Non-Executive Chairman in
my place. Sean brings to the job not
only a wealth of experience in business
and the City, but also an extensive
knowledge of Cape. I am also pleased

to confirm that I will be remaining on
the Board as a Non-Executive Director.

David Robins continues as Senior
Independent Non-Executive Director.

Our people
As a Board, we recognise that it is the
dedication, quality and enthusiasm of
Cape’s employees that underpins the
Company’s success. We are delighted,
therefore, to have welcomed more
than 3,000 new employees to the
Group in the last 12 months. We are
committed to the success of the whole
business and, through our ‘One Cape’
philosophy, believe that by effective
collaboration and the leveraging of
relationships across the organisation
we can provide an outstanding and
safe service to all our clients. 

Nevertheless, we do not
underestimate the personal and
professional challenges that people
face, whether as part of a business
that is joining the Group or as one of
the existing team during a sustained
period of rapid growth. So, on behalf
of the Board, I would like to thank 
the Group’s management, staff and
employees at every level for the hard
work and commitment throughout
2007 that has delivered such an
excellent set of results. 

With strong underlying demand 
for our services in 2008 the Board 
looks forward to another year 
of substantial progress.

David McManus
Chairman
9 May 2008
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During 2007, Cape generated substantial organic
growth in all its key markets and completed a 
series of strategic acquisitions which will further
enhance the Group’s ability to offer its services 
in the Far East/Pacific Rim and in particular the
booming Australian LNG and resources sectors.
The Group also acquired two businesses in the 
UK providing additional complementary services 
to sell to existing customers.

Year at 
a glance

Cape starts the year
with the award of 
the British Safety
Council’s prestigious
Sword of Honour 
for the third time 
in five years. Cape
returns to the Ineos
Grangemouth 
oil terminal with a
significant scaffold
and insulation
services contract
from AMEC. Cape
receives a Working
Links ‘Outstanding
Achievement’ award
for its contribution 
to the training and
employment of long-
term unemployed
people in the North
Tyneside area of
England. Cape also
announces a number 
of new contracts in
the UAE and Qatar.

Cape secures
contracts with RWE
NPower to provide
access provision for
the maintenance 
and project services
at the Didcot A and
B power stations in
Oxfordshire, UK.
Initial discussions 
are held with PCH.
Peter Hughes is
appointed as 
Head of Business
Development for 
UK operations. 
Cape achieves the
milestone of two
million man-hours
without a lost time
incident (LTI) on the
Sakhalin II LNG
Project in Russia. 

Accreditation body
SGS recommend 
the continuing
certification to
international
business standards
of Cape’s manage-
ment systems. On
Shell’s Malampaya
Project in the
Philippines, Cape
moves past the
three million man-
hour mark without 
an LTI.

Sean O’Connor
rejoins the Board 
as a Non-Executive
Director. Lewis
Montgomery joins
Cape from
Mohammad Al-Mojil
(MMG) Group to take
up the role of
Commercial Director 
for the Gulf/Middle 
East. Cape wins a
major multi-discipline
contract on the
LDPE (Low Density
Polyethylene)
construction project 
at Wilton, on
Teesside in the UK,
one of the largest
polyethylene facilities
in the world. Cape
raises £70 million
with an institutional
placing. 

Cape is awarded 
a four year 
multi-discipline
maintenance
contract by Sakhalin
Neftegas Services
(SNGS) for the
provision of services 
to support Sakhalin
Energy’s onshore
assets. The contract
secures Cape’s
presence beyond the
construction phase
of Sakhalin II LNG.

Cape acquires Total
Rope Access
International (‘TRAIL’),
market leaders using
abseiling techniques 
to work at height.
Cape acquires
Endecon who provide
environmentally 
safe systems to
decontaminate 
oil refinery and
petrochemical
systems. Cape
achieves three million
man-hours without an
LTI on the Sakhalin II
LNG Project. Cape
announces a number
of new contract wins
including: Cape DBI 
to provide site-wide
drainage cleaning and
CCTV survey at BP’s
Sullom Voe terminal; 
in Qatar, two three
year maintenance
contract renewals with
Qatar Petroleum on
the Dhukan oilfield;
and in Singapore, 
an important access
scaffolding contract
with Foster Wheeler
on the Lucite Alpha 
1 Project.

01
Jan

02
Feb

03
Mar

04
Apr

05
May

06
Jun
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Cape announces 
the completion of 
an independent
review of its
organisation 
and an in depth
assessment of its
key management
group. As a
consequence, the
Group is reorganised
into four separately
managed geographic
regions being the
UK, Gulf/Middle
East, CIS/Caspian
and Far East/Pacific
Rim. Cape’s Export
Sales Division
secures a multi-
million pound order
from Bechtel Enka 
to supply jet fire
rated valve covers
for the OPF facility 
in Sakhalin.

Cape acquires the
Australian based Total
Corrosion Control
group of companies
(‘TCC Group’). Cape
provides assistance
to victims of the
Sakhalin earthquakes.
Cape’s expansion 
into North Africa
continues with the
award of a scaffolding
contract by British
Gas on the Hannibal
Sour Gas Project in
Tunisia. In the UK,
Cape is awarded a
new multi-discipline
contract with
International Power’s
operating company;
Saltend Cogeneration 
at its plant in Hull. 

Cape’s operatives 
on Sakhalin Island
achieve four million
man-hours without
an LTI. TCC Group
announce a major
multi-discipline
contract award on
the BP Kwinana
refinery in Western
Australia. Cape’s
operations in
Australia receive
SGS accreditation
certificates for ISO
9001 and OHSAS
18001 Quality and
Safety Management
Systems.

Cape gains control 
of Australian based
Concept Hire. Cape
secures contract
awards worth more 
than £32 million in 
Saudi Arabia, Oman,
Qatar, UAE and Kuwait.
Cape wins contracts 
on Rugeley and
Marchwood power
stations in the UK.
Cape’s UK Region,
Bahrain, Saudi Arabia,
Qatar, Abu Dhabi,
Singapore, Thailand,
Philippines and
Azerbaijan operations
certified to OHSAS
18001. British
Ambassador, Peter
Beckingham, opens
Cape’s new training
centre in the Philippines.

Richard Shuttleworth,
former commercial
director at AMEC
Group, takes up his
appointment as UK
Regional Director. 
Cape gains control
of Australian based
PCH Group.

Cape’s UK operations
recognized by 
Exxon Mobil UK &
Ireland Distribution
Pipelines for reaching
the Safety Milestone
of 10 Years Flawless
Safety in the
refurbishment of 
more than 350 tanks
clocking up over
750,000 man hours
with only one first 
aid injury. Cape
announces the
appointment of 
Peter Roberts,
formerly with National
Grid and BG Group,
to the position of
Group Compliance
Director.

07
Jul

08
Aug

09
Sep

10
Oct

11
Nov

12
Dec

Highlight 
of the year
Three key strategic
acquisitions made 
in Australia during 
2007 have led to the
Group’s diversification
into the resources
sector and extended
its footprint in the 
Far East/Pacific Rim
region.
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Cape closed 2007 with activity levels at record
highs for the second year in a row. In every
business region the Company is currently
trading in line with management’s expectations.

Excellent service
Chief Executive’s business review

I am delighted to report that Cape
has again delivered an outstanding
set of results. 

Cape, which specializes in the
provision of access services,
insulation, fire protection, specialist
cleaning and other essential
support services to major industrial
clients principally in the energy 
and natural resources sectors, 
has generated substantial organic
growth in all its key markets. It has
also completed a series of earnings
enhancing acquisitions which will
maximize the Group’s ability to offer
its services throughout its footprint
and in particular within the Far
East/Pacific Rim. 

During the year the business was
reorganised into four discrete
geographic business units: the UK,
Gulf/Middle East, CIS/Caspian and
Far East/Pacific Rim. Regional
management teams for each of 
the business units have been
appointed and, at the beginning 
of 2008, the Group head office

function was relocated to Stockley
Park close to Heathrow in West
London. Also, during 2007, the Malta
office has been significantly expanded
in order to develop the market for our
multi-disciplinary services in the
Southern Mediterranean/Northern
African area which offers very exciting
long term prospects. 

Financial summary
Revenue for the year from continuing
operations but excluding acquisitions
was £401.0 million (2006: £270.5
million), an increase of 48.2%.
Revenue from 2007 acquisitions
amounted to £27.8 million by the year
end (2006: £3.5 million). Total revenue
was up 56.5% to £428.8 million 
(2006: £274.0 million). 

Martin K May
Chief Executive
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Working from Cape’s
Aberdeen depots, our
offshore workforce carries
out a range of different
skills and core trades
following stringent training.

Project planning ensures
both efficient and
targeted responses to 
our clients’ requirements.

�

�

2007

2006

2005

2004

2003

Revenue from continuing operations £m

428.8

274.0

229.8

238.9

228.3
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The Group has acquired exclusive rights
in the UK to high pressure membrane
press technology which is capable of
separating oily waste into recoverable
fuel oil and dry friable solid or cake
accepted on landfall sites.

Technology
focused

Cape is committed to
developing new
technologies and
equipment to maximise
the services we provide
our clients.

�

The net charge to the income statement
for industrial disease claims was 
£1.6 million (2006: £3.4 million). One 
of the benefits of the Scheme is that
asbestos-related Scheme claims are
paid directly from the £40.0 million fund
established for that purpose in 2006.
During the year, the Scheme fund
generated interest of £2.2 million whilst
Scheme claims received during the year
totalled £2.3 million (2006: £3.5 million).
The Scheme paid out £3.0 million to
settle claims made in 2007 and prior
years. There were no claims paid that
were not covered either by the Scheme
in their entirety or by an agreement
which caps the Company’s liability or by
insurance. Whilst Cape has a continuing
obligation to top up the fund to the
extent that the triennial assessments
show that there is a shortfall in the
Scheme funding requirement, the most
recent independent review shows that
the Scheme is fully funded for at least
the next 13 years. Consequently, the
Directors can confirm that there is no
requirement to top up the Scheme at
this time.

Net debt as at 31 December 2007
stood at £189.2 million (2006: £21.4
million). The higher debt figure is a direct
result of our successful acquisitions 
in 2007, less the funds raised by the
equity placing and from organic cash
generation. The Group has sufficient
borrowing capacity to finance current
investment plans.

The tax charge for the year on
continuing operations was £5.4 million
(2006: £2.0 million), an effective 
rate of tax for the Group of 16.4% 
(2006: 12.8%). 

Net assets increased from £75.2 million
to £180.7 million. The increase was due
primarily to the placing of £70.0 million
before expenses, with the balance
largely attributable to retained earnings.

Business review
Every region within the Group performed
ahead of our expectations during 2007.
The reorganisation of the Group into
four regions with dedicated and
independent management teams 
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is starting to deliver excellent results 
for the Group. The UK benefited from 
a strategy based around selling 
a broader range of multi-disciplinary
services to key clients whose
maintenance needs continue to grow,
driven onshore by higher demand and
offshore by oil and gas prices.
Elsewhere, and in particular in non-
OECD countries where our market
share is small, our incumbent strategy
continues to deliver exceptional results
for the Group with many completed
projects now turning into long term
maintenance contracts.

UK 
The regional headquarters is based 
in Wakefield, West Yorkshire. The
business has extensive onshore
operations throughout the UK and
offshore operations on the UK
continental shelf (UKCS). Towards 
the end of 2007 a new facility was
established in Glasgow as a base 
for Cape DBI and all other operations
within the area to enhance service to 
the west coast of Scotland. 

During 2007, the region and its newly
acquired subsidiaries, Endecon and
TRAIL, saw substantial growth in
revenue – up by 42.2% from 
£189.9 million to £270.1 million, whilst
operating profits increased by 103.9%
up from £10.3 million to £21.0 million.
2007 also saw a further improvement 
in our health and safety performance. 
In recognition of its health and safety
performance Cape has received the
British Safety Council’s 5 star award and
most recently the Exxon Mobil Platinum
Ten Year Flawless Safety Award for
reaching the safety milestone of 
10 years work on tank rehabilitation
works with only one first aid injury 
and no LTIs.

Our qualified engineers
create cutting-edge
scaffold solutions for 
the most challenging
environments worldwide.

Recently introduced twin-
tailed lanyards ensure the
potential consequences
of an accidental fall are
significantly reduced.

�

�
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The reorganisation of the Group 
into four regions with dedicated and
independent management teams 
is starting to deliver excellent results
for the Group.

International focus

Gulf/Middle East
The headquarters for the region is
located in Bahrain. The business has
extensive operations throughout the
region having major business units in
Saudi Arabia, Qatar and Abu Dhabi, 
with developing businesses in Oman
and Kuwait. 

Year-on-year revenue increased by
62.8%, up from £40.6 million to 
£66.1 million, whilst operating profits
increased by 31.9% up from £9.4 million
to £12.4 million. Key achievements
during the year included the successful
re-entry to the Kuwait market, growing
our share of the maintenance market 
in Qatar, a significant increase in sales 
of insulation products from our

manufacturing facility in Abu Dhabi and
the commissioning of a purpose built
metal fabrication facility in Saudi Arabia. 

CIS/Caspian
The headquarters for the region is
located at St Albans and during 2008
the office will move to Stockley Park. 
The business has extensive operations 
in Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan and on Sakhalin
Island. There is also a satellite office in
Malta which focuses on opportunities in
the Southern Mediterranean & Northern
Africa with the aim of developing it into 
a further business region. 

Year-on-year revenue increased by
45.8%, up from £31.0 million to 
£45.2 million, whilst operating profits
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increased eleven fold from £0.4 million 
to £4.6 million. Key achievements during
the year included completion of
significant tranches of work on Sakhalin
LNG trains 1 & 2 and the award of a
long term maintenance contract for the
facility. In Kazakhstan, over and above
the significant contract awards achieved
during the year, we established a
training facility in Atyrau to underpin 
the future growth of this important
regional business. With an established
base of contracts in Malta, Egypt, and
Tunisia and with major projects targeted
in Algeria, Libya, and Tunisia, the
prospects for further growth in this 
new region look very promising. 

Key achievements during the year,
Australian acquisitions apart, included a
complete reorganisation of our Singapore
operation which has led to a number of
contract awards, including a significant
package of work for Stone & Webster as
part of the construction of a major olefins
recovery project on Jurong Island. 

The Thailand business was awarded
Best Safety Contractor of the Year 
at the Esso Sriracha refineries where 
we worked in excess of 1 million man
hours without an LTI. In the Philippines,
we successfully completed the New
Caledonia module fabrication project 
at Batangas for Inco Goro Nickel,
trained over 240 access personnel 

Far East/Pacific Rim
Following the acquisitions of TCC,
Concept Hire and PCH, the headquarters
for the region has been relocated from
Singapore to Perth in Western Australia.
The office in Singapore will continue to
provide financial and commercial back-
up for our existing and acquired
businesses operating outside of
Australia i.e. in Thailand, Indonesia,
Singapore, the Philippines and
elsewhere.

Year-on-year revenue increased by
285.6% up from £11.8 million to 
£45.5 million, whilst operating profits
increased significantly up from break-
even in 2006 to £2.9 million in 2007.

to UK/international standards and
successfully deployed them to site to
enable ontime delivery of the modules 
to the site on New Caledonia. We also
completed a major shutdown for the
Clough Amec Joint Venture on the Bayu
Undan facilities in the Timor Sea, during
which we deployed another 240 trained
operatives, spanning 14 disciplines. 
In recognition of our safety performance
over the last eight years, the Philippines
business has been selected for
assessment for the British Safety
Council’s 5 star Award. Ahead of 
the acquisitions, a new facility was
established in Darwin to underpin
development of our offshore business 
in this important region.
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Cape’s acquisition of three Australian
businesses marks a major milestone
in the achievement of Cape’s
strategic plan.

Growth through
acquisitions



Acquisitions
During the first half of 2007, Cape made
two bolt-on acquisitions in the UK. 
These were followed by three strategic
acquisitions in Australia in the second half.

Total Rope Access International Limited
TRAIL is the UK market leader in the 
use of abseiling techniques to provide
non-destructive testing, inspection, fabric
maintenance, insulation, painting and
window cleaning services to major
industrial clients.

Endecon Limited 
Endecon provides environmentally safe
systems to decontaminate oil refinery
and petrochemical systems. In addition
to these services, Endecon has acquired
exclusive rights in the UK to high
pressure membrane press technology
which is capable of separating oily waste
into recoverable fuel oil and dry friable
solid or cake acceptable on landfill sites
under the Landfill Directive which came
into force in July 2004. 

Both TRAIL and Endecon operate within
Cape’s core business sectors and their
acquisition further enhances Cape’s
ability to provide a comprehensive
package of bundled industrial services 
to the energy and resources sectors.
Endecon sits alongside Cape DBI, the
high specification cleaning business 
Cape acquired in October 2006.

TCC
On 31 August 2007, Cape completed
the acquisition of the Australian based
TCC Group. TCC, which operates mainly
in Western Australia, offers a wide range
of industrial services to blue chip clients
in the mining, oil, gas and construction
industries. TCC specializes in the
provision of blasting, industrial painting,
protective coatings, thermal and acoustic
insulation, sheet metal fabrication, rubber
lining and access scaffolding. It is
headquartered in Kwinana where it
operates one of the largest blasting 
and painting workshops in the world. 
It also has regional offices at Karratha
and Port Hedland. 

Concept Hire
On 16 October 2007, Cape acquired
ASX listed Concept Hire. Concept 
Hire is a leading supplier of scaffold
equipment and associated services 
to the residential and commercial
construction, civil engineering, mining
and petrochemical industries. The
company is headquartered in Victoria
and has offices in Queensland and
Western Australia. 

PCH 
On 26 November 2007, Cape acquired
PCH. PCH is headquartered in Perth
and provides services including
scaffolding and access management,
formwork and shoring, temporary
fencing, aluminium light access and
materials hoists. The business is
diversified across a range of industries
with construction and maintenance
activities in Australia, the Caspian, 
South East Asia and the Middle East. 

Cape’s acquisition of these three
Australian businesses marks a major
milestone in the achievement of Cape’s
strategic plan. Each of the Australian
businesses made a positive contribution
to the 2007 year end result. A detailed
integration plan has been agreed and 
its implementation is well under way.
Under the leadership of Peter Harley, the
regional Non-Executive Chairman, a new
management team has been put in
place. Regional Finance and Human
Resources directors have been
appointed and the remainder of the 
key management group has been 
drawn from Cape’s existing international 
senior management group and the
acquired companies.

The Board is confident that synergies will
be achieved in excess of those forecast
at the time of the respective acquisitions.
The Board believes that once the
companies have been combined and
fully integrated within Cape’s international
business they will make a very significant
contribution to the future of the Group. 

PCH, acquired in
November 2007, provide
a range of industrial
services across the
Caspian, South East Asia,
the Middle East, as well
as Australia.

Through effective
collaboration and
leveraging of relationships
across the Group’s
businesses, Cape’s aim 
is to provide outstanding
and safe service to all 
its clients.

�

�
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Cape and its newly acquired
subsidiaries have continued to win
significant new contract awards 
and renewals throughout 2007.

Building strong
relationships

Forward order book
Cape and its newly acquired
subsidiaries have continued to win
significant new contract awards and
renewals throughout 2007. Notable
contract wins in 2007 included:
– a significant new maintenance

contract for up to nine years with
John Wood Group on the Shell 
St Fergus and Mossmorran terminals
in Scotland;

– a c. £10 million maintenance contract
renewal over five years with 
RWE Npower at Didcot A and 
B power stations;

– a c. £7.5 million maintenance contract
renewal over three years with 
RWE Npower at the Aberthaw 
power station; 

– a c. £6 million contract over three
years (with the option to extend for
up to two more years) with Saltend
Cogeneration Company, part of
International Power, for the provision
of access, insulation and painting
services at its plant in the UK;

– a c. AUD$30 million contract renewal
with BHP Billiton for the provision of
specialist coatings and insulation
which has been extended to include
scaffolding services on the Worsley
Alumina site in Western Australia;

– in Kazakhstan, a c. US$10 million
contract with Aker Kvaerner to
provide access, winterisation, rigging,
painting, insulation and pipe cutting
services on the hook up and
commissioning of the offshore
facilities on the Kashagan Field
Development;

– in Qatar, two three year maintenance
contract renewals with Qatar
Petroleum on the Dhukan oilfield 
with a combined value of 
c. US$9.5 million; and

– also in Qatar, a c. US$8 million
insulation contract for Descon
Engineering.
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We are also pleased to announce the
following significant contract awards in
early 2008:
– a c. £6 million contract over three

years with Ineos at the Grangemouth
refinery in Scotland;

– in Saudi Arabia, letters of intent have
been received from the Mohammad
Al-Mojil Group (MMG) for three
separate work packages on the
Kayan petrochemical complex and
one on the MA’Aden ammonia plant
with a total value of c. US$25 million;
and

– in Australia, a c. AUD$12 million three
year contract with BHP Billiton to
provide access and maintenance
services on the Olympic Dam project.

Finance
During 2007, Cape secured a new 
£220 million five year committed facility
from Barclays Bank. The facility comprises
a term loan to part fund the Australian
acquisitions and revolving credit and
other facilities for working capital and
other purposes. 

Health, safety and training
The health, safety and welfare of our
employees and others who potentially
could be affected by our operations are
crucial to the future development and
success of the Company. Cape firmly
believes that all unsafe acts, injuries 
and work-related illness are preventable
and that we should minimise our impact
on the environment to protect it for
future generations.

Behaving responsibly towards people
and the environment is at the heart 
of the way we operate; we think that 
this focus is a key strength and
differentiator between Cape and our
competitors. To this end we strive
continuously to look for opportunities 
to improve our performance by
strengthening our quality management
systems and introducing specific
initiatives, such as the corporate culture
and behavioural change programmes
targeted at improving the health, safety
and environmental (HS&E) impact of our
business on the world community.

One major HS&E initiative planned over
the coming year is to introduce a web
based international health, safety and
environmental reporting system
designed to provide an on-line reporting
service of accidents and incidents of 
all types, with further advantages of a
common underlying causal analysis and
a powerful capability to track follow-up
actions from investigations, audit and
risk assessments.

The Group has gone through an
extensive period of transition over the
last 18 months to become a truly
international player in our sector and, 
as a consequence, the Board has
strengthened the Group’s health, safety,
environment, quality and technical
capabilities by appointing a Group
Safety Director whose principal focus is
to aid the Chief Executive and the Board
to identify best practice and provide
expertise in health, safety, environment
and technical matters.
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Cape has continued to develop and
improve its international training
facilities to ensure that our employees
have the right skills and knowledge 
to undertake their work safely,
efficiently and with the least impact
possible on the environment.

Delivering
results

Our occupational health and safety
performance continues to be in the
upper quartile of comparable companies
with an accident frequency rate per
100,000 hours worked of 0.1 for the
Group as a whole. This achievement
met the stretch performance level set 
by the Board and, when compared to
available industry data, is an exceptional
achievement. In some areas of the
world we delivered significantly better
results than the Group average and over
the coming reporting period we will
continue to implement best practice and
transfer it around the Group to improve
our overall performance.

Although there can be no guarantee
that accidents and incidents will never
occur, the measures taken by the Group
are intended to focus on prevention and
continuous vigilance and improvement.

Our superior performance is
fundamentally underpinned by the
competence of our employees. 
Cape, throughout this period, has
continued to develop and improve its
international training facilities to ensure
that our employees have the right skills
and knowledge to undertake their work
safely, efficiently and with the least
impact possible on the environment.

We opened three new training facilities
in 2007. Often local skilled labour is
trained to a level at which they
themselves can become certified
trainers to pass on their knowledge to
the local workforce. The Group as a
whole has significantly increased its
spending on technical related training.
We believe this continued investment
will be rewarded in our ability to 
seek, capture and deliver superior
performance for our clients.

Key performance indicators
The Group monitors the performance 
of the business using a range of key
performance indicators on a monthly
and annual basis. These include
revenue growth, operating profit, cash
generated from operating activities, return
on managed assets, target earnings per
share growth and lost time injury rates.

Targets are set at the beginning of each
year. These KPI’s are discussed in the
Chief Executive’s business review and
the targets set at the beginning of 
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the year have been met by the group.
The return on managed asset target was
set at 25% for 2007 and this has been
achieved in the year.  Managed assets
are defined as tangible fixed assets 
plus net current assets excluding cash,
borrowings and corporate tax balances.

Outlook
With this outstanding set of results Cape
has demonstrated its ability to generate
significant organic growth and grow a
profitable business whilst at the same
time extending its footprint and sowing
the seeds for future growth in the
buoyant energy and natural resources
sectors, particularly in the Far East/
Pacific Rim. 

The Board believes that Cape’s future
growth is underpinned by several factors: 
– global demand for energy; in 2007,

the US Energy Information
Administration forecast that demand
for energy in non-OECD countries
would increase by 95% compared
with an increase of 24% in the OECD;

– within the OECD, the need on the
part of energy producers to extend
the life of assets ahead of the next
investment cycle; 

– an increasing appetite on the part 
of Cape’s major customers to
outsource non-core services and to
look for bundled service proposals;
and 

– a demand on the part of blue chip
clients to work with safe suppliers
who have access to local workforces
and the ability to train them to
exacting standards.

Cape’s management team is now firmly
focused on cash generation, integrating
the businesses acquired in 2007,
delivering the associated synergies and
ensuring that all newly acquired services
are pulled through the Group. 

2007 was an outstanding year and we
now look forward to a sustained period
of strong organic growth.

Martin K May
Chief Executive
9 May 2008



Cape recognises that its operations 
can affect the lives of its employees
and those who work with us.We believe
that we have a duty to act responsibly 
in all matters.

Health, safety and
the environment
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Our behaviours are built on the
following foundations:
Our vision
– To protect each other and those

who work with us by operating 
an injury and work-related illness-
free workplace.

Our belief
– An excellent health, safety and

environmental performance 
is critical to the success of 
the business.

– All unsafe acts, injuries and work-
related illnesses are preventable.

Our way of doing things
– To ensure we do everything

possible to prevent unacceptable
risks to personnel as a
consequence of our operations.

– To create a culture where we
positively challenge all unsafe 
acts wherever they occur.

– To take personal responsibility 
for our own health, safety 
and wellbeing.

– To learn from our mistakes and 
find solutions quickly to safeguard
colleagues in the future.

– If in doubt stop work and seek
assistance if we think our or others’
safety or health is at risk.

– Require that our suppliers operate
to the same high standard of health
and safety as we do and encourage
them in the belief that zero injuries
and workplace illnesses are possible.

The framework
The management of health, safety 
and environmental issues operates within
a framework of a policy adopted by
the Board and within a structured
system of internal control. A number 
of policies and procedures are in 
place which provide such information,
instruction, training and supervision 
as is appropriate. 

The Group policies on occupational
health, safety and the environment 
are very specific. In all aspects we will
operate to a standard that as a minimum
meets the local legislative requirements
and where applicable transfers best
practice from around the Group to
exceed this standard where appropriate.
The Company provides substantial
occupational health, safety, welfare
and environmental advisory services
available to all, and commensurate
with the perceived risk level. 

Goals are set annually for health, safety
and environmental performance. These
performance indicators are designed
to help the business pro-actively
manage its risks. These are monitored
monthly and reported to senior
managers and directors. If performance
improvements are identified recovery
plans are formulated, approved and
ultimately monitored to ensure delivery.
The approach of utilising stretching
performance targets and the
investment in systems, resources

(people and training), along with 
a continuous focus of all of our
employees on health and safety and
environmental matters, has resulted 
in significant reductions in reportable
accidents, all accidents, working days
lost and environmental incidents. 

As part of our management system 
we have evaluated our risks and
continued to improve our extensive
management system to effectively
control these to an appropriate level.

Our principal challenges are:

i) The risk of falling – as working at
height is a key area of our activity.

ii) Work-related illness associated with
exposure to materials which are
identified as posing a risk to health.

iii) Machinery.
iv) Climate exposure.
v) Travel.

The following specific safeguards and
initiatives are in place to aid in managing
these risks within the business.

i) A strong quality management system
which clearly identifies the roles/
responsibilities for health, safety and
the environment of every employee
within the Group without exception,
including the Group Board members
and other senior managers within
the operational businesses.



22 Cape plc Annual Report and Accounts 2007

ii) Significant investment in training 
in key skills and capabilities. The
majority of this training delivered to
a level recognised by international
standards to help the business
demonstrate competence.

iii) All principal activities are subject 
to regular risk assessment which
enables the business and its
operatives to identify techniques,
tools and precautions tailored 
to deliver the activity efficiently 
and safely.

iv) A health surveillance programme is
established for all UK operational
employees and increasingly for all
Cape employees worldwide. 
This scheme is designed to ensure
that the effects of our operations on
our workforce are understood and
appropriate mitigation put in place
to remove the risk. If that is not
practicable then safeguards are
established to protect against
harmful substances, inclement
weather or harsh environments by

the appropriate use of ‘state of the
art’ personal protective equipment.

v) Continued investment over the past
year in new, modern, up-to-date
tools, equipment and materials. 

vi) Detailed internal and external health,
safety, environmental and technical
audits and inspections to the
following international standards
OHSAS 18001, ISO 14001 and 
ISO 9001. Certification against
these standards has been awarded
to our Group companies by 
our accreditation body, SGS. 
The feedback from the audit process
is used to challenge current working
practices and techniques and strive
for continued improvement.

It is recognised that our performance
in health, safety and environmental
matters can only continue to improve 
if we utilise all the knowledge and
experience available to the business.
The Group therefore undertakes
extensive consultation with its

Health, safety and the environment continued

employees via worldwide business,
area and specific operation site
forums. These individual bodies have
the ability to provide appropriate
feedback to the Group via the 
Group Compliance organisation for
consideration of policy change and to
identify best practice opportunities.

Recent initiatives include an innovative
behavioural safety programme, which
engages the whole of the workforce to
make significant improvements in the
prevention of accidents. Requiring
employees to be accountable for not
only their own health and safety but
also to look out for others, the scheme
encourages individuals to challenge
unsafe practices and discuss safety
issues openly and constantly.

Other projects include contractor
health and safety alliances, where best
health and safety practices, specific 
to individual site environments, are
shared and encouraged with other
contractors and clients alike. Also 
we have initiated various innovations
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which challenge established safe
systems of work to reduce risk and
bring about higher levels of control.

Performance monitoring
To provide performance assurance 
in line with the majority of comparable
industry players only a small set of
lagging indicators which measure
current performance have been
traditionally utilised. In the next
financial year (2008) it is intended 
to provide assurance as to our current
performance (lagging) but also provide
indicators of potential future trends
(leading) by measuring key activities
that if not managed will, over time,
increase the risk of the overall
performance deteriorating. The Group
targets for these measures are/will be
set by the Board annually and the
individual contribution of the respective
global businesses apportioned
depending, on past performance and
the Board’s view as to a reasonable
expectation of stretch improvement.

The stretch target set by the Board 
of a lost time accident frequency rate
of 0.1 per 100,000 hours worked 
has been met by the Group. This
performance level exceeding 
the average performance of the
comparable industry sector by 
a factor of two.

We are pleased to state that during
the reporting period, the Group has
received no enforcement actions.

Health and welfare
Health screening has now been
implemented for employees throughout
the UK and it is proposed that further
improvements will be made for
employees worldwide, in order to
further strengthen our strategy for
ensuring the wellbeing of our workforce.

The information provided by the
screening process also has enabled
the business to identify more accurately
the hidden injuries so that our working
practices/policies can be modified
where possible to avoid such events.

The Board and executive management
monitor a range of performance
indicators, reported periodically, 
to measure the Group’s overall
performance. Of these the key health
and safety performance indicators
(KPIs) for the 2007 performance 
period were:

i) Number of fatalities.
ii) Lost time incident (LTI) frequency

rate expressed as accidents of a
defined severity (defined by the
RIDDOR Regulations within the UK)
per 100,000 hours worked.

iii) All accident frequency rate per
100,000 hours worked. This
measure includes all accidents
irrespective of severity.

iv) Number of enforcement actions
served by statutory enforcement
bodies.

The Group’s performance for all of
these measures has been outstanding,
resulting in a 37% reduction in accident
frequency rate over the last five years.
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The Board

David McManus (54)
Appointed as a Non-Executive Director in 2004 and became
Non-Executive Chairman in 2006. He is the Vice President 
of International Operations and an Officer of Pioneer Natural
Resources, an independent American oil and gas company.
Previously, David was President of ARCO Europe until
ARCO’s merger with BP in 2000 and then Executive Vice
President with BG Group until 2004.

Martin May (54)
Appointed Chief Executive in 2006, after having served 
as Chairman since 2003. Martin is also a Fellow of the
Institute of Chartered Management Accountants and 
a founder member and Fellow of the Society of 
Turnaround Practitioners.

Mike Reynolds (49)
Appointed Group Finance Director in 2003, he is a
Chartered Accountant. Mike was Finance Director of the
former Cape Industrial Services division from 1998 to 2003. 

David Robins (55)
Appointed a Non-Executive Director in 2006, he is a 
partner with city law firm Berwin Leighton Paisner LLP. 
He specialises in all aspects of corporate finance including
acquisitions, mergers and funding issues. Before practising
as a solicitor, David was a corporate finance executive with
a leading merchant bank.

Sean O’Connor (59)
Re-appointed a Non-Executive Director on 1 April 2007,
having previously served in a similar capacity from 1998 to
2004, Sean is currently chairman of Babel Media Limited
and Springboard Urban Limited and a director of a number
of private and public companies including Sportingbet PLC,
Graphite Enterprise Trust PLC, CrowTV Limited and Escape
Studios Limited.
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Directors’ report

The Directors have pleasure in submitting their report and
audited financial statements of the Group and the Company
for the year ended 31 December 2007.

Principal activities
The Company and its subsidiaries form an international
group primarily engaged in the supply of a wide range 
of services including industrial scaffolding, thermal and
acoustic insulation, fire protection, painting, industrial and
specialist cleaning, asbestos removal, and related services
to major industrial groups, principally in the energy and
natural resources sectors. Details of the Company’s
principal and subsidiary undertakings are listed on pages 
97 to 99. The Group also has branches located in Azerbaijan,
Kazakhstan, New Caledonia, Ireland and Trinidad.

Business review and Group results
The Directors present a Business Review as required 
by section 234ZZB of the Companies Act 1985. 
This comprises:

– The Chairman’s Statement on pages 4 and 5 of the
Annual Report;

– The Chief Executive’s Business Review on pages 8 to 19
of the Annual Report;

– The Five Year Financial Summary on page 95 of the
Annual Report; and 

– The discussion of the Principal Risks and Uncertainties
facing the Group set out on pages 32 to 34 of the 
Annual Report.

Dividends
No interim dividend was paid for the year ended 
31 December 2007 (2006: nil pence). The Directors do not
recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year
ended 31 December 2007 (2006: nil pence).

Property, plant and equipment
Details of the movements in property, plant and equipment
are given in note 14 to the accounts on page 54.

Donations
During the year the Group made charitable donations of 
£38,284 (2006: £17,176) towards various local and national
causes. There were no political donations (2006: £nil).

Share listing
The Company’s ordinary shares are admitted to and traded
on the Alternative Investment Market (AIM), a market
operated by the London Stock Exchange.

International Financial Reporting Standards
This is the first annual report that the Group has presented
in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRS). Note 35 on pages 81 to 84 to the
financial statements provides a reconciliation between the
results previously reported under UK GAAP and the
comparative information presented this year. All of the
commentary that follows is, unless otherwise stated,
reported in accordance with IFRS.

Directors
The Directors during the year and at the date of this report and
their biographical details can be found on page 24.

The Company’s articles provide that at each Annual General
Meeting one third of the Directors shall retire from office and
may, if being eligible and willing to act, offer themselves for
reappointment.

David McManus is the Director retiring by rotation under
Article 100 and, being eligible, offers himself for
reappointment at the Annual General Meeting.

Details of the interests of the Directors in the shares and
share option schemes of the Company are shown on 
page 26. No Director had any interests in any contract 
with the Company or its subsidiaries at any time during the
year other than their service contracts and through the
share option schemes. No Executive Director has a service
contract for a period in excess of one year’s duration or with
provision for predetermined compensation for loss of office.
The Company has maintained insurance to cover directors’
and officers’ liability as defined in s.310 (3)(a) of the
Companies Act 1985.
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On 22 March 2007, the Board awarded a combined total 
of 1,905,000 options over ordinary shares of 25p each to 
its senior executives, including MK May and MT Reynolds.
The options were granted for nil consideration at an
exercise price of 269p per ordinary share under the
Company’s Share Option Plan.

No other Directors have been granted share options in the
shares of the Company or other Group entities. None of the
terms and conditions of the share options were varied
during the year. All options were granted in respect of
qualifying services.

The options were granted at nil cost to the Directors and
are subject to the condition that they will not be exercisable
unless the performance of the Company’s adjusted earnings
per share over a set three year period exceeds the growth
in the Consumer Prices Index over the same period by 
3% per annum.

Gains made by Directors on Share Options
No gains were made on the exercise of share options
during the year ended 31 December 2007.

On 25 April 2008, MK May was awarded 190,122 shares
under the Cape plc 2007 Performance Share Plan.

On 3 April 2008, MK May and MT Reynolds exercised
400,000 and 100,000 share options respectively at an
exercise price of 60p. The share price at the date of
exercise was 255p. The gains made on exercise were
£780,000 for MK May and £195,000 for MT Reynolds.

On 4 January 2008 MK May bought 5,000 ordinary shares
and on 4 April 2008, MK May sold 100,000 ordinary shares,
and the resulting shareholding after this share dealing was
430,000 ordinary shares. On 9 April 2008 MT Reynolds sold
100,000 ordinary shares, and the resulting shareholding
after this share dealing was 17,779 ordinary shares.

The middle market price of the shares on 31 December
2007 was 239p and the range during the twelve months
ended 31 December 2007 was 203.25p to 314p.

Directors’ report continued

Share options
The following Directors held options in the Company’s share option schemes during the year:

Earliest At At
exercise Surrendered/ Exercise 31 December 31December

Date of grant date expiry date price 2006 Granted 2007
Current Directors 
MT Reynolds
Share Option Plan* 07.05.04 07.05.07 07.05.14 £0.60 100,000 – 100,000
Share Option Plan* 24.10.05 24.10.08 24.10.15 £1.20 100,000 – 100,000
Share Option Plan* 07.07.06 07.07.09 07.07.16 £1.76 150,000 – 150,000
Share Option Plan* 22.03.07 22.03.10 22.03.17 £2.69 – 150,000 150,000
Sharesave Plan 21.07.06 01.09.11 01.03.12 £1.35 11,925 – 11,925
MK May
Share Option Plan* 07.05.04 07.05.07 07.05.14 £0.60 400,000 – 400,000
Share Option Plan* 07.07.06 07.07.09 07.07.16 £1.76 400,000 – 400,000
Share Option Plan* 22.03.07 22.03.10 22.03.17 £2.69 – 200,000 200,000

*Performance condition applies.

Directors’ interests
Shares
The beneficial interests of the Directors of the Company and their families in the ordinary shares of the Company are set 
out below:

2007 2006
Number Number

Current Directors (as at 31 December 2007)
D McManus 35,000 25,000
MK May 125,000 100,000
MT Reynolds 17,779 12,779
DA Robins 17,000 12,000
SS O’Connor – –

None of the Directors had an interest in the shares of any other company in the Group.
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Directors’ Indemnities
The Company has provided qualifying third party
indemnities to Andrew Gillespie, Claire Craigie and 
Benjamin Whitworth in their capacity as officers of two Group
companies that were put into liquidation on 6 January 2006.

The Company did not provide any qualifying third party
indemnities to any of its Directors in the year.

Supplier Payment Policy
The supplier payment policy for Group companies is to
agree terms and conditions for business transactions with
suppliers. Payment is then made subject to these terms 
and conditions being met. The Company did not have any
amounts owed to trade creditors at the end of the year
(2006: nil). The Group had £30.1 million of trade payables 
at the end of the year (2006: £16.0 million) which
represented 59 creditor days (2006: 52).

Treasury Policy
The Group’s policy on treasury and financial risk (see note
21) is set by the Board and is subject to regular reporting
and review. The main risks faced by the Group relate to
foreign currency risk and liquidity risk.

A significant proportion of the Group’s business is
conducted overseas. The Group is therefore subject 
to exchange risk when translating the results and assets 
of its overseas subsidiaries into Sterling. Where significant
transactional exchange risks are identified, then appropriate
currency contracts are used to hedge these transactions.

The Group’s committed facilities all carry interest rates
based on LIBOR and therefore the Group is exposed to
interest rate movements. The Group has taken out an
interest rate hedge in early 2008 to hedge the interest rate
risk on 75% of forecast group borrowings.

Employment policies
The companies in the Group operate within broadly
prescribed personnel and employment policies. Each
company develops procedures which are most appropriate
to the circumstances within which it operates. The Group’s
training, career development and promotion policies provide
equal opportunities for all employees.

Employment of disabled persons
It is Group policy to permit, wherever practicable, the
employment of disabled persons and to provide appropriate
opportunities for their training, career development and
promotion. Where employees have become disabled in the
service of the Group, every effort is made to rehabilitate
them in their former occupation or in some suitable
alternative.

Employee involvement
The Group continues its practice of keeping all employees
informed on matters affecting them and the Group, so that
a common awareness amongst all employees is developed
in relation to the financial and economic factors that affect
the performance of the Group. Where applicable, the Group
consults employees or their representatives on a regular
basis so that the views of employees can be taken into
account in making decisions that are likely to affect their
interests.

Senior management is kept abreast of developments in
financial, commercial and personnel matters and this
enables it to ensure that employees at the operational level
are kept informed. The Group operates pension schemes
for the benefit of eligible employees in the UK and overseas.
The funds of the pension schemes are administered by
trustees and they are held separately from Group funds.

In 2006, the Group reintroduced a Save as You Earn
scheme (the Sharesave Plan) for eligible employees. 
A further grant of options under the Sharesave Plan was
made in 2007. The Directors believe that share ownership
among employees encourages team effort and will
contribute to the ultimate success of the Group.

Health and safety
The Group has issued a policy statement on its
commitment to a safe working environment for all
employees. The Chief Executive is responsible for the
implementation of the Group policy on Health and Safety
within his area of responsibility. During the year, Group
operations throughout the UK and the rest of the world,
were subjected to internal and third party audits to monitor
compliance with Company procedures and statutory
requirements.

Statement of Directors’ responsibilities
The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual
Report and the Group and parent Company financial
statements in accordance with applicable laws and
regulations.

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial
statements for each financial year. Under that law the
Directors have prepared the Group financial statements in
accordance with IFRS as adopted by the European Union
(EU), and the parent Company financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted
Accounting Practice). The Group and parent Company
financial statements are required by law to give a true and
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and the
Group and of the profit or loss and cash flows of the Group
for that period.



28 Cape plc Annual Report and Accounts 2007

Directors’ report continued

Substantial holdings
The Directors have been advised that as at 28 April 2008 the following have interests of 3% or more in the issued 
ordinary share capital of the Company: 

Institution No. of shares % holding
M&G Investment Management 14,807,185 13.01
Blackrock Merrill Lynch Investment Managers 11,250,621 9.88
Schroder Investment Managers 10,080,465 8.86
Slater Investments 8,212,160 7.21
F&C Asset Management 5,220,969 4.59
Lloyds TSB Group plc 4,575,758 4.00
JP Morgan Fleming Asset Management 4,046,751 3.55
Jupiter Asset Management 3,591,529 3.16
Rensburg Sheppard Investment Management 3,490,000 3.07

The Company has not received notification of any other interests held by persons acting together which at 28 April 2008
represented 3% or more of the issued ordinary share capital.

In preparing those financial statements, the Directors are
required to:

– select suitable accounting policies and then apply them
consistently;

– make judgements and estimates that are reasonable 
and prudent;

– state that the Group financial statements comply with
IFRSs as adopted by the EU, and with regard to the
parent Company financial statements that applicable UK
Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to
any material departures disclosed and explained in the
financial statements;

– prepare the Group and parent Company financial
statements on the going concern basis, unless it is
inappropriate to presume that the Group will continue 
in business, in which case there should be supporting
assumptions or qualifications as necessary.

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the
above requirements in preparing the financial statements.

The Directors are responsible for keeping proper accounting
records that disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time
the financial position of the Company and the Group to
enable them to ensure that the Group and parent Company
financial statements comply with the Companies Act 1985.
They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the
Company and the Group and hence for taking reasonable
steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other
irregularities.

The Directors are responsible for the maintenance and
integrity of the Company’s website. Legislation in the UK
governing the preparation and dissemination of financial
statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

Statement of disclosure of information to auditors
So far as each Director is aware, there is no relevant audit
information of which the Company’s auditors are unaware.
Relevant information is defined as information needed by
the Company’s auditors in connection with preparing their
report. Each Director has taken all the steps (such as
making enquiries of other Directors and the auditors and
any other steps required by the Director’s duty to exercise
due care, skill and diligence) that he ought to have taken 
in his duty as a Director in order to make himself aware 
of any relevant audit information and to establish that the
Company’s auditors are aware of that information.
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Annual General Meeting
At the Annual General Meeting to be held on 11 June 2008,
resolutions will be proposed on the following items of
special business.

(a) To authorise the Directors to allot shares in accordance
with Section 80 of the Companies Act 1985 (‘the Act’).

Under the Company’s articles of association, the
Directors have the power to allot shares in accordance
with Section 80 of the Act, with the authority of an
ordinary resolution. The authority will relate to
37,735,236 ordinary shares of 25p each representing
one third of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital
as at the date of the Notice. The Directors have no
present intention of exercising the authority conferred by
this resolution other than through the grant of options
pursuant to the Company’s share option schemes.

(b) To disapply statutory pre-emption rights under Section
89 of the Act.

The Directors consider it to be in the best interests of
the Company that they should continue to have the
power to allot equity securities for cash other than to
existing shareholders up to a maximum amount of 5% 
of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital at 
31 December 2007. A Special Resolution will be
proposed at the Annual General Meeting authorising 
the Directors to allot ordinary shares up to a nominal
amount of £1,429,365.

(c) To authorise the Directors to make market purchases 
of the Company’s ordinary shares under section 166 
of the Act.

The Directors consider that in certain circumstances it
might be advantageous to the Company to be able to
purchase its own shares. The resolution specifies the
maximum number of shares that can be acquired (10%
of the Company’s issued ordinary share capital as at the
date of the Notice) and the maximum and minimum
prices at which shares may be bought.

The Directors intend to use the authority only if, in the
light of market conditions prevailing at the time, they
believe that the effect of such a purchase will be to
increase earnings per share and will be in the best
interests of shareholders generally. Other investment
opportunities, appropriate gearing levels and the overall
position of the Company will be taken into account in
reaching any such decision to use the authority. Any
shares purchased in this way would either be cancelled
and the number of shares in issue reduced accordingly,
or retained as treasury stock with a view to re-issue at 
a future date. The latter option would give the Company
the ability to re-issue treasury shares quickly and cost
effectively and would provide the Company with additional
flexibility in the management of its capital base.

The text of all the resolutions is set out in full in the notice
convening the Annual General Meeting.

The Annual General Meeting is to be held on 11 June 2008
at the offices of Berwin Leighton Paisner LLP at Adelaide
House, London Bridge, London EC4R 9HA.

Post balance sheet event
On 5 March 2008, Cape Pension Trustees Limited, the
Trustee of the Cape plc Staff Pension and Life Assurance
Scheme (‘the Scheme’) made the decision to buy-out the
pensioner liabilities with an insurance policy. The initial
premium was paid to Legal & General to secure terms on
30 March 2008. This agreement is between the Scheme
and the insurance company and as such does not
constitute a buy out of the individual pensioner liabilities.
The effect of this is to reduce the Scheme’s liabilities on a
scheme funding basis and it is expected that on a minimum
funding requirement under IFRIC 14, a surplus would be
available to the Group in excess of £2 million.

Independent Auditors
The auditors, PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP, have indicated
their willingness to continue in office, and a resolution
concerning their reappointment will be proposed at the
Annual General Meeting.

By order of the Board
J Rhodes
Secretary
9 May 2008

Cape House
3 Red Hall Avenue
Paragon Business Village 
Wakefield
West Yorkshire
WF1 2UL
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Cape is committed to achieving high standards of business
integrity, ethics and professionalism across its worldwide
operations.

As a company whose shares are traded on AIM, 
the Company is not required to comply with the full
requirements of the Combined Code on Corporate
Governance 2006 (‘Code’). However, the Board continues
to implement policies and procedures designed to comply
with the Code as far as reasonably practicable and
appropriate for a public company of its size and complexity.

The Board
The Board has responsibility for the overall management
and performance of the Group and the approval and
monitoring of its long-term objectives and commercial
strategy.

The Code indicates that a minimum of one half of the
members of the Board should be independent non-
executives. For the first three months of the year, the Board
comprised an independent Non-Executive Chairman (David
McManus) one other Non-Executive Director (David Robins),
and two Executive Directors (Martin May and Mike Reynolds).
On 1 April 2007, Sean O’Connor was re-appointed as an
independent Non-Executive Director. The Board remains
unchanged since 1 April. However, David McManus has
indicated his intention to step down from the role of
Chairman at the conclusion of the 2008 Annual General
Meeting. It is intended that he will remain on the Board 
as a Non-Executive Director and that Sean O’Connor will
become Chairman in his place.

No individual or group of Directors dominates the Board’s
decision making. Each of the Non-Executive Directors 
is independent of management and has no cross-
directorships or other significant links which could materially
interfere with the exercise of his independent judgement.
Collectively, the Non-Executive Directors bring a valuable
range of expertise in assisting the Company to achieve 
its strategic aims. 

All Directors are subject to election by the shareholders 
at the first opportunity after their initial appointment to the
Board and to re-election thereafter at intervals of not more
than three years. (For biographical details of the Directors
please see page 24.)

The Company has a separate Chairman and Chief
Executive each with their own responsibilities. The Chairman
is responsible for the effective running of the Board and the
Chief Executive is ultimately responsible for all operational
matters and the financial performance of the Company. 

A statement of the Directors’ responsibilities is contained 
in the Directors’ Report on pages 27 and 28.

Matters reserved for the Board
The Board has a formal schedule of matters reserved 
for its decision which includes:

– Group Strategy and Policy
– Group Corporate and Capital Structure
– Financial Reporting and Controls
– Communication with Shareholders
– Board Membership and other Senior Management

Appointments
– Material Transactions

Other matters are delegated to Board Committees,
individual directors or senior management where
appropriate. In addition, the Board receives reports and
recommendations from time to time on any matter which 
it considers significant to the Group.

Board committees
The Board delegates certain powers to designated
committees. The terms of reference for the principal
Committees can be obtained by contacting the Group
Company Secretary at the Company’s registered office.

Audit Committee
During the year the Committee comprised David Robins
(Chairman), and David McManus.

The Committee consists solely of Non-Executive Directors,
each of whom has financial experience in a large
organisation. At the invitation of the Committee, the Chief
Executive, Group Finance Director, Group Company
Secretary, Group Financial Controller and the Company’s
external auditor may attend meetings.

The Audit Committee is responsible for exercising the full
powers and authority of the Board in accounting matters,
financial reporting and internal controls. In all cases the
Audit Committee gives due regard to the interests of the
Company’s shareholders.

Remuneration Committee
During the year the Committee comprised David McManus
(Chairman), David Robins and Sean O’Connor (appointed 
1 April 2007). 

The Committee consists solely of Non-Executive Directors.
At the invitation of the Committee, the Chief Executive,
Group Finance Director, Group HR Director, Group
Company Secretary and external advisers may attend
meetings.

The Remuneration Committee is responsible for determining
and recommending the remuneration of individual members
of the Board (abstaining from voting on matters in
connection with themselves). The Committee also
determines and recommends the grant of share options
under the Company’s Employee Incentive Plan.

Corporate governance report
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Nomination Committee
The Committee was reconstituted during the year following
the re-appointment of Sean O’Connor. During the year the
Committee comprised Sean O’Connor (Chairman), David
McManus and David Robins. 

The Committee consists solely of Non-Executive Directors.
At the invitation of the Committee, the Chief Executive,
Group Finance Director, Group HR Director, Group
Company Secretary and external advisers may 
attend meetings.

The Nomination Committee is responsible for reviewing the
composition and performance of the Board (abstaining from
voting on matters in connection with themselves), evaluation
of candidates and ensuring a viable succession plan for the
senior management of the Group is in place.

Board meetings
The Board is supplied in a timely manner with information in
a form and of a quality appropriate to enable it to discharge
its duties. This includes detailed monthly management
accounts and an analysis of the Group’s actual performance
against budget and the previous year.

The Board usually meets formally not fewer than eight times
a year. Informally, Board members meet more often. During
2007, there was full attendance of the individual Directors 
at all Board and Committee Meetings.

Relations with shareholders
The Company values the views of all its shareholders and
recognises their interests in the Company’s strategy and
performance. The Chief Executive has the responsibility for
ensuring effective communication with shareholders and
that the Board is fully aware of major shareholders’ views
and opinions. The Chief Executive, along with the Chairman
and Group Finance Director are available to meet
shareholders for this purpose.

The Annual and Interim Reports are available on the
Company’s website. Regular trading updates, significant
contract wins and health and safety achievements are
published via the Regulatory Information Services and 
on the Company’s website. 

All shareholders are encouraged to attend the Company’s
Annual General Meeting at which the Chairman gives an
account of the progress of the business over the year 
and provides an opportunity for shareholders to ask any
questions they may have. The Board attends this meeting
and is available to answer questions from those
shareholders present. 

Audit and auditor independence
An additional responsibility of the Audit Committee is that of
recommending to the Board the appointment of the external
auditors and for reviewing the scope of the audit, approving
the audit fee and, on an annual basis, satisfying itself that
the auditors are independent. 

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP are retained to perform audit
and audit-related work on the Group, the Company and the
majority of Group companies. 

Deloitte & Touche LLP are retained to provide all UK and
overseas tax-related advice. It is now Group policy to keep
audit and tax advice separate.

From time to time a requirement to perform non-audit work
arises, for example in relation to the acquisitions of TCC
Group, Concept Hire Limited and PCH Group Limited. 
The Audit Committee monitors the nature and extent of
non-audit work undertaken by the auditors. It is satisfied
that there are adequate controls in place to ensure auditor
independence and objectivity. The matter is kept under
review and is a standing item on the agenda for the Audit
Committee reports. Periodically, the Audit Committee
monitors the cost of non-audit work undertaken by the
auditors. The Audit Committee considers that it is in a
position to take action if at any time it believes that there 
is a risk of the auditors’ independence being undermined
through the award of this work.

Internal control
The Board acknowledges its responsibility for the
Company’s systems of internal control but is aware that
such systems are designed to manage and mitigate rather
than totally eliminate risk and therefore can never be an
absolute assurance against the Company failing to achieve
certain objectives or suffering a material loss. 

The Company has also put in place processes to deal with
the identification, assessment and management of major
business risks including fraud. These processes and
controls are monitored and reviewed by the Audit
Committee and the Group Finance Director periodically. 
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Principal risks and uncertainties review

Risk is an unavoidable facet of any business activity. Cape
faces a number of risks in undertaking its operations around
the world. During 2007, Cape created a risk register. This
will be used to identify and review risks and assist with the
planning of measures to mitigate known risks.

This review of the principal risks and uncertainties faced by
the Group is not exhaustive and there may exist risks that
have not been identified by the Directors, new risks may
emerge or the likelihood of known risks occurring and the
impact they may have upon the Group may change from
time to time.

The oil and gas industry
Most of the Group’s revenues are derived from the provision
of services to the energy and petrochemical sectors. As a
consequence, the Group’s earnings are closely related to
the price of oil and gas.

Oil prices fluctuate and are affected by numerous factors
outside the control of the Group. These include: world
demand and the financing and production costs in major
producing regions. Oil and gas prices are also affected 
by government regulation and by macro-economic 
factors such as expectations regarding inflation, interest 
and currency exchange rates and global and regional
demand for, and supply of, oil and gas as well as war 
and political conditions.

Operating activities may be delayed or adversely affected by
factors outside the control of the Group. These include
climatic conditions, industrial conditions, technical failures,
labour disputes, unusual or unexpected geological features,
environmental hazards, delays to government actions,
delays in construction, availability of material or parts and
shipping, and import or customs delays. 

Whilst the Group currently maintains insurance within ranges
of coverage consistent with industry practice, no assurance
can be given that the Group will be able to obtain such
insurance coverage at reasonable rates (or at all), or that
any coverage obtained will be adequate and available to
cover any such claims.

Political, social and economic risks
There can be no assurance that economic and political
reform in certain of the overseas countries in which the
Group operates will continue. 

Because of the high incidence of reported organised crime
and corruption in certain of the countries in which the Group
operates, or may operate, there can be no assurance that
any company with which the Group has, or will have, a
business relationship does not have any involvement with
these activities. 

The military action in Afghanistan and Iraq have contributed
to increased global, political and economic instability in a
number of the Middle Eastern countries where the Group
operates and intends to develop further projects. Retaliatory
actions or escalations in hostilities in these, or adjoining
countries, may result in adverse consequences for the Group.

Legal risks
In several countries in which the Group operates, it trades
through partially owned businesses and separate
sponsorship/management agreements. Effective redress 
in courts in respect of breach of law or regulations, 
or in ownership disputes, may be difficult to obtain.

Currency exchange
The Group is exposed to fluctuations in certain foreign
currencies where it receives revenue in one currency while
its costs are incurred in another local currency.

Trading in the USA, Canada and Mexico
As referred to below, the Company has received legal
advice in the UK that default judgments obtained in the USA
against Group companies which are not present or have no
place of business in the USA, Canada or Mexico are not
enforceable in the UK. Accordingly, the Group is denied
access to these important markets. 

Environmental risks and health and safety
The Group is subject to international, European and local
laws and regulations that relate to activities or operations
that may have adverse environmental effects. Breach of
these laws and regulations could result in significant
liabilities to the Group such as civil and criminal liabilities,
regulatory action and penalties including fines and/or
suspension of operations.

Customers require a high level of performance in these
areas. Failure to do so could result in a material loss of
customers and contracts.

Dependence on key customers
The Group is dependent on a number of key customers. 
In most cases, the Group’s business with such customers 
is conducted through a number of separate contracts with
separate divisions of the main customer and spread both
geographically and by contract term. The loss of all the
contracts of one or more of these customers to a
competitor would have a material adverse effect on 
the Group’s revenues.

Competition
The Group’s business sector is a competitive industry. The
Group competes with a number of companies with greater
financial, technical and other resources than the Group.
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Potential for growth in market share
The Directors estimate that in certain markets the Group
has a market share of 30% or more. In these markets, 
the Directors are of the opinion that the Group may be
restricted from growing through undertaking material
acquisitions as this could result in competition law issues 
or in the Group having an unsustainable market share, 
given the nature of the tendering process.

Industrial action and employees
While the Directors feel that wage disputes in the UK 
are unlikely since the majority of wage levels are agreed 
with unions, the Group could suffer from industrial action.
Should the relevant unions elect to take industrial action, 
for whatever reason, the reliability of the Group’s operatives
could be compromised for extended periods of time. 

Pension schemes
The Group operates two main pension schemes in the UK:
one is of the defined benefit type and the other of the
defined contribution type. The assets of both schemes are
held in trustee administered funds.

The main scheme, the defined benefit scheme, has assets
of £122.1 million. Independent actuaries have updated 
the April 2004 valuation of the defined benefit scheme to 
31 December 2007 at which date the present value of the
scheme’s liabilities was £109.5 million. The surplus in the
main scheme has been restricted to £nil under IFRIC 14
(see note 24). This scheme is closed to new members. 
The Group is currently contributing to the fund for the cost
of current service and separately paying the expenses of 
the scheme. Should there be a change in the forecast 
and investment return or liabilities (e.g. due to inflation or
longevity) this could create an additional funding requirement
which could have a material adverse effect on the Group. 

Working capital
There are certain covenants attaching to the Group’s
existing bank facility which will determine the extent of the
facility available at any point in time. If those covenants are
not met the Group may not have available funds sufficient 
to enable it to conduct business in the manner currently
envisaged.

Risks relating to the scheme of arrangement and other
asbestos-related matters
Uncertainties concerning future projections
For the purpose of the Scheme and in particular to
determine the amount required to make available to fund
payments under the Scheme, Cape commissioned an
independent actuary to review and provide an estimate 
of all of the Group’s unpaid UK asbestos-related claims as
at 31 December 2007 (including future claims), other than
claims that the Group expects to make recovery of, or are
settled, under certain third-party indemnities. Unpaid claims
do not represent an exact calculation, but rather are 

estimates of the expected future costs of the ultimate
settlement of claims. As such, estimates of asbestos-related
unpaid claims are inherently uncertain. In providing its
estimates the actuary has relied, without audit or
independent verification, on both historical, financial and
non-financial data and other quantitative and qualitative
information provided by the Group. The actuary has also
used disease emergent studies conducted in the UK by 
the Health and Safety Executive (HSE) as well as several
academic studies including studies of mesothelioma specific
to the UK. Due to the historical nature of the information
provided by the Group there are variances in its
completeness. This further increases the inherent
uncertainty in the actuary’s estimates, although this
uncertainty should decrease over time as the information 
is further expanded and updated. 

Third-party indemnity obligations
The actuary’s review did not take account of claims against
two companies, Cape Darlington Limited and Somesystem
Limited, both of which were placed into liquidation on 
6 January 2006. These claims were the subject of
indemnities from the vendor in favour of the Group when, in
1992, it acquired a contracting business known as Darchem.
Under the terms of the acquisition the Group has the benefit
of an indemnity from the vendor for certain asbestos-related
claims that may be made against the Group by reason of
exposure to asbestos before the Group acquired Darchem.

Recourse claims
Cape Claims Services Limited (‘CCS’) will pay all Scheme
Claims that it has agreed to pay under the Scheme
Guarantee in full while it is fully funded and while its level 
of funding remains at 60% or more of the Scheme Funding
Requirement. Certain Scheme Creditors will, in limited
circumstances, have recourse to the relevant Scheme
Company for direct payment of their Scheme Claim if they
receive from CCS less than 50% of their claim at the time of
settlement or have not received 100% within 12 months of
their Scheme Claim being established. If any such Scheme
Creditor did not receive full payment from the relevant
Group Company he would, but for the Scheme, be entitled
to force the insolvency of that Group Company and thereby
have transferred to him the Scheme Company’s rights
against its insurers.
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Asbestos-related claims outside the Scheme
The Scheme does not seek to address all potential
asbestos-related claims which may be made against the
Group and there remains the risk that other claims for
asbestos-related diseases may continue to be made by
claimants outside the Scheme. If there were a significant
increase in either the number of such claims outside the
Scheme or the quantum of damages the Group had to
settle in respect thereof, it is unlikely that, in the absence 
of further external funding, the Group would be able to
continue to meet such claims.

Potential asbestos-related liabilities not covered by the
Scheme include: claims against Group companies not in the
Scheme, claims from South African claimants alleging that
they were not included in the March 2003 settlement,
claims from the USA which are currently unenforceable in
the UK, and claims from liquidated former subsidiaries of
the Group.

Working capital
If there were a significant increase in either the number of
Scheme Claims or the quantum of damages awarded for
Scheme Claims, an adverse change in the legal or
regulatory environment surrounding asbestos-related
diseases, a significant new class or type of claimant and
type of claims, or a material deterioration in the Group’s
trading performance, the annual top-up payments made 
by the Company to CCS may be significantly below the
Scheme Funding Requirement. Whilst the Scheme provides
protection for Group Companies against insolvency arising
in these circumstances the extent of such under-funding in
CCS and the ongoing funding obligations may, in the
absence of external funding, have a materially adverse effect
on the Group’s working capital and on its ability to develop
its business and thereby prospects. In these circumstances,
the Group’s available working capital may be significantly
constrained such that, for example, it may be unable 
to carry on business at its then existing levels and, be
restricted in the number and size of new contracts it was
able to take on.

Taxation 
Any change in the law or a successful change by 
HM Revenue and Customs whereby the existing tax
treatment of industrial disease claim liabilities and provisions
within the relevant Group Companies was withdrawn would
have a materially adverse financial effect on the Group. The
Directors have received advice from leading tax counsel that
nothing within the Scheme structure should disturb the
existing tax treatment and that the Group should be entitled
to continue to make tax deductions in respect of industrial
disease claim liabilities going forward. 

Principal risks and uncertainties review continued
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Independent auditors’ report to the members of Cape plc

We have audited the Group financial statements of Cape 
plc for the year ended 31 December 2007 which comprise
the Consolidated income statement, the Consolidated
balance sheet, the Consolidated cash flow statement, 
the Consolidated statement of recognised income and
expense and the related notes. These Group financial
statements have been prepared under the accounting
policies set out therein.

We have reported separately on the parent Company
financial statements of Cape plc for the year ended 
31 December 2007. That report is modified by the inclusion
of an emphasis of matter.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual
Report and the Group financial statements in accordance
with applicable law and International Financial Reporting
Standards (IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union are
set out in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the Group financial statements
in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory
requirements and International Standards on Auditing 
(UK and Ireland). This report, including the opinion, has
been prepared for and only for the Company’s members as
a body in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies
Act 1985 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving
this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other
purpose or to any other person to whom this report is
shown or into whose hands it may come save where
expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the Group
financial statements give a true and fair view and whether
the Group financial statements have been properly prepared
in accordance with the Companies Act 1985. We also
report to you whether in our opinion the information given in
the Directors’ report is consistent with the Group financial
statements. The information given in the Directors’ report
includes that specific information presented in the Chief
Executive’s business review, Chairman’s statement, Five
year financial summary and Principal risks and uncertainties
review cross referred from the Business review and Group
results section of the Directors’ report. 

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, we have 
not received all the information and explanations we 
require for our audit, or if information specified by law
regarding director’s remuneration and other transactions 
is not disclosed.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report
and consider whether it is consistent with the audited Group
financial statements. The other information comprises only
the Directors’ report, the Chairman’s statement, the Chief
Executive’s business review, the report on Health, safety
and the environment, the Corporate Governance report,
Group at a glance, Year at a glance and the Principal 
risks and uncertainties review. We consider the implications
for our report if we become aware of any apparent
misstatements or material inconsistencies with the financial
statements. Our responsibilities do not extend to any 
other information.

Basis of audit opinion
We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the
Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination, 
on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and
disclosures in the Group financial statements. It also
includes an assessment of the significant estimates and
judgments made by the directors in the preparation of the
Group financial statements, and of whether the accounting
policies are appropriate to the Group’s circumstances,
consistently applied and adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain 
all the information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence 
to give reasonable assurance that the Group financial
statements are free from material misstatement, whether
caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In forming 
our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy of the
presentation of information in the Group financial statements.

Opinion
In our opinion:

– the Group financial statements give a true and fair view,
in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union, of the state of the Group’s affairs as at 
31 December 2007 and of its profit and cash flows 
for the year then ended;

– the Group financial statements have been properly
prepared in accordance with the Companies Act 1985;
and

– the information given in the Directors’ report is
consistent with the Group financial statements.

Emphasis of matter – Contingent liability for industrial
disease claims
In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which 
is not qualified, we have considered the adequacy of the
disclosures made in note 32 to the financial statements
concerning the impact of, and accounting for, potential
future claims for industrial disease compensation. 
An independent actuarial estimate of the range of certain
potential liabilities has been performed. However, given 
the wide range of the estimates and significant degree of
uncertainty surrounding them, it is not possible for the
Directors to quantify, with sufficient reliability, the amount
required to settle future claims and accordingly claims are
generally accounted for on the basis of claims lodged or
settlements reached and outstanding at the balance sheet
date. However, if it were possible to assess reliably the
present value of the amount required to settle future 
claims such that this was provided in the balance sheet,
there would be a materially adverse effect on the Group’s
financial position.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Leeds
9 May 2008
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2007 2006 
Notes £m £m

Continuing operations
Revenue 3 428.8 274.0

Operating profit
Group operating profit before exceptional items 3 36.1 14.8
Exceptional items 5 (0.3) 1.0
Group operating profit 4 35.8 15.8

Finance income 10 3.4 1.3
Finance costs 10 (6.2) (1.6)
Share of post tax profits from joint ventures – 0.1

Profit before tax 33.0 15.6
Taxation 11 (5.4) (2.0)
Profit from continuing operations 27.6 13.6

Discontinued operations
(Loss)/profit from discontinued operations 3 (0.7) 1.1

Profit for the year attributable to equity shareholders 26.9 14.7

Earnings per share for profit attributable to the equity holders of the Company during the year
– Basic 12 26.0p 17.6p
– Diluted 12 25.5p 17.3p

From continuing operations
– Basic 12 26.7p 16.3p
– Diluted 12 26.2p 16.0p

The notes and information on pages 40 to 84 form part of these accounts.

Consolidated income statement
for the year ended 31 December 2007
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2007 2006
Notes £m £m

Non-current assets
Intangible assets 13 165.6 15.4
Property, plant and equipment 14 127.0 32.0
Investments accounted for using equity method 15 – 0.1
Retirement benefit asset 24 0.1 8.1
Deferred tax asset 25 6.7 4.8

299.4 60.4

Current assets
Inventories 16 15.8 8.3
Trade and other receivables 17 144.5 78.2
Financial assets – derivative financial assets 21(e) – 0.3
Cash – Scheme funds (restricted) 18 39.1 40.1
Cash and cash equivalents 19 20.1 15.3

219.5 142.2

Liabilities
Current liabilities
Financial liabilities
– Borrowings 20 (45.5) (13.3)
– Derivative financial instruments 21(e) (0.1) (0.1)
Trade and other payables 22 (96.7) (67.5)
Current tax liabilities 23 (6.6) (3.3)

(148.9) (84.2)
Net current assets 70.6 58.0

Non current liabilities
Financial liabilities
– Borrowings 20 (163.8) (23.4)
Retirement benefit liabilities 24 (3.1) (2.2)
Deferred tax liabilities 25 (10.4) (2.7)
Provisions 26 (12.0) (14.9)

(189.3) (43.2)
Net assets 180.7 75.2

Shareholders’ equity
Called up share capital 28 32.8 25.2
Share premium account 29 7.5 25.0
Special reserve 29 1.0 –
Other reserves 29 5.5 (2.2)
Retained earnings 29 132.9 27.2
Shareholders’ funds 179.7 75.2
Minority interests 29 1.0 –
Total equity 180.7 75.2

Approved by the Board of Directors on 9 May 2008.
D McManus Chairman
MT Reynolds Group Finance Director

The notes and information on pages 40 to 84 form part of these accounts.

Consolidated balance sheet
at 31 December 2007
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2007 2006
Notes £m £m

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operating activities 17.8 13.7
Scheme funding – transfer to restricted cash – (40.0)
Net cash generated from/(absorbed by) operating activities 30 17.8 (26.3)
Interest received 3.4 1.3
Interest received on restricted funds (2.2) (1.0)
Net interest received 1.2 0.3
Interest paid (6.2) (1.7)
Issue costs of new bank loans (2.6) (0.5)
Tax paid (3.3) (1.4)
Net cash inflow/(outflow) from operating activities 6.9 (29.6)

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of businesses net of cash acquired 31 (185.2) (12.2)
Purchase of businesses deferred consideration paid (1.1) –
Disposal of business – 5.4
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 1.8 3.5
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (25.3) (8.9)
Dividend received from joint ventures 15 – 0.2
Net cash used in investing activities (209.8) (12.0)

Cash flows from financing activities
Net proceeds from issue of ordinary shares 68.3 –
Proceeds from borrowings 169.6 26.5
Finance lease principal payments (2.8) (1.5)
Repayment of borrowings (26.0) –
Net cash received from financing activities 209.1 25.0

Exchange losses on cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts (0.1) (0.6)

Net increase/(decrease) in cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts 6.1 (17.2)
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at beginning of year 9.1 26.3
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts at end of year 19 15.2 9.1

The notes and information on pages 40 to 84 form part of these accounts.

Consolidated cash flow statement
for the year ended 31 December 2007
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2007 2006
Notes £m £m

Net exchange adjustments offset in reserves net of tax 29 6.1 (2.4)
Actuarial (loss)/gain recognised in the pension scheme 24 (4.3) 7.7
Movement in restriction of retirement benefit asset in accordance with IAS 19 24 (5.8) (7.1)
Movement in deferred tax relating to pension asset 25 2.5 (0.1)
Cash flow hedges – fair value gains 29 1.6 0.7
Excess tax on share option scheme 25 (0.2) 0.6
Net expense recognised directly in equity (0.1) (0.6)
Profit for the year 26.9 14.7
Total recognised income for the year 26.8 14.1

Attributable to:
– Equity holders of the Company 26.8 14.1

The notes and information on pages 40 to 84 form part of these accounts.

Consolidated statement of recognised income and expense
for the year ended 31 December 2007



40 Cape plc Annual Report and Accounts 2007

1. Basis of preparation
The consolidated financial statements have been prepared
in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards (‘IFRS’) and IFRIC Interpretations as adopted 
in the European Union and the Companies Act 1985
applicable to companies reporting under IFRS. The Group
has previously reported under UK GAAP. The date of
transition to IFRS for the Group was 1 January 2006 and
the Group has prepared its opening IFRS consolidated
balance sheet as at that date. The disclosures required 
by IFRS 1, “First-Time Adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards” concerning the transition from
accounting principles generally accepted in the United
Kingdom (‘UK GAAP’) to IFRS are given in note 35.

On transition to IFRS, an entity is generally required to apply
IFRS retrospectively, except where an exemption is available
under IFRS 1 “First-time adoption of International Financial
Reporting Standards”. The following is a summary of the
key optional exemptions from IFRS 1 that have been taken
by the Group:

– The Group has adopted the IFRS 1 exemption in relation
to business combinations and will only apply IFRS 3
“Business Combinations” prospectively from 1 January
2006. As a result, the balance of goodwill under UK
GAAP as at 31 December 2005 is deemed to be
carrying value of goodwill at 1 January 2006.

– Cumulative translation differences – under IAS 21, on
disposal of a business, the cumulative amount of exchange
differences recognised directly in equity for that business
is charged or credited to the income statement as part
of the profit or loss on disposal. The Group has adopted
the exemption allowing these cumulative translation
differences to be reset to zero at the transition date.

– The Group has elected that where fixed assets were
previously re-valued, this re-valued amount will be
treated as deemed cost where it is considered that this
is comparable to fair value.

Cape plc, the Company, has not adopted IFRS and has
therefore drawn up separate financial statements in
accordance with UK GAAP. These are presented within 
the Annual Report on pages 86 to 94.

Accounting Interpretation early adopted by the Group
IFRIC 14 “IAS 19 The limit on a defined benefit asset,
minimum funding requirements and their interaction” was
early adopted in 2007. The effect of this has been to further
restrict the pension asset relating to the defined pension
scheme (see note 24).

Accounting standards, interpretations and amendments
that are not yet effective and not yet adopted by 
the Group
The following interpretations and amendments to existing
standards have been published that are mandatory for the
Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2008 or later periods but which the Group has not 
early adopted:
IAS 23 (Revised) Borrowing costs
IAS 1 (Revised) Presentation of financial statements
IFRS 3 (Revised) Business combinations

IAS 27 (Revised) Consolidation and separate financial
statements
IFRS 2 (Amendments) Share-based payment
IAS 32 (Amendments) Financial Instruments: Presentation
and IAS 1 Presentation of financial statements – Puttable
financial instruments and obligations arising on liquidation
IFRS 8 Operating segments.

None are expected to have a material impact on the results
or financial position of the Group.

Accounting standards, interpretations and amendments
that are not yet effective and not relevant to the Group
The following interpretations and amendments to existing
standards have been published that are mandatory for the
Group’s accounting periods beginning on or after 1 January
2008 or later periods but are not relevant for the Group’s
operations: 
IFRIC 12 Service concessions arrangements
IFRIC 13 Customer loyalty programmes.

2. Accounting policies
The Group’s key accounting policies are set out below.
These policies have been prepared on the basis of the
recognition and measurement requirements of IFRS
standards in effect that apply to accounting periods
beginning on or after 1 January 2007.

Basis of consolidation
(a) A business combination is recognised where separate

legal entities or businesses have been brought together
within the Group.

Subsidiaries are all entities over which the Group has
the power to govern the financial and operating policies.
This is generally accompanying a shareholding of 
more than 50% of the voting rights, except in certain
countries where legal restrictions over ownership of
shares by non domicile entities exist. In such situations
management consolidate entities as subsidiaries where
the Group has effective control over the financial and
operating policies. Subsidiaries are fully consolidated
from the date on which control is transferred to the
Group. They are de-consolidated from the date that
control ceases.

The purchase method of accounting is used to
account for business combinations made by the
Group. The cost of a business combination is
measured as the fair value of the assets acquired,
equity instruments issued and liabilities incurred or
assumed at the date of exchange, plus costs directly
attributable to the business combination.

Contingent consideration is included in the cost of a
business at the acquisition date only if the consideration
is probable and can be reliably measured, and is
discounted using an appropriate discount rate. If the
future events upon which the contingent consideration
is based do not occur or the estimate needs to be
revised or if contingent consideration, which has not been
initially included, does become probable and can be
reliably measured, the cost of the business combination,
and any associated goodwill, is adjusted accordingly.

Notes to the financial statements
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Identifiable assets, liabilities and contingent liabilities
acquired in the business combination are measured
initially at their fair value at the acquisition date. The
excess of the cost of acquisition over the fair value 
of the Group’s share of the identifiable net assets
acquired is recorded as goodwill. If the cost of
acquisition is less than the fair value of the net assets
acquired, the difference is credited to the income
statement in the period of acquisition.

(b) The Group’s interest in joint ventures is accounted for
under the equity method. The consolidated financial
statements include the Group’s share of the profits or
losses of joint ventures and the consolidated balance
sheet includes the investments in joint ventures at cost,
including attributable goodwill, plus the Group’s share
of post-acquisition reserves.

(c) Minority interests in subsidiaries consolidated by the
Group are disclosed separately from the Group’s equity
and income. Losses attributable to a minority in excess
of the minority’s interest in net assets of the subsidiary
are adjusted against the interest of the Group unless
there is a binding obligation on the part of the minority
to contribute additional investment in the subsidiary.

(d) Inter-company income, expenses, balances and
unrealised gains and losses on transactions between
Group companies are eliminated on consolidation.

(e) All subsidiary undertakings prepare statutory accounts
to 31 December except: DBI Group Limited and its
subsidiary undertakings which last prepared annual
accounts to 30 September 2007; and the Australian
companies acquired during 2007 TCC, PCH and
Concept Hire all of which last prepared annual
accounts to 30 June 2007. The financial statements 
of these subsidiaries have been consolidated on the
basis of interim financial statements for the period to
31 December 2007. 

Foreign currencies
(a) Functional and presentational currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the
Group’s entities are measured using the currency of 
the primary economic environment in which the entity
operates (‘functional currency’). The consolidated financial
statements are presented in Pounds Sterling, which is
the Company’s functional and presentational currency.

(b) Transactions and balances
Foreign currency transactions are translated into the
functional currency using exchange rates prevailing at
the date of the transactions. Foreign exchange gains and
losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions
and from the translation at period end exchange rates
of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign
currencies are recognised in the income statement,
except when deferred in equity as qualifying cash flow
hedges and qualifying net investment hedges.

Translation differences on non-monetary financial
assets and liabilities are reported as part of the 
fair value gain or loss. Translation differences on 
non-monetary financial assets and liabilities such as

equities held at fair value through profit or loss are
recognised as part of the fair value gain or loss. 

(c) Group companies
The results and financial position of all Group entities
that have a functional currency different from the
presentation currency are translated into the
presentation currency as follows:

– Assets and liabilities for each balance sheet
presented are translated at the closing rate at the
date of the balance sheet;

– Income and expenses for each income statement
are translated at average exchange rates (unless
this average is not a reasonable approximation of
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the
transaction dates, in which case the income and
expenses are translated at the rate on the dates 
of the transaction); and

– All resulting exchange differences are recognised 
as a separate component of equity.

On consolidation, exchange differences arising from the
translation of the net investment in foreign operations, and
of borrowings and other currency instruments designated 
as hedges of such investments, are taken to shareholders’
equity. When a foreign operation is partially disposed of or
sold, exchange differences that were recognised in equity
are recognised in the income statement as part of the gain
or loss on sale.

Goodwill and fair value adjustments arising on the acquisition
of a foreign entity are treated as assets and liabilities of the
foreign entity and translated at the closing exchange rate.

Goodwill
Goodwill represents the excess of the cost of an acquisition
over the fair value of the Group’s share of the identifiable net
assets acquired. Goodwill is tested annually for impairment
and carried at cost less accumulated impairment losses.
Goodwill is allocated to the appropriate cash generating unit
for the purpose of impairment testing. Any impairment is
recognised immediately through the income statement and
is not subsequently reversed.

Intangible assets
Intangible assets are recognised if it is probable that there
will be future economic benefits attributable to the asset,
the cost of the asset can be measured reliably, the asset is
separately identifiable and there is control over the use of
the asset. The assets are amortised on a straight line basis
over the period over which the Group expects to benefit
from these assets, ranging from 3 to 5 years.

Property, plant and equipment
Property, plant and equipment is stated at cost net of
accumulated depreciation and any provision for impairment.
Cost comprises purchase cost together with any incidental
costs of acquisition. Certain land and buildings are held at
previous revalued amounts less accumulated depreciation
as these amounts have been taken as their deemed cost 
at the date of transition to IFRS in accordance with the
exemption under IFRS 1 “First-time Adoption of IFRS”.
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Depreciation is provided to write off the cost less the
estimated residual value of tangible fixed assets by equal
instalments over their estimated useful economic lives with
the exception that no depreciation is provided on freehold
land. The asset’s residual values and useful economic lives
are reviewed, and adjusted as appropriate, at each balance
sheet date. The following rates are applied:

– Freehold buildings – 2% per annum;

– Leasehold land and buildings – the period of the lease;

– Plant, machinery, fixtures and fittings – 62/3% to 331/3%
per annum;

– Scaffolding equipment – 1% to 331/3% per annum.

Investment properties are stated at cost less any provision
for impairment.

Impairment of assets (excluding goodwill)
The entity assesses at each reporting date whether an asset
may be impaired. If any such indication exists, the Group
makes an estimate of the assets recoverable amount. 
An asset’s recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s
fair value less costs to sell and its value in use. In assessing
value in use, the estimated future cash flows attributable to
the asset are discounted to their present value using a pre-
tax discount rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

Where the recoverable amount is estimated to be less than
its carrying amount, the carrying amount is reduced to its
recoverable amount. An impairment loss is recognised
immediately in the income statement.

Trade and other receivables
Trade receivables are recognised and carried at original
invoice amounts less an allowance for any amount
estimated to be uncollectible.

Leases
Finance leases
Where assets are financed by leasing agreements that give
rights approximating to ownership, the amount representing
the outright purchase price is capitalised and the
corresponding leasing commitments are shown as obligations
to the lessor. The relevant assets are depreciated in
accordance with the Group’s depreciation policy or over the
lease term if shorter. Net finance charges, calculated on the
reducing balance method, are included in finance costs.

Operating leases
Payments made under operating leases, net of any incentives
received from the lessor, are charged to the income
statement on a straight line basis over the period of the lease.

Use of estimates and assumptions
The preparation of these financial statements requires
management to make estimates and assumptions that affect
the reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of
the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue
during the reporting period. Actual results could differ from
these estimates. Information about such judgements and
estimations are contained in individual accounting policies.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty that could cause an
adjustment to be required to the carrying amount of asset
or liabilities within the next accounting period are:

– Review of residual lives, residual values, carrying values
and impairment charges for intangible assets and
property, plant and equipment;

– Estimation of liabilities for pension and other post
retirement costs;

– Revenue recognition and assessment of construction
contract performance;

– Liabilities in relation to industrial disease claims; and

– Recoverability of deferred tax assets.

A review of the useful economic lives and residual values for
scaffolding-related items included within property, plant and
equipment has been performed in the period. As a result of
this review the useful economic lives and residual values of
certain items of scaffold equipment have been revised to
reflect the current residual values and useful economic lives
experienced by the Group. The effect on the results is 
a reduced depreciation charge of £1.6 million.

Compensation for industrial disease
Provision is made for compensation for industrial disease
where it is possible to estimate the liability with sufficient
reliability. This is generally only currently possible in respect
of claims lodged and outstanding at the period end. Where
this is not possible, a contingent liability is noted. Benefit is
recognised for insurance recoveries for claims provided
when they are anticipated with virtual certainty.

Provisions
Provisions for liabilities, except for those for industrial
disease, are made where the timing or amount of settlement
is uncertain. A provision is recognised when: the Group has
a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be
required to settle the obligation and the amount has been
reliably estimated.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the
expenditures expected to be required to settle the obligation
using a pre tax rate that reflects current market assessments
of the time value of money and risks specific to the obligation.

Inventories
Inventories which include raw materials and work in progress
are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. 
Raw materials are valued based on first in first out method.

Net realisable value is the estimated selling price in the
ordinary course of business less selling expenses.
Allowance is made for obsolete and slow moving items
based on annual usage.

Revenue recognition
Revenue comprises the fair value of the consideration
received or receivable for the sale of goods and services 
in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue 

Notes to the financial statements continued
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is shown net of value added tax, returns, rebates and
discounts and after eliminating sales within the Group.
Revenue recognition in relation to construction contracts is
described in the accounting policy for construction contracts.

Construction contracts
Contracts are undertaken for customers either on a short 
or long-term basis. For short-term contracts, work done 
is substantially billed as performed and for long-term
contracts, work is carried out on a substantially fixed or
limited-price basis. For short-term contracts, revenue and
profit are recognised according to work executed. Amounts
taken to revenue in respect of work done not billed are
included within amounts recoverable on contracts. Costs
incurred, including an appropriate allocation of overheads, 
in respect of long-term contracts are included in work in
progress net of progress payments received and provisions
for foreseeable losses. Provision is made in full for any
losses as soon as they can be foreseen. Any payments on
account or provisions for foreseeable losses in excess of
contract balances are included in trade and other payables.
Revenue and attributable profit on long-term contracts is
recognised according to the percentage of estimated total
contract value completed or the achievement of contractual
milestones provided that the outcome of the contract can
be assessed with reasonable certainty.

Deferred income taxation
Deferred income tax is recognised, using the full liability
method, on temporary differences arising between the tax
bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amount in
the consolidated financial statements. Deferred income tax
is determined using tax rates (and laws) that have been
enacted, or substantially enacted, by the balance sheet
date and are expected to apply when the related deferred
tax asset is realised or deferred tax liability is settled.

Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that 
it is probable that future taxable profits will be available
against which the temporary differences can be utilised.

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences
arising on investments in subsidiaries and associates, except
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is
controlled by the Group and it is probable that the temporary
difference will not be reversed in the foreseeable future.

Exceptional items
Exceptional items represent income and expenses relating
to non-recurring transactions that are significant, by virtue of
their size or nature, and therefore relevant to understanding
the Group’s financial performance and are shown separately
to provide a better indication of the underlying results of 
the business.

Employee benefits
The Group operates both defined benefit and defined
contribution schemes. 

A defined contribution scheme is a pension scheme under
which the Group pays fixed contributions into a separate
entity. The Group has no legal or constructive obligation to
pay further contributions if the fund does not hold sufficient
assets to pay all employees the benefits relating to

employment in the current or prior periods. The pension
expense for defined contribution schemes represents
contributions payable in the year.

A defined benefit scheme is a pension scheme that is not 
a defined contribution scheme. The asset recognised in the
balance sheet in respect of the defined benefit scheme is the
present value of the defined benefit obligation at the balance
sheet date less the fair value of the plan assets. The defined
benefit obligation is calculated tri-annually by independent
actuaries using the projected unit method and this valuation
is updated at each balance sheet date. The present value of
the defined benefit obligation is determined by discounting
the estimated future cash outflows using interest rates of
high quality corporate bonds that are denominated in the
currency in which the benefits will be paid and that have
terms to maturity approximating to the terms of the related
pension liability.

Current and past service costs, finance costs and expected
returns on assets are charged to operating profit. Actuarial
gains and losses arising from new valuations and from
updating the latest actuarial valuation to reflect conditions 
at the balance sheet date are recognised in full in the
statement of recognised income and expense.

The pension schemes’ deficits or surpluses, (to the 
extent that any surpluses are considered recoverable), 
are recognised in full and presented on the face of the
balance sheet.

Under IFRIC 14 the recoverability of a surplus must be
assessed against the minimum funding requirements of the
pension scheme.

The Group operates gratuity schemes in certain overseas
countries. These are accounted for in accordance with 
IAS 19 and accounting follows the same principles as for 
a defined benefit scheme.

Accounting for derivative financial instruments and
hedging activities
The Group uses derivative financial instruments such as
forward currency contracts and interest rate caps to hedge
its risks associated with foreign currency and interest rate
fluctuations. Derivatives are initially recognised at fair value
on the date the contract is entered into and are
subsequently re-measured at their fair value.

The fair value of forward currency contracts is calculated by
reference to current forward exchange rates for contracts
with similar maturity profiles. The fair value of interest rate
caps is determined by reference to market values of similar
instruments.

For the purpose of hedge accounting, hedges are classified as:

– Fair value hedges when hedging the exposure to changes
in the fair value of a recognised asset or liability; and

– Cash flow hedges when hedging exposure to variability
in cash flows that is either attributable to a particular risk
associated with a recognised asset or liability or a highly
probable forecast transaction.
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The Group formally designates and documents the
relationship between the hedging instrument and the
hedged item at the inception of the transaction, as well as
its risk management objectives and strategy for undertaking
various hedge transactions. The documentation also
includes identification of the hedging instrument, the hedged
item or transaction, the nature of the risk being hedged and
how the Group will assess the effectiveness of the hedging
instruments in offsetting the exposure to changes in the fair
value of the hedge or the cash flows attributable to the
hedged risk. The Group also documents its assessment,
both at inception and on an ongoing basis, of whether the
derivatives that are used in the hedging transactions are
highly effective in offsetting changes in fair values or cash
flows of the hedged items.

Any gains or losses arising from changes in the fair value 
of derivatives that do not qualify for hedge accounting are
taken to the income statement. The treatment of gains and
losses arising from revaluing derivatives designated as
hedging instruments depends on the nature of the hedging
relationship, as follows:

Fair value hedges
For fair value hedges, the carrying amount of the hedged
item is adjusted for gains and losses attributable to the risk
being hedged: the derivative is re-measured at fair value
and gains and losses from both are taken to the income
statement. For hedged items carried at amortised cost, the
adjustment is amortised through the income statement such
that it is fully amortised at maturity. The Group discontinues
fair value hedge accounting if the hedging instrument
expires or is sold, terminated or exercised, or the hedge 
no longer meets the criteria for hedge accounting.

Cash flow hedges
For cash flow hedges, the effective portion of the gain or
loss on the hedging instrument is recognised directly in
equity, while the ineffective portion is recognised in the
income statement. Amounts taken to equity are transferred
to the income statement when the hedged transaction
affects the income statement.

If the hedging instrument expires or is sold, terminated 
or exercised without replacement or rollover, or if its
designation as a hedge is revoked, any cumulative gain 
or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and 
is recognised when the forecast transaction is ultimately
recognised in the income statement. When a forecast
transaction is no longer expected to occur, the cumulative
gain or loss that was reported in equity is immediately
transferred to the income statement.

Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at the amount of the
consideration received after deduction of issue costs. Issue
costs together with finance costs are charged to the income
statement over the term of the borrowings and represent 
a constant proportion of the balance of capital repayments
outstanding.

Cumulative preference shares are classified as liabilities. 
The dividends on these preference shares are recognised 
in the income statement as interest expense. 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the
Group has an unconditional right to defer settlement of the
liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.

Cash and cash equivalents
Cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand, deposits
held on call with banks, other short term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less,
and bank overdrafts. Bank overdrafts are shown within
borrowings in current liabilities on the balance sheet.

Restricted cash relating to the Scheme of Arrangement 
(see note 33) is excluded from cash and cash equivalents
for the purpose of the Group cash flow statement.

Share capital
Ordinary shares and deferred shares are classified as equity. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new
shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, 
net of tax, from the proceeds.

Share based payments
The Group issues equity settled share based payments to
certain employees which must be measured at fair value
and recognised as an expense in the income statement 
with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair values of
these payments are measured at the dates of grant using
option pricing models, taking into account the terms and
conditions upon which the awards are granted. The fair
value is recognised over the period during which employees
become unconditionally entitled to the awards subject to the
Group’s estimate of the number of awards which will lapse,
either due to employees leaving the Group prior to vesting
or due to non-market based performance conditions not
being met.

Proceeds received on the exercise of share options are
credited to share capital and share premium.

Segmental reporting
A business segment is a group of assets and operations
engaged in providing products or services that are subject
to risks and returns that are different from those of other
business segments. A geographical segment is engaged in
providing products or services within a particular economic
environment that are subject to risks and returns that 
are different from those of segments operating in other 
economic environments.

The Group’s primary reporting segment is by business
segment. This is split between the provision of industrial
services, industrial disease related costs and balances and
head office.

The Group’s secondary segment is geographical by country
of destination. 

Notes to the financial statements continued
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3. Segmental analysis
(a) Primary reporting format – business segment 
The Group’s primary reporting segments are the provision of industrial services, industrial disease related costs and
balances and head office.

Industrial 
Industrial disease Head
services related office Group

2007 £m £m £m £m
Continuing operations
Revenue 428.8 – – 428.8
Operating profit/(loss) before exceptional items 41.1 (1.6) (3.4) 36.1
Exceptional items (note 5) (0.3) – – (0.3)
Operating profit/(loss) 40.8 (1.6) (3.4) 35.8
Finance income 3.4
Finance costs (6.2)
Profit before tax 33.0
Taxation (5.4)
Profit from continuing operations 27.6

Discontinued operations
Operating loss before exceptional items (0.1) – – (0.1)
Exceptional items (note 5) (0.6) – – (0.6)
Operating loss (0.7) – – (0.7)
Taxation –
Loss attributable to discontinued operations (0.7)

Net profit attributable to equity shareholders 26.9

There are no significant inter-segment sales between business segments.

Industrial 
Industrial disease Head
services related office Group

2006 £m £m £m £m
Continuing operations
Revenue 274.0 – – 274.0
Operating profit/(loss) before exceptional items 20.0 (3.4) (1.8) 14.8
Exceptional items (note 5) – – 1.0 1.0
Operating profit/(loss) 20.0 (3.4) (0.8) 15.8
Share of post tax profits of joint ventures 0.1 – – 0.1
Finance income 1.3
Finance costs (1.6)
Profit before tax 15.6
Taxation (2.0)
Profit from continuing operations 13.6

Discontinued operations
Revenue 16.9 – – 16.9
Operating profit before exceptional items 0.3 – – 0.3
Exceptional items (note 5) 1.3 – – 1.3
Operating profit 1.6 – – 1.6
Taxation (0.5)
Profit attributable to discontinued operations 1.1
Net profit attributable to equity shareholders 14.7
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3. Segmental analysis (continued)
(a) Primary reporting format – business segment (continued)
Other segment items included in the income statement are as follows:

2007 2006
Industrial Industrial 

Industrial disease Head Industrial disease Head
services related office Group services related office Group

£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
Depreciation 
(note 14) 8.7 – – 8.7 6.9 – – 6.9
Amortisation 
(note 13) 1.0 – – 1.0 0.1 – – 0.1
Restructuring costs 
(note 5) 0.3 – – 0.3 – – – –

Segment assets consist primarily of property, plant and equipment, intangible assets, inventories, trade and other
receivables and retirement benefit assets. Unallocated assets comprise deferred taxation and financial assets.

Segment liabilities comprise operating liabilities. Unallocated liabilities comprise items such as taxation, borrowings 
and derivatives.

The segment assets and liabilities at 31 December 2007 and capital expenditure for the year then ended are as follows:

Industrial
Industrial disease Head
services related office Unallocated Group

Business segment £m £m £m £m £m
Assets – continuing 447.0 1.1 2.7 65.9 516.7
Assets – discontinued 2.2 – – – 2.2
Total assets 449.2 1.1 2.7 65.9 518.9

Liabilities – continuing 91.5 10.0 8.3 226.4 336.2
Liabilities – discontinued 2.0 – – – 2.0
Total liabilities 93.5 10.0 8.3 226.4 338.2

Capital expenditure – property, plant & equipment (note 14) 31.7 – – – 31.7
Capital expenditure – intangible assets (note 13) 7.5 – – – 7.5

Segment assets and liabilities are reconciled to the Group assets and liabilities as follows:

Assets Liabilities
£m £m

Segment assets/liabilities 453.0 111.8
Unallocated:

– Deferred tax 6.7 10.4
– Current tax – 6.6
– Cash 59.2 –
– Current borrowings – 45.5
– Non current borrowings – 163.8
– Derivatives – 0.1

Total assets/liabilities 518.9 338.2

Notes to the financial statements continued
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3. Segmental analysis (continued)
(a) Primary reporting format – business segment (continued)
The segment assets and liabilities at 31 December 2006 and capital expenditure for the year then ended are as follows:

Industrial
Industrial disease Head
services related office Unallocated Group

Business segment £m £m £m £m £m
Assets – continuing 127.8 2.4 9.6 60.5 200.3
Joint ventures 0.1 – – – 0.1
Assets – discontinued 2.2 – – – 2.2
Total assets 130.1 2.4 9.6 60.5 202.6

Liabilities – continuing 62.6 14.9 3.9 42.8 124.2
Liabilities – discontinued 3.2 – – – 3.2
Total liabilities 65.8 14.9 3.9 42.8 127.4

Capital expenditure – property, plant & equipment (note 14) 12.0 – – – 12.0
Capital expenditure – intangible assets (note 13) 1.2 – – – 1.2

Segment assets and liabilities are reconciled to the Group assets and liabilities as follows:

Assets Liabilities
£m £m

Segment assets/liabilities 142.1 84.6
Unallocated:

– Deferred tax 4.8 2.7
– Current tax – 3.3
– Cash 55.4 –
– Current borrowings – 13.3
– Non current borrowings – 23.4
– Derivatives 0.3 0.1

Total assets/liabilities 202.6 127.4

(b) Secondary reporting format – geographical segment 
The group operates in four main geographical areas being the UK, Gulf/Middle East, CIS/Caspian and Far East/Pacific Rim.
The home country of the operation is the UK.

Operating Operating
Revenue profit Revenue profit

2007 2007 2006 2006
Continuing operations £m £m £m £m
UK 270.1 21.0 189.9 10.3
Gulf/Middle East 66.1 12.4 40.6 9.4
CIS/Caspian 45.2 4.6 31.0 0.4
Far East/Pacific Rim 45.5 2.9 11.8 –
Other 1.9 0.2 0.7 (0.1)
Exceptional items (note 5) – (0.3) – 1.0
Central costs:

– Head office – (3.4) – (1.8)
– Industrial disease related – (1.6) – (3.4)

Total continuing operations 428.8 35.8 274.0 15.8

Revenue is allocated based on the country in which the customer is located and is all from the provision of industrial services.
Operating profit is allocated based on the country in which the operation was performed.

Operating profit in the above table is stated after intangible amortisation of £0.5 million in the UK (2006: £0.1 million) and 
£0.5 million in the Far East/Pacific Rim (2006: £nil).
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3. Segmental analysis (continued)
(b) Secondary reporting format – geographical segment (continued)

2007 2006
Total assets £m £m
UK 135.6 101.6
Gulf/Middle East 40.4 24.4
CIS/Caspian 2.8 1.2
Far East/Pacific Rim 265.3 6.6
Other 8.9 8.3
Unallocated assets 65.9 60.5

518.9 202.6

Total assets are allocated based on where the assets are located.

2007 2006
Capital expenditure – property, plant & equipment £m £m
UK 15.2 5.9
Gulf/Middle East 9.8 2.8
CIS/Caspian 2.8 2.1
Far East/Pacific Rim 3.8 1.2
Other 0.1 –

31.7 12.0

Capital expenditure – intangible assets
UK 0.6 1.2
Far East/Pacific Rim 6.9 –

7.5 1.2

Capital expenditure is allocated based on where the assets are located.

4. Group operating profit

Pre- 2007 Pre- 2006
exceptional Exceptional exceptional Exceptional

items items Total items items Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Analysis of Group operating profit (Note 5) (Note 5)
Continuing operations
Revenue 428.8 – 428.8 274.0 – 274.0
Cost of sales (373.5) (0.3) (373.8) (252.3) – (252.3)
Gross profit 55.3 (0.3) 55.0 21.7 – 21.7
Net operating expenses (19.2) – (19.2) (6.9) 1.0 (5.9)
Operating profit 36.1 (0.3) 35.8 14.8 1.0 15.8

Within the continuing operations, acquisitions contributed £27.8 million (2006: £3.5 million) of revenue with cost of sales of
£20.6 million (2006: £3.1 million) and administrative costs of £5.6 million.

Net operating expenses comprise wholly of administrative costs.

Notes to the financial statements continued
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5. Exceptional items

2007 2006
The exceptional items comprise: £m £m
Continuing:
Restructuring costs (0.3) –
Credit relating to Scheme of arrangement – 1.0
Total continuing (0.3) 1.0
Discontinued:
Additional costs relating to the disposal of the Calsil business (1.0) (0.9)
Additional profit on sale of Calsil property 0.4 –
Profit on disposal of Continental European operating business – 0.3
Profit on sale of Dutch properties – 1.9
Total discontinued (0.6) 1.3

On 20 July 2006 the Group disposed of the trade and certain business assets of Cleton, its operating business based in the
Netherlands, Belgium and Germany. This resulted in a withdrawal from the Continental European market and as such the
disposal was treated as a discontinued operation in the income statement.

During the year, additional provisions have been made in regard to properties which were used in the Calsil business.

The cash effect of the above exceptional items was an inflow of £0.4 million (2006: outflow of £4.5 million).

The tax effect of the exceptional item in continuing operations is a credit of £0.1 million (2006: charge of £0.3 million).

The tax effect of the discontinued exceptional items is a tax charge of £nil (2006: charge of £0.5 million).

6. Net foreign exchange gains
Exchange adjustments credited to the income statement.

2007 2006
£m £m

Cost of sales – 0.1

7. Other gains – net

2007 2006
£m £m

Other financial assets at fair value through profit or loss:
– Foreign exchange forward contracts – net exchange gains – 0.1
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8. Employee benefit expense

2007 2006
Notes £m £m

Wages and salaries 202.1 147.7
Social security costs 19.5 14.2
Share options granted to directors and employees 28, 29 0.8 0.4
Pension costs – defined contribution plans 24 1.7 0.5
Pension costs – defined benefit plans 24 0.7 0.8
Other employee benefit costs 24 0.7 0.6

225.5 164.2

Average number of employees including executive directors 10,885 8,002

9. Auditor remuneration
Services provided by the Group’s auditor and network firms
During the year the Group (including its overseas subsidiaries) obtained the following services from the Group’s auditor at
costs as detailed below:

2007 2006
£m £m

Audit services
– Fees payable to the Company’s auditors for the audit of the Company’s annual accounts 0.1 0.1

Non-Audit services
– Fees payable to the Company’s auditors and its associates for other services:

– The audit of the Company’s subsidiaries pursuant to legislation 0.6 0.2
– Other services pursuant to legislation 0.1 0.1

0.8 0.4

During the year fees totalling £1.8 million have been paid to the auditors in relation to the acquisition of three Australian
companies. These have been capitalised as part of the cost of investment in these businesses.

In 2006 fees of £0.1 million were paid to the auditors in relation to the acquisition of DBI Group. 
These costs have been capitalised as part of the cost of investment in DBI Group.

10. Finance income and costs

2007 2006
£m £m

Interest income:
– Short-term bank deposits 3.4 1.3

Finance income 3.4 1.3
Interest expense:

– Bank borrowings (5.2) (1.4)
– Finance leases (0.6) (0.2)
– Other (0.4) –

Finance costs (6.2) (1.6)
Net finance costs (2.8) (0.3)

Notes to the financial statements continued
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11. Income tax expense

2007 2006
Note £m £m

Current tax 6.8 2.2
Deferred tax 25 (1.4) (0.2)

5.4 2.0

The tax charge on the Group’s profit before tax differs from the theoretical amount that would arise using the UK standard
corporation tax rate applicable to profits of the consolidated entities as follows:

2007 2006
£m £m

Profit before tax 33.0 15.6
Tax calculated at the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 30% 9.9 4.7
Adjustments to tax in respect of prior periods (1.0) (1.3)
Adjustment in respect of overseas tax rates (1.9) (2.1)
Expenses non-deductible 0.2 0.4
Unrelieved overseas tax 0.2 0.1
Deferred tax rate movement 0.2 –
Deferred tax assets not recognised – 0.2
Reduction in deferred tax liabilities arising from the rebasing of assets following the 

acquisition of Australian subsidiaries (2.8) –
Tax on cash flow hedges 0.6 –
Tax charge 5.4 2.0

The effective tax rate applicable to the profits from continuing operations was 16.4% (2006: 12.8%). 

During the year, as a result of the change in the UK Corporation Tax rate from 30% to 28% that is effective from 1 April
2008, deferred tax balances have been remeasured.

12. Earnings per ordinary share
The basic earnings per share calculation for the year ended 31 December 2007 is based on the earnings after tax 
of £26.9 million (2006: £14.7 million) divided by the weighted average number of ordinary 25p shares of 103,351,141 
(2006: 83,523,010).

The diluted earnings per share calculation for the year ended 31 December 2007 is based on the earnings after tax of 
£26.9 million (2006: £14.7 million) divided by the diluted weighted average number of ordinary 25p shares of 105,449,927 
(2006: 84,808,505).

Share options are considered potentially dilutive as the average share price during the year was above the average 
exercise prices.

2007 2006
Shares Shares

Basic weighted average number of shares 103,351,141 83,523,010
Adjustments:
Weighted average number of outstanding share options 2,098,786 1,285,495
Diluted weighted average number of shares 105,449,927 84,808,505

2007 2006
Earnings EPS Earnings EPS

Basic earnings per share £m pence £m pence
Continuing operations 27.6 26.7 13.6 16.3
Discontinued operations (0.7) (0.7) 1.1 1.3
Basic earnings per share 26.9 26.0 14.7 17.6
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12. Earnings per ordinary share (continued)

2007 2006
Earnings EPS Earnings EPS

Diluted earnings per share £m pence £m pence
Continuing operations 27.6 26.2 13.6 16.0
Discontinued operations (0.7) (0.7) 1.1 1.3
Diluted earnings per share 26.9 25.5 14.7 17.3

An underlying adjusted diluted earnings per share has been calculated which excludes the effects of a one off tax credit
received in the year on the consolidation of Concept Hire in Australia. It is calculated by dividing the adjusted earnings after
tax from continuing operations of £24.8 million (2006: £13.6 million) by the diluted weighted average number of ordinary 
25p shares of 105,449,927 (2006: 84,808,505). The adjusted numbers have been provided in order that the effects of this
one off item on reported earnings can be fully appreciated, and has been calculated as follows:

2007 2006
Earnings EPS Earnings EPS

Underlying adjusted diluted earnings per share – continuing operations £m pence £m pence
As stated above 27.6 26.2 13.6 16.0
Exceptional Australian tax credit (2.8) (2.6) – –
Underlying adjusted diluted earnings per share – continuing operations 24.8 23.6 13.6 16.0

13. Intangible assets

Total Goodwill Other
Note £m £m £m

Cost:
At 1 January 2006 0.6 0.6 –
Acquisitions 14.9 13.7 1.2
At 31 December 2006 15.5 14.3 1.2
Acquisitions 31 148.1 140.6 7.5
Adjustment relating to deferred consideration of previous acquisition (0.8) (0.8) –
Exchange adjustments 3.9 3.5 0.4
At 31 December 2007 166.7 157.6 9.1

Amortisation
At 1 January 2006 – – –
Amortisation charge 0.1 – 0.1
At 31 December 2006 0.1 – 0.1
Amortisation charge 1.0 – 1.0
At 31 December 2007 1.1 – 1.1

Net book value:
At 31 December 2007 165.6 157.6 8.0
At 31 December 2006 15.4 14.3 1.1
At 1 January 2006 0.6 0.6 –

Other intangibles include customer relationships and contracts, technological assets and amounts relating to favourable
contracts. The useful economic lives of the intangible assets range from three to five years.

Amortisation charges of £1.0 million (2006: £0.1 million) have been charged to cost of sales in the income statement. 

Notes to the financial statements continued
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13. Intangible assets (continued)
Impairment tests for goodwill
Goodwill is allocated to the Group’s cash-generating units (CGU) identified according to country of operation. All goodwill
relates to Industrial Services.

The aggregate carrying amounts of goodwill allocated by geographical area is as follows:

2007 2006
£m £m

UK 16.7 13.7
Gulf/Middle East 0.7 0.6
CIS/Caspian – –
Far East/Pacific Rim 140.2 –
Other – –

157.6 14.3

The recoverable amount of a CGU is determined based on value-in-use calculations. These calculations use pre-tax cash
flow projections based on financial budgets approved by management covering a five-year period. Cash flows beyond the
five-year period are extrapolated using the estimated growth rates stated below. 

The key assumptions used for value-in-use calculations are:

United Gulf/Middle Far East/
Kingdom East Pacific Rim

Growth rate 3.5% 3.5% 3.5%
Discount rate 8.4% 8.4% 11.5%

These assumptions have been used for the analysis of each CGU within the business segment.

Management determined budgeted gross and net margin based on past performance and its expectations of market
development for each CGU, the net margins achievable depend on the services being performed. The discount rates used
are pre-tax and reflect specific risks relating to the relevant segments. 
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14. Property, plant and equipment

Plant,
machinery,

Land and fixtures and
Total buildings fittings

Note £m £m £m
Cost:
At 1 January 2006 69.6 12.1 57.5
Exchange adjustments (2.7) (0.1) (2.6)
Additions 12.0 0.2 11.8
Acquisitions 2.0 – 2.0
Disposals (11.9) (3.5) (8.4)
At 31 December 2006 69.0 8.7 60.3
Exchange adjustments 1.9 0.1 1.8
Additions 31.7 2.4 29.3
Acquisitions 31 71.6 5.7 65.9
Disposals (5.3) (0.4) (4.9)
At 31 December 2007 168.9 16.5 152.4

Depreciation:
At 1 January 2006 40.2 3.5 36.7
Exchange adjustments (1.9) (0.1) (1.8)
Charge for the year 6.9 0.4 6.5
Disposals (8.2) (2.4) (5.8)
At 31 December 2006 37.0 1.4 35.6
Exchange adjustments 0.2 – 0.2
Charge for the year 8.7 0.4 8.3
Disposals (4.0) (0.3) (3.7)
At 31 December 2007 41.9 1.5 40.4

Net book amount:
At 31 December 2007 127.0 15.0 112.0
At 31 December 2006 32.0 7.3 24.7
At 1 January 2006 29.4 8.6 20.8

Depreciation expense of £8.7 million (2006: £6.9 million) has been charged to cost of sales in the income statement.

Included within Land and buildings is an investment property with a value of £2.0 million (2006: £2.0 million). No rent is
received from the investment property. The fair value of the investment property has not been estimated as the property is
the residual land left over from the sale of the Calsil businesses.

The Group leases plant and machinery under finance lease agreements. The leased equipment secures lease obligations 
(see note 20). At 31 December 2007 the net carrying amount of leased plant and machinery was £22.9 million 
(2006: £4.4 million).

A review of the useful economic lives and residual values for scaffold related items included within property, plant and
equipment was carried out as at 1 January 2007. As a result of this review the useful economic lives and residual values 
of certain items of scaffold equipment have been revised. The effect on the results in the year to 31 December 2007 
is a reduction in the depreciation charge of £1.6 million.

Notes to the financial statements continued
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15. Investment in joint ventures

2007 2006
£m £m

Interest in joint ventures
Continuing operations

– Share of gross assets – 0.1

The Group’s share of operating profit of joint ventures is £nil (2006: £0.1 million) and dividends received from joint ventures
are £nil (2006: £0.2 million).

The Group has a 51% interest in the Cape Perlite Systems joint venture incorporated in the United Kingdom for the
manufacture of Perlite insulation products.

The Group has a 51% interest in Cape C.I.S.L. joint venture incorporated in Trinidad for the provision of insulation services.

The Group has a 50% interest in Orascom Cape joint venture incorporated in Egypt for the provision of insulation 
and scaffolding services.

The Group has a 50% interest in Orascom Cape WLL, a joint venture incorporated in Bahrain for the provision 
of insulation services. 

The Group’s share of net liabilities of joint ventures is included within other creditors (see note 22).

The Group accounts for the investments in Cape Perlite Systems and Cape C.I.S.L. as joint ventures as the Group does 
not have control over the financial and operating policies of these entities.

16. Inventories

2007 2006
£m £m

Materials 8.3 4.4
Contract work in progress 4.3 3.9
Finished goods 3.2 –

15.8 8.3

The cost of inventories recognised as an expense and has been charged to cost of sales in the income statement amounted
to £27.0 million (2006: £14.0 million).

Payments received on account in excess of the value of the work performed on the related contract are included within
trade and other payables (see note 22).

17. Trade and other receivables

2007 2006
Note £m £m

Trade receivables 112.6 56.6
Less: provision for impairment of trade receivables (4.1) (0.8)
Trade receivables – net 108.5 55.8
Amounts recoverable on contracts 14.5 12.7
Receivables from related parties 34 0.2 0.2
Other debtors 11.3 6.6
Prepayments and accrued income 10.0 2.9

144.5 78.2

Trade receivables include retentions of £4.1 million (2006: £2.4 million).
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17. Trade and other receivables (continued)
The fair values of trade and other receivables equals their carrying amount, as the impact of discounting is not material.

As of 31 December 2007, trade receivables of £4.8 million (2006: £1.4 million) were impaired. The amount of the provision
was £4.1 million (2006: £0.8 million). The individually impaired receivables mainly relate to contracts within the UK and
Australia. It was assessed that a portion of the receivables is expected to be recovered. The ageing of these receivables is 
as follows:

2007 2006
£m £m

Less than 3 months 0.2 0.2
3 to 6 months 1.0 0.9
7 to 12 months 2.0 0.3
Over 12 months 1.6 –

4.8 1.4

As of 31 December 2007, trade receivables of £77.9 million (2006: £34.8 million) were past due but not impaired. These relate
to a number of customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The ageing analysis of these trade receivables is 
as follows:

2007 2006
£m £m

Less than 3 months 68.7 30.6
3 to 6 months 5.8 2.9
7 to 12 months 3.0 1.0
Over 12 months 0.4 0.3

77.9 34.8

The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other receivables are denominated in the following currencies:

2007 2006
£m £m

Euro 1.8 0.1
UK Sterling 68.5 52.5
UAE Dirham 6.7 3.2
Omani Rials 1.0 0.2
Bahraini Dinar 1.1 0.8
Saudi Arabian Riyal 6.8 4.1
United States Dollar 17.3 12.1
Singapore Dollar 2.2 1.0
Thai Baht 0.4 0.2
Kuwaiti Dinar 0.2 0.2
Philippine Peso 1.4 0.2
Qatar Riyal 5.8 2.7
Indian Rupee – 0.1
Maltese Lira 0.9 0.4
Australian Dollar 30.3 0.3
Other currencies 0.1 0.1

144.5 78.2

Notes to the financial statements continued
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17. Trade and other receivables (continued)
Provision for impairment of trade receivables:

2007 2006
£m £m

At 1 January 0.8 0.9
Provision on acquisition 1.4 –
Provision for receivables impairment 2.2 0.7
Receivables written off during the year as uncollectible (0.1) (0.3)
Unused amounts reversed (0.2) (0.5)
At 31 December 4.1 0.8

The creation and release of provision for impaired receivables have been included in cost of sales in the income statement.
Amounts charged to the bad debt provision account are generally written off when there is no expectation of recovering
additional cash.

The other classes within trade and other receivables do not contain impaired assets.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of each class of receivable mentioned above. 
The Group does not hold any collateral as security.

18. Cash Scheme funds – restricted

2007 2006
£m £m

Cash – restricted 39.1 40.1

Cape Claims Services Limited (‘CCS’) is the Scheme company in which asbestos-related liabilities and the associated
Scheme funding is accounted for (note 33). Under the terms of the Scheme, there is a funding agreement between Cape
plc and CCS under which Cape plc has provided CCS with initial funding of £40 million. The funds held by CCS of 
£39.1 million (2006: £40.1 million) is restricted for use primarily in settling the Group’s UK asbestos-related liabilities.

19. Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts

2007 2006
Note £m £m

Cash at bank and in hand 20.1 15.3
Bank overdrafts 20 (4.9) (6.2)
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts in the statement of cash flows 15.2 9.1

In the Netherlands there is a restriction on a £0.1 million (2006: £0.7 million) balance held to pay the tax authority and 
social security.
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20. Borrowings

2007 2006
Note £m £m

Non-current
Finance leases 14.3 2.7
Bank loans 149.2 20.4
Redeemable preference shares 0.3 0.3

163.8 23.4
Current
Finance leases 5.3 1.5
Bank loans 35.3 5.6
Bank overdrafts 19 4.9 6.2

45.5 13.3
Total borrowings 209.3 36.7

Bank borrowings
The bank loans and overdrafts of £191.6 million (2006: £32.7 million) are secured by fixed and floating charges over the
assets of the Group. Bank loans are stated net of unamortised issue costs of £3.5 million (2006: £0.5 million). The Group
incurred issue costs of £3.9 million in respect of the five year facility entered into in September 2007 (amended December
2007) under which amounts have been drawn down to part fund the acquisitions in Australia. These issue costs together
with the interest expense are allocated to the income statement over the five year term of the facility at a constant rate on
the carrying amount.

The exposure of the Group’s borrowings to interest rate changes and the contractual repricing dates at the balance sheet
dates are as follows:

2007 2006
£m £m

6 months or less 190.7 32.2
6 to12 months 5.3 1.5
1 to 5 years 13.0 2.7
Over 5 years 0.3 0.3

209.3 36.7

The carrying amounts and fair value of the non-current borrowings are as follows:

Carrying amount Fair value
2007 2006 2007 2006

£m £m £m £m
Finance lease obligations 14.3 2.7 11.7 2.2
Bank loans 149.2 20.4 111.9 16.3
Redeemable preference shares 0.3 0.3 0.2 0.2

163.8 23.4 123.8 18.7

The fair value of current borrowings equals their carrying amount, as the impact of discounting is not significant. The fair
values are based on cash flows discounted using a rate based on the borrowing rate of 7% (2006: 7%).

Notes to the financial statements continued
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20. Borrowings (continued)
The carrying amounts of the Group’s borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

2007 2006
£m £m

Australian Dollar 36.2 –
UK Sterling 173.1 36.7

209.3 36.7

The Group has the following undrawn borrowing facilities:

2007 2006
£m £m

Floating rate:
– Expiring beyond one year 35.3 26.3

3.5% cumulative preference shares 
The Company has in issue 250,000 cumulative preference shares of £1 with a fixed cumulative preferential dividend of 3.5%
per annum, payable half yearly in arrears on 31 March and 30 September over the last five years. The dividends have been
deferred as the Company did not have distributable reserves from which to pay the dividends. The shares have no
redemption entitlement.

Finance lease liabilities
Finance lease liabilities are payable as follows:

Present Present
Future value of Future value of

minimum minimum minimum minimum
lease lease lease lease

payments Interest payments payments Interest payments
2007 2007 2007 2006 2006 2006

£m £m £m £m £m £m
Less than one year 6.8 1.5 5.3 1.7 0.2 1.5
Between one and five years 16.1 1.8 14.3 2.9 0.2 2.7
More than five years – – – – – –

22.9 3.3 19.6 4.6 0.4 4.2

21. Financial instruments 
Disclosures in respect of the Group’s financial risks are set out below. Numerical disclosures in respect of financial
instruments are set out below and on page 58 in note 20 ‘Borrowings’.

Financial risk management
The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including currency risk, cash flow interest rate risk
and fair value interest risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management programme focuses on the
unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimise potential adverse effects on the Group’s financial performance. 
The Group uses derivative financial instruments to hedge certain risk exposures.

Risk management is carried out by a central treasury department (Group treasury) under policies approved by the Board of
Directors. Group treasury identifies, evaluates and hedges financial risks in close co-operation with the Group’s operating
units. The Board provides written principles for overall risk management, as well as written policies covering specific areas,
such as foreign exchange risk, interest rate risk, credit risk, use of derivative financial instruments and non-derivative
financial instruments, and investment of excess liquidity.
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21. Financial instruments (continued)
(a) Market risk
Foreign exchange risk
The Group operates internationally and is exposed to foreign exchange risk arising from various currency exposures, primarily
with respect to the US Dollar and Australian Dollar. Foreign exchange risk arises from future commercial transactions,
recognised assets and liabilities denominated in a currency that is not the entity’s functional currency and net investments 
in foreign operations.

Management has set up a policy to require Group companies to manage their foreign exchange risk against their functional
currency. The Group companies manage their exposure on both recognised and expected foreign exchange exposures on 
an individual basis. The Group companies are required to hedge their foreign exchange risk exposure using forward contracts
transacted through Group treasury. Group treasury reviews these exposure reports on a regular basis. 

The Group treasury’s risk management policy is to hedge between 50% and 100% of anticipated cash flows (mainly export
sales and purchase of labour and inventory) in each major foreign currency for the subsequent 12 months.

The Group has certain investments in foreign operations, whose net assets are exposed to foreign currency translation risk.
Currency exposure arising from the net assets of the Group’s foreign operations is managed primarily through borrowings
denominated in the relevant foreign currencies.

At 31 December 2007, if Sterling had weakened/strengthened by 10% against the US dollar with all other variables 
held constant, post tax profit for the year would have been £1.4 million higher (2006: £1.0 million) or £1.1 million lower
(2006: £0.9 million), mainly as a result of the translation of US Dollar denominated subsidiary undertakings. Profit is more
sensitive to movements in Sterling/US Dollar in 2007 due to the higher profits generated in countries whose functional
currency is US Dollar or US Dollar pegged. Equity would have been £3.4 million higher (2006: £2.1 million) or £2.8 million
lower (2006: £1.7 million). Equity is more sensitive to movement in Sterling/US Dollar in 2007 due to the higher levels of
assets held in overseas undertakings whose functional currency is US Dollar or US Dollar pegged.

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk
The Group’s interest rate risk arises from long term borrowings. Borrowings issued at variable rates expose the Group to
cash flow interest rate risk. Borrowings issued at fixed rates expose the Group to fair value interest rate risk. Group policy 
is to hedge between 66% and 100% of Group borrowings in order to cap the maximum interest rate payable.

During the first half of 2007, the Group had net funds. In September 2007, as a result of the acquisition programme in
Australia, the Group entered into a net debt position. As at 31 December 2007, the Group’s debt was denominated in
Sterling and Australian Dollar and was all at a floating rate. Since 31 December 2007 hedging strategies have been put 
in place to swap a proportion of Group debt to fixed rates in line with Group policy.

The Group reviews its interest rate exposure, taking into consideration refinancing, renewal of existing positions and
alternative financing and hedging. 

Based on various scenarios, the Group manages its cash flow interest rate risk by using floating to fixed interest rate swaps.
Such interest rate swaps have the economic effect of converting borrowings from floating to fixed rates. Generally, the Group
raises long term borrowings at floating rates and swaps them into fixed rates that are lower than those available if the Group
borrowed at fixed rates directly. Under interest rate swaps, the Group agrees with other parties to exchange, at specified
intervals (primarily quarterly), the difference between fixed contract rates and floating rate interest amounts calculated by
reference to the agreed notional amounts.

(b) Credit risk
Credit risk is the risk of financial loss to the Group if a customer or counterparty to a financial instrument fails to meet its
contractual obligations, and arise principally from the Group’s receivables from customers and deposits with financial institutions.

The Group’s exposure to credit risk is influenced mainly by the individual characteristics of each customer. The Group has 
an established credit policy under which each new customer is analysed for creditworthiness before the Group’s standard
payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. The Group’s review includes external ratings, and in some cases
bank references. 

Notes to the financial statements continued
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21. Financial instruments (continued)
(c) Liquidity risk
Liquidity risk is the risk that the Group will not be able to meet its financial obligations as they fall due. The Group’s
approach to managing liquidity is to ensure that it will always have sufficient liquidity to meet its liabilities when due, 
under both normal and stressed conditions, without incurring unacceptable losses or damage to the Group’s reputation.

(d) Capital management
The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern in order
to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain an optimal capital structure to reduce
the cost of capital.

In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure the Group may adjust the amount of dividends payable to shareholders,
return capital to shareholders, issue new shares or sell assets to reduce debt.

During the year the Group has raised equity through the issue of new shares and debt through increased bank loans in
order to fund the acquisition programme. The Company carried out a capital reduction by way of a cancellation of the share
premium account.

(e) Accounting for derivative financial instruments and hedging activities
On inception derivatives are accounted and measured at fair value and subsequently re-measured at fair value. The gain 
or loss on re-measurement is taken to the income statement except where the derivative is a designated cash-flow hedging
instrument when it is recognised in equity. The accounting treatment of derivatives classified as hedges depends on their
designations, which occurs on the date that the derivative contract is committed to. The Group designates derivatives as:

– A hedge of the income/cost of a highly probable forecasted transaction or commitment (‘cash flow hedge’);
– A hedge of the net investment in a foreign entity (‘net investment hedge’);
– A hedge of the fair value of an asset or liability (‘fair value hedge’).

In order to qualify for hedge accounting, the Group documents in advance the relationship between the item being hedged
and the hedging instrument and demonstrates the relationship between the hedged item and the hedging instrument, 
to show that the hedge will be effective on an on-going basis. Testing the effectiveness of the hedging instrument is
performed quarterly. 

Gains or losses on cash flow hedges that are regarded as highly effective are recognised in equity. Where the forecast
transaction results in a financial asset or liability, the gains or losses previously recognised in equity are reclassified to the
income statement in the same period as the asset or liability affects income or expenditure. Where the forecasted
transaction or commitment results in a non-financial asset or a liability, then any gains or losses previously deferred in equity
are included in the cost of the related asset or liability. If the forecasted transaction or commitment results in future income
or expenditure, gains or losses deferred in equity are transferred to the income statement in the same period as the
underlying income or expenditure. 

For the portion of hedges deemed ineffective or transactions that do not qualify for hedge accounting under IAS 39, 
any change in assets or liabilities is recognised immediately in the income statement. Where a hedge no longer meets 
the effectiveness criteria, any gains or losses deferred in equity are only transferred to the income statement when the
committed or forecasted transaction is recognised in the income statement. However, where an entity applied cash flow
hedge accounting for a forecasted or committed transaction that is no longer expected to occur, then the cumulative gain
or loss that has been recorded in equity is transferred to the income statement. When a hedging instrument expires or 
is sold, any cumulative gain or loss existing in equity at that time remains in equity and is recognised when the forecast
transaction is ultimately recognised in the income statement.

Where the Group hedges net investments in foreign entities through currency borrowings that are regarded as highly
effective, the gains or losses on the translation of the borrowings are recognised in equity. If the Group uses derivatives as
the hedging instrument, the effective portion of the hedge is recognised in equity with any ineffective portion recognised 
in the income statement. On disposal of the foreign operation gains and losses accumulated in equity are transferred 
to the Income Statement.

The Group has not entered into any fair value hedges.
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21. Financial instruments (continued)
(e) Accounting for derivative financial instruments and hedging activities (continued)
The fair values of short-term deposits, loans and other borrowings with a maturity of less than one year are assumed to
approximate to their book values. In the case of the bank loans and other borrowings due in more than one year, the fair
value of financial liabilities for disclosure purposes is estimated by discounting the future contractual cash flows at the
current market interest rate available to the Group for similar financial instruments. 

2007 2006
Assets Liabilities Assets Liabilities

£m £m £m £m
Interest rate swaps – cash flow hedges – (0.1) – –
Forward foreign exchange contracts – cash flow hedges – – 0.3 –
Forward foreign exchange contracts – held-for-trading – – – (0.1)
Total – (0.1) 0.3 (0.1)

Trading derivatives are classified as a current asset or liability. The full fair value of a hedging derivative is classified as a 
non-current asset or liability if the remaining maturity of the hedged item is more than 12 months and, as a current asset 
or liability, if the maturity of the hedge item is less than 12 months.

The ineffective portion recognised in the profit or loss that arises from cash flow hedges amounts to £nil (2006: £0.1 million)
(note 7). There was no ineffectiveness to be recorded from net investment in foreign entity hedges.

The maximum exposure to credit risk at the reporting date is the fair value of the derivative assets in the balance sheet.

(i) Interest rate swaps
The notional principal amounts of the outstanding interest rate swap contracts at 31 December 2007 were £13.0 million
(2006: £24.8 million).

At 31 December 2007 the main floating rates were LIBOR and Australian inter bank rate. Interest rate collars were in place
which capped the notional amounts at 6.5% for £13.0 million of the Sterling debt.

(ii) Forward foreign exchange contracts
The notional principal amounts of the outstanding forward foreign exchange contracts at 31 December 2007 were £nil 
(2006: £10.5 million).

Gains and losses recognised in other reserves in equity (note 29) on forward foreign exchange contracts as of 
31 December 2007 are recognised in the income statement in the period or periods during which the hedged forecast
transaction affects the income statement, which is generally within 12 months from the balance sheet date unless the gain
or loss is included in the initial recognition of a financial asset in which case recognition is over the lifetime of the asset. 

22. Trade and other payables

2007 2006
Note £m £m

Payments received on account 16 4.1 5.5
Trade payables 30.1 16.0
Social security and other taxes 18.3 11.5
Other creditors 19.8 14.8
Accrued expenses 24.4 19.7

96.7 67.5

Other creditors include £0.1 million (2006: £0.2 million) in respect of the Group’s share of the liabilities of its joint venture
undertakings and £6.3 million (2006: £6.0 million) in respect of deferred consideration.

23. Current tax liabilities

2007 2006
£m £m

UK taxation 4.0 0.5
Overseas taxation 2.6 2.8

6.6 3.3

Notes to the financial statements continued
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24. Retirement benefit obligations
The Group operates a defined benefit scheme and a defined contribution scheme for employees within the UK and provides
pensions for employees of overseas companies in accordance with local requirements and practices. The assets of both the
defined benefit and defined contribution schemes are held in trustee administered funds. The latest valuation of the defined
benefit scheme was assessed by independent qualified actuaries as at 6 April 2004, using the projected unit method. 
The valuation showed that the assets of the defined benefit scheme had a market value of £97.5 million and was 104% funded.

Some of the Group’s overseas subsidiary undertakings operate leaving indemnity schemes as required by local laws and
regulations. These schemes are unfunded. The provision for leaving indemnities is based on the number of years service 
and the current salary of the employee. 

The pension expense in the period for the defined contribution pension scheme of £1.7 million (2006: £0.5 million) equalled
the Group contributions to the scheme. 

The defined benefit scheme disclosures of the Group in this note also include figures relating to a small scheme held 
by a subsidiary undertaking.

2007 2006
£m £m

Balance sheet assets/(obligations) for:
Pension benefit assets 0.1 8.1
Pension benefit liabilities (0.4) –

(0.3) 8.1
Leaving indemnities (2.7) (2.2)

(3.0) 5.9
Income statement (credit)/charge for:
Pension benefits (0.9) 0.5
Leaving indemnities 0.7 0.6

(0.2) 1.1

Pension benefits
The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are determined as follows:

2007 2006
£m £m

Present value of funded obligations (109.5) (102.7)
Fair value of plan assets 122.1 117.9

12.6 15.2
Restriction of surplus (12.9) (7.1)
Net (liability)/asset in the balance sheet (0.3) 8.1

On the adoption of IFRIC 14 during the year, the Group must consider the minimum funding requirements of the pension
scheme. This has resulted in the recognised surplus on the main scheme being reduced to nil at 31 December 2007.

The amounts recognised in the income statement are as follows:

2007 2006
£m £m

Current service cost 0.7 0.8
Interest cost 5.1 4.9
Expected return on plan assets (6.7) (5.8)
Settlements – 0.6
Total (0.9) 0.5

Of the total (credit)/charge a credit of £1.3 million (2006: £0.5 million) was included in the ‘net operating expenses’, a charge
of £0.4 million (2006: £0.4 million) was included in ‘cost of sales’ and a charge of £nil (2006: charge £0.6 million) was
included in exceptional items in discontinued operations.

The actual return on plan assets was £8.6 million (2006: £8.0 million).
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24. Retirement benefit obligations (continued)
The movement in the fair value of plan assets over the year is as follows:

2007 2006
£m £m

Beginning of year 117.9 115.5
Expected return on plan assets 6.7 5.8
Actuarial gains 1.9 2.2
Employer contributions 0.8 0.7
Employee contributions 0.2 0.2
Benefits paid (5.4) (4.8)
Settlements – (1.7)
End of year 122.1 117.9

The movement in the defined benefit obligation over the year is as follows:

2007 2006
£m £m

Beginning of year 102.7 108.2
Current service cost 0.7 0.8
Interest cost 5.1 4.9
Contributions by plan participants 0.2 0.2
Actuarial losses/(gains) 6.2 (5.5)
Benefits paid (5.4) (4.8)
Settlements – (1.1)
End of year 109.5 102.7

The principal actuarial assumptions used were as follows:

2007 2006
Discount rate 5.80% 5.10%
Expected return on plan assets 5.43% 4.90%
Future salary increases 4.45% 3.90%
Future pension increases 3.25% 3.00%
Inflation rate 3.45% 3.00%

Mortality rate
Assumptions regarding future mortality experience are set based on advice in accordance with published statistics and
scheme experience.

The average remaining life expectancy in years of a pensioner retiring at age 65 on the balance sheet date is as follows:

2007 2006
Male 23.0 20.7
Female 25.5 23.6

The average remaining life expectancy in years of a pensioner retiring at age 65, 20 years after the balance sheet date 
is as follows:

2007 2006
Male 24.3 21.4
Female 26.6 24.3

Notes to the financial statements continued
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24. Retirement benefit obligations (continued)
Pension benefits
Plan assets are comprised as follows:

2007 Expected 2006 Expected
£m return £m return

Equity 24.0 8.05% 41.2 7.85%
Bonds 78.6 4.55% 66.7 4.60%
Property 4.4 6.80% – –
Cash 15.1 5.50% 10.0 5.25%

122.1 117.9

The expected return on plan assets is determined by considering the expected returns on the assets underlying the current
investment policy. Expected yields on fixed interest investments are based on gross redemption yields at the balance 
sheet date. Expected returns on equity and property investments reflect long term real rates of return experienced in the
respective markets.

Expected contributions to defined benefit schemes for the year ended 31 December 2008 are £0.7 million.

2007 2006 2005 2004 2003
£m £m £m £m £m

Fair value of plan assets 122.1 117.9 115.7 104.5 101.4
Fair value of plan liabilities 109.5 102.7 108.2 99.3 90.6
Surplus 12.6 15.2 7.5 5.2 10.8
Experience adjustments on plan assets 1.9 2.2 8.9 4.1 5.4
Experience adjustments on plan liabilities (4.8) 0.3 (0.1) 0.5 –

25. Deferred income tax
Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset where there is a legally enforceable right to offset current tax assets
against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes relate to the same fiscal authority. The offset amounts 
are as follows:

2007 2006
£m £m

Deferred tax assets:
– Deferred tax asset to be recovered within 12 months 0.5 1.9
– Deferred tax asset to be recovered after more than 12 months 6.2 2.9

6.7 4.8
Deferred tax liabilities:
– Deferred tax liability to be recovered within 12 months (1.6) (0.1)
– Deferred tax liability to be recovered after more than 12 months (8.8) (2.6)

(10.4) (2.7)
Net deferred tax (liabilities)/assets (3.7) 2.1

The gross movement on the deferred income tax account is as follows:

2007 2006
Notes £m £m

Beginning of the year 2.1 1.9
Exchange adjustments 0.2 –
Acquisition of subsidiaries 31 (9.7) (0.5)
Income statement credit 11 1.4 0.2
Tax credited directly to equity 29 2.3 0.5
End of year (3.7) 2.1
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25. Deferred income tax (continued)
The movement in deferred tax assets and liabilities during the year, without taking into consideration the offsetting of 
balances within the same tax jurisdiction, is as follows:

Income 
recognition/ Accelerated

deferred tax Retirement
expenditure depreciation benefits Intangibles Total

Deferred tax liabilities Note £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2006 – – 2.1 – 2.1
Charged to the income statement – – 0.2 – 0.2
Charged directly to equity – – 0.1 – 0.1
Acquisition of subsidiary – – – 0.3 0.3
At 31 December 2006 – – 2.4 0.3 2.7
(Charged)/credited to the income statement 0.5 (2.2) 0.1 (0.4) (2.0)
Credited directly to equity 29 – – (2.5) – (2.5)
Acquisition of subsidiary – 10.0 – 2.2 12.2
At 31 December 2007 0.5 7.8 – 2.1 10.4

Provisions Accelerated Share 
and tax based 

accruals depreciation payments Total
Deferred tax assets Note £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2006 0.5 3.5 – 4.0
(Charged)/credited to the income statement 0.7 (0.3) – 0.4
Credited directly to equity – – 0.6 0.6
Acquisition of subsidiary – (0.2) – (0.2)
At 31 December 2006 1.2 3.0 0.6 4.8
(Charged)/credited to the income statement 1.2 (1.8) – (0.6)
Charged directly to equity 29 – – (0.2) (0.2)
Acquisition of subsidiary 2.5 – – 2.5
Exchange differences 0.2 – – 0.2
At 31 December 2007 5.1 1.2 0.4 6.7

The deferred income tax (charged)/credited to equity during the year is as follows:

2007 2006
£m £m

Share based payments (0.2) 0.6
Retirement benefits 2.5 –

2.3 0.6

Deferred taxation has not been provided in the event of the distribution of the unappropriated profits or reserves of certain
overseas subsidiary undertakings as the Group does not currently intend to make such distributions.

At the balance sheet date, the Group has unused tax losses of £6.4 million (2006: £6.0 million) available for offset against 
future profits, subject to agreement with the tax authorities. The losses carried forward are in certain entities and can only 
be utilised against future profits of those entities. No deferred tax asset has been recognised in respect of these losses as
there is uncertainty in respect of its future recoverability.

Advance corporation tax written off to date amounts to £1.7 million (2006: £1.7 million) and is available for offset against 
future United Kingdom corporation tax liabilities subject to certain conditions being met. The future benefit of advance
corporation tax has not been accounted for in the provision of deferred taxation as its recoverability is uncertain.

Notes to the financial statements continued



67 Cape plc Annual Report and Accounts 2007

26. Provisions for other liabilities and charges

Compensation
for industrial Other

disease provisions
Total (i) (ii)

£m £m £m
At 1 January 2007 14.9 10.9 4.0
Charged/(credited) to the income statement:
– Additional provisions 3.5 2.3 1.2
– Unused amounts reversed (1.1) (1.1) –
Utilised during year (5.3) (5.0) (0.3)
At 31 December 2007 12.0 7.1 4.9

2007 2006
Analysis of total provisions: £m £m
Non-current 11.8 14.9
Current 0.2 –

12.0 14.9

(i) The provision for industrial disease represents the expected costs of settling notified claims. It is anticipated that most
of these claims will be paid within the next two years. The charge to profit for the compensation for industrial disease 
in the year net of insurance recoveries is £1.2 million (2006: £3.0 million). The provision charge is recognised within net
operating expenses. Insurance recoveries of £1.1 million (2006: £2.4 million) are receivable against certain of these
claims and are included in other debtors within “trade and other receivables” in the Consolidated Balance Sheet.
The basis for the provision and the contingent liability in respect of future settlements is described in note 32 (i).

(ii) Other provisions relate to the decision made in 2002 to sell and close the Calsil business and provisions for property
dilapidations and national insurance on share options.

27. Commitments
(a) Capital commitments
Capital expenditure contracted for at the balance sheet date but not yet incurred:

2007 2006
£m £m

Property, plant and equipment 1.7 1.2

These commitments are expected to be settled in the following financial year.

(b) Operating lease commitments
The Group leases various properties, plant and machinery under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The leases
have varying terms, escalation clauses and renewal rights. The lease expenditure charged to the income statement during the
year was £1.3 million (2006: £0.8 million) property leases, and £11.6 million (2006: £5.2 million) plant and equipment leases.

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are due:

Plant and Plant and
Property equipment Property equipment

2007 2007 2006 2006
£m £m £m £m

Within one year 1.4 0.5 0.7 0.2
Later than one year and less than five years 3.3 0.5 1.7 0.2
After five years 1.4 – 0.9 –

6.1 1.0 3.3 0.4
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28. Share capital 

2007 2006
(a) Authorised £m £m
153,600,000 ordinary shares of 25p each (2006: 105,683,762 ordinary shares of 25p) 38.4 26.4
431,906,031 deferred shares of 1p each (2006: 431,906,031) 4.3 4.3
1 plc scheme share (2006: 1) – –

42.7 30.7

2007 2007 2006 2006
(b) Issued and fully paid Shares £m Shares £m
Ordinary shares of 25p each
At 1 January 83,523,010 20.9 83,523,010 20.9
Issue for cash 26,923,077 6.7 – –
Issue of shares on acquisition of subsidiary undertaking 2,761,287 0.7 – –
Exercise of share options 630,244 0.2 – –
At 31 December 113,837,618 28.5 83,523,010 20.9

Deferred shares of 1p each
At 1 January and 31 December 431,906,031 4.3 431,906,031 4.3

plc Scheme share
At 1 January and 31 December 1 – 1 –

32.8 25.2

On 23 April 2007 the Company issued 26,923,077 ordinary shares of 25p each through a placing at a price of £2.60 per share.

On 31 August 2007 the Group issued 2,761,287 ordinary shares to the shareholders of TCC Holdings Pty Ltd as part of the
purchase consideration for 100% of its ordinary share capital. The fair value of the shares issued amounted to £8.1 million
(293.6325p per share).

(c) Deferred shares
The holders have no dividend rights, redemption entitlement or voting rights. On a winding up the holders are entitled 
to repayment of capital only after ordinary shareholders have received £100 for each ordinary share.

(d) plc Scheme Share
The plc Scheme Share is held by the Law Debenture Trust Corporation plc on behalf of the Scheme creditors.

The rights attaching to the share are designed to ensure that Scheme assets are only used to settle Scheme claims and ancillary
costs and do not confer any right to receive a distribution or return of surplus capital save that the holder will have the right 
to require the Company to redeem the share at par value on or at any time after the termination of the Scheme.

The share carries two votes for every vote which the holders of the other classes of shares in issue are entitled to exercise
on any resolution proposed during the life of the Scheme to engage in certain activities specified in the Company’s articles
of association.

The Company will not be permitted to engage in certain activities specified in the Company’s articles of association without
the prior consent of the holder of the share.

Notes to the financial statements continued
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28. Share capital (continued)
Share based payments
The Group has a savings related share option scheme (‘Sharesave plan’) which entitles employees of the Group to buy
shares in the Company. Grants of share options under this scheme are offered to employees periodically and the options
are usually awarded at a 20% discount to the market price at the date the options are offered to employees. These options
must be exercised within six months of the vesting date.

The Employee Incentive plan allows the Group to grant options to Directors and senior employees. The Employee Incentive
plan carries a non-market based performance criteria. The contractual life of the options is 10 years. The options become
exercisable on the third anniversary of the date of grant, subject to a growth in earnings per share over that period
exceeding an average 3% compounded annually above the growth in the consumer price index over the same period.
Exercise of an option is subject to continued employment.

Options are valued using the Black-Scholes option pricing model. The fair value per option granted and the assumptions
used in the calculation for the current and preceding year are as follows:

Employee Incentive plan 3 year Sharesave plan 5 year Sharesave plan
2007 2006 2007 2006 2007 2006

Weighted average fair value at 
measurement date 80.9p 59.0p 87.5p 61.9p 110.0p 74.5p

Share price at grant date 269.0p 176.0p 266.0p 167.5p 266.0p 167.5p
Exercise price 269.0p 176.0p 230.0p 135.0p 230.0p 135.0p
Vesting period 3 years 3 years 3 years 3 years 5 years 5 years
Expected option life 3.95 years 4.7 years 3.25 years 3.25 years 5.25 years 5.25 years
Risk free interest rate 4.97% 4.75% 4.89% 4.75% 4.89% 4.75%
Expected share price volatility 28% 29% 27% 29% 28% 29%

The expected share price volatility is based on historic volatility. The expected option life is the average expected period 
to exercise. The risk free rate of return is the yield on 5 year zero coupon UK Government bond. The assumed dividend 
yield is zero.

The number and weighted average exercise price of the share options under the Employee Incentive plan and Sharesave
plan are as follows:

Weighted Weighted 
average Number of average Number of

exercise price options exercise price options
2007 2007 2006 2006

Employee incentive plan pence pence
Outstanding at 1 January 119.5 2,925,000 80 1,920,000
Granted 269 1,905,000 176 1,225,000
Exercised 61 (630,000) – –
Forfeited 209.6 (220,000) 90 (220,000)
Outstanding at 31 December 195.3 3,980,000 119.5 2,925,000

Out of the 3,980,000 outstanding options (2006: 2,925,000 options), 550,000 options (2006: nil) were exercisable. Options
exercised in 2007 resulted in 620,000 shares (2006: nil) being issued at £0.60 each and 10,000 options (2006: nil) being
exercised at £1.20 each. The options were exercised on a regular basis during the year. The average share price in 2007
was £2.72. 
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28. Share capital (continued)
Share based payments (continued)

Weighted Weighted 
average Number of average Number of

exercise price options exercise price options
2007 2007 2006 2006

Sharesave plan pence pence
Outstanding at 1 January 135 1,262,653 68 41,873
Granted 230 725,507 135 1,262,653
Exercised 135 (244) – –
Lapsed 135 (164,804) 68 (41,873)
Outstanding at 31 December 173 1,823,112 135 1,262,653

Out of the 1,823,112 outstanding options (2006: 1,262,653 options), no options (2006: nil) were exercisable. 
Options exercised in 2007 resulted in 244 shares (2006: nil) being issued at £1.35 each. 

Share options outstanding at the end of the year have the following expiry date and exercise prices:

Exercise
price per Number of shares

share 2007 2006
Employee incentive plan pence
7 May 2014 60 550,000 1,170,000
24 October 2015 120 465,000 530,000
7 July 2016 176 1,172,500 1,225,000
1 April 2017 269 1,792,500 –

3,980,000 2,925,000

Exercise
price per Number of shares

share 2007 2006
Sharesave plan pence
21 July 2009 135 318,905 347,436
22 October 2010 230 285,559 –
21 July 2011 135 784,042 915,217
22 October 2012 230 434,606 –

1,823,112 1,262,653

On 1 April 2007, 1,905,000 share options were granted to directors and employees under the employee incentive plan with
an exercise price set at the market share price of the Company as at 20 March 2007 of £2.69 (expiry date: 1 April 2017). 
On 22 October 2007 725,507 share options were granted to directors and employees under the Sharesave plan with an 
exercise price set at the market share price on 25 September 2007 less 20% on that date of £2.30.

On 1 April 2007 the Company issued 246,785 share options to the management of DBI to replace their existing EMI options
in DBI Group Limited. These options have an exercise price of £0.6251 and are exercisable once all the conditions relating
to the earnout are satisfied. These represent a proportion of the deferred consideration for DBI.

The total charge for the year relating to employee share based payment plans was £0.8 million (2006: £0.4 million), all of
which related to equity settled share based payment transactions. 

Further details of the Employee Incentive plan are shown in the Directors’ report on page 26.
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29. Other reserves

Share Share Special Retained Other Minority
capital premium reserve earnings reserve Total interest Total

Group £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m
At 1 January 2006 25.2 25.0 – 11.0 (0.5) 60.7 – 60.7
Exchange adjustments net of tax – – – – (2.4) (2.4) – (2.4)
Cash flow hedges – fair value gains in period – – – – 0.7 0.7 – 0.7
Net profit – – – 14.7 – 14.7 – 14.7
Actuarial gain recognised in the pension scheme – – – 7.7 – 7.7 – 7.7
Movement in restriction of retirement 

benefit asset in accordance with IAS 19 – – – (7.1) – (7.1) – (7.1)
Deferred tax on actuarial gain – – – (0.1) – (0.1) – (0.1)
Share options
– value of employee services – – – 0.4 – 0.4 – 0.4
– deferred tax on share options – – – 0.6 – 0.6 – 0.6
At 31 December 2006 25.2 25.0 – 27.2 (2.2) 75.2 – 75.2

At 1 January 2007 25.2 25.0 – 27.2 (2.2) 75.2 – 75.2
Exchange adjustments net of tax – – – – 6.1 6.1 – 6.1
Issue of share capital 7.4 70.7 – – – 78.1 – 78.1
Issue expenses – (2.1) – – – (2.1) – (2.1)
Capital reduction – (86.3) 1.0 85.3 – – – –
Cash flow hedges – fair value gains in period – – – – 1.6 1.6 – 1.6
Net profit – – – 26.9 – 26.9 – 26.9
Actuarial loss recognised in the pension scheme – – – (4.3) – (4.3) – (4.3)
Minority interests arising in business combinations – – – – – – 1.0 1.0
Movement in restriction of retirement

benefit asset in accordance with IAS 19 – – – (5.8) – (5.8) – (5.8)
Deferred tax on actuarial loss – – – 2.5 – 2.5 – 2.5
Share options
– proceeds from shares issued 0.2 0.2 – – – 0.4 – 0.4
– value of employee services – – – 0.8 – 0.8 – 0.8
– deferred tax on share options – – – (0.2) – (0.2) – (0.2)
– issued as part of deferred consideration – – – 0.5 – 0.5 – 0.5
At 31 December 2007 32.8 7.5 1.0 132.9 5.5 179.7 1.0 180.7

On 12 September 2007, the share premium account of £86.3 million was cancelled by way of a court approval and was
registered pursuant to section 138 of the Companies Act 1985 on 13 September 2007. On cancellation of the share
premium account, the £86.3 million was transferred to the special reserve. On 30 September 2007 the profit and loss deficit
of Cape plc of £85.3 million was transferred to the special reserve. The special reserve is undistributable and restrictions
exist over its use. The special reserve may be used for the same purposes as the share premium account and may be used
to transfer the deficit from the Company profit and loss reserve.
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30. Cash generated from operations
(a) Reconciliation of Group operating profit to net operating cash flow from operating activities

2007 2006
Continuing operations Notes £m £m
Group operating profit 35.8 15.8
Depreciation 14 8.7 6.8
Amortisation 13 1.0 0.1
Share option charge 0.3 0.4
Profit on sale of property, plant and equipment (0.1) –
Changes in working capital (excluding effects of acquisitions and exchange adjustments on consolidation):
Increase in inventories (4.0) (2.3)
Increase in trade and other receivables (29.7) (10.9)
Increase in trade and other payables 8.2 6.6
Decrease in provisions (excluding deferred tax) (3.9) (3.1)
Operating movements relating to Scheme 3.2 0.9
Cash generated from continuing operations 19.5 14.3

Discontinued operations
(Loss)/profit before income tax (0.7) 1.6
Adjustments for:
Depreciation 14 – 0.1
Profit on sale of property (0.5) (1.8)
Loss on disposal of business – (0.3)
Difference between pension charge and cash contributions – 0.6
Increase in inventories – (0.9)
(Increase)/decrease in trade and other receivables (0.1) 6.1
Decrease in trade and other payables (1.4) (4.8)
Increase/(decrease) in provisions (excluding deferred tax) 1.0 (1.2)
Cash flow for discontinued operations (1.7) (0.6)

Cash generated from operations before Scheme funding 17.8 13.7
Transfer to restricted cash – Scheme funding – (40.0)
Total net cash generated from/(absorbed by) operations after Scheme funding 17.8 (26.3)

(b) Analysis of cash flows relating to restricted funds
At 1 January 2007 40.1 40.0
Payment of scheme creditors (3.0) (0.6)
Operating costs (0.2) (0.3)
Interest received 2.2 1.0
At 31 December 2007 18 39.1 40.1

(c) Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment comprise:
Net book amount 1.2 1.7
Profit on disposal of property, plant and equipment 0.6 1.8
Proceeds from disposal of property, plant and equipment 1.8 3.5

(d) Cash flow relating to exceptional items and major non-cash transactions
Specific items within the operating cash flows relate to the operating exceptional items shown in note 5.

The principal non-cash transaction is the issue of shares for the acquisition of TCC discussed in note 28.
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31. Business combinations
The Group has made five acquisitions during the year, two in the UK and three in Australia. Details of each acquisition are
set out below.

Summary of acquisition values

TRAIL Endecon TCC Concept PCH Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m

Total consideration 0.9 3.3 34.9 46.2 108.5 193.8
Fair value of assets acquired 0.1 0.2 10.7 12.1 30.1 53.2
Goodwill (note 13) 0.8 3.1 24.2 34.1 78.4 140.6

Cash flows relating to acquisitions
Purchase consideration 0.7 1.8 26.0 46.2 108.5 183.2
Cash, cash equivalents and 

bank overdrafts acquired 0.2 0.2 (1.2) 0.5 2.3 2.0
Cash flow relating to acquisitions 0.9 2.0 24.8 46.7 110.8 185.2

If the acquisitions had occurred on 1 January 2007, Group revenue would have been £536.1 million, and profit attributable
to Cape plc shareholders would have been £33.7 million. These amounts have been calculated using the Group’s accounting
policies and by adjusting the results of the subsidiaries to reflect the amortisation that would have been charged assuming
that the fair value adjustments to intangible assets had been applied from 1 January 2007, together with the consequential tax
effects. Fair values on the acquisitions remain provisional as the review of acquired operations and assets is ongoing.

Total Rope Access International Limited (‘TRAIL’)
On 5 June 2007, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of TRAIL, a market leader in the UK in the use of abseiling
techniques to provide non-destructive testing, inspection, fabric maintenance, insulation, painting and window cleaning
services to major industrial clients.

TRAIL contributed revenues of £1.1 million and a net loss after amortisation, interest and tax of £0.1 million to the Group 
for the period from 5 June 2007 to 31 December 2007. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2007, TRAIL would
have contributed revenues of £2 million and a net result after amortisation, interest and tax of £nil. These amounts have
been calculated using the Group’s accounting policies and by adjusting the results of the subsidiary to reflect additional
amortisation that would have been charged assuming that the fair value adjustments to intangible assets had been applied
from 1 January 2007, together with any consequential tax effects.

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

£m
Purchase consideration:
– Cash paid 0.7
– Deferred consideration 0.2
Total purchase consideration 0.9
Fair value of net assets acquired (0.1)
Goodwill 0.8

The goodwill is attributable to the workforce of the acquired business and the significant synergies expected to arise after
the Group’s acquisition of TRAIL.
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31. Business combinations (continued)
The assets and liabilities as of 5 June 2007 arising from the acquisition are as follows:

Acquiree’s
carrying

Fair value amount
Notes £m £m

Property, plant and equipment 14 0.1 0.1
Customer relationships (included in intangibles) 13 0.2 –
Trade and other receivables 0.4 0.4
Trade and other payables (0.4) (0.4)
Overdraft (0.2) (0.2)
Net assets acquired 0.1 (0.1)

Purchase consideration settled in cash 0.7
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts in subsidiary acquired 0.2
Cash outflow on acquisition 0.9

Endecon Limited
On 21 June 2007 the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of Endecon. Endecon provides environmentally safe
systems to decontaminate oil refinery and petrochemical systems.

Endecon contributed revenues of £1.0 million and net loss after amortisation, interest and tax of £0.2 million to the Group
for the period from 21 June 2007 to 31 December 2007. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2007, Endecon
would have contributed revenues of £2.2 million and a net profit after amortisation, interest and tax of £0.3 million. These
amounts have been calculated using the Group’s accounting policies and by adjusting the results of the subsidiary to reflect
additional amortisation that would have been charged assuming that the fair value adjustments to intangible assets had been
applied from 1 January 2007, together with any consequential tax effects.

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

£m
Purchase consideration:
– Cash paid 1.8
– Deferred contingent consideration 1.5
Total purchase consideration 3.3
Fair value of net assets acquired 0.2
Goodwill 3.1

The goodwill is attributable to the workforce of the acquired business and the significant synergies expected to arise after 
the Group’s acquisition of Endecon.

The assets and liabilities as of 21 June 2007 arising from the acquisition are as follows:

Acquiree’s
carrying

Fair value amount
Notes £m £m

Property, plant and equipment 14 0.3 0.3
Technological assets (included in intangibles) 13 0.4 –
Trade and other receivables 0.4 0.4
Trade and other payables (0.6) (0.6)
Overdraft (0.2) (0.2)
Deferred tax (0.1) –
Net assets acquired 0.2 (0.1)

Purchase consideration settled in cash 1.8
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts in subsidiary acquired 0.2
Cash outflow on acquisition 2.0
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31. Business combinations (continued)
TCC Group 
On 31 August 2007, the Group acquired 100% of the share capital of TCC Holdings (2005) Pty Limited. TCC, which
operates mainly in Western Australia, offers a wide range of industrial services to blue chip clients in the mining, oil, gas 
and construction industries. TCC specializes in the provision of blasting, industrial painting, protective coatings, thermal 
and acoustic insulation, sheet metal fabrication, rubber lining and access scaffolding.

TCC contributed revenues of £15.0 million, operating profit before amortisation of £0.4 million and a net loss after amortisation,
interest and tax of £0.2 million to the Group for the period from 1 September 2007 to 31 December 2007. If the acquisition
had occurred on 1 January 2007, TCC would have contributed revenues of £48.2 million and a net profit after amortisation,
interest and tax of £1.8 million. These amounts have been calculated using the Group’s accounting policies and by adjusting
the results of the subsidiary to reflect additional amortisation that would have been charged assuming that the fair value
adjustments to intangible assets had been applied from 1 January 2007, together with any consequential tax effects.

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

Note £m
Purchase consideration:
– Cash paid 25.3
– Direct costs relating to the acquisition 0.7
– Fair value of shares issued 28 8.1
– Deferred consideration 0.8
Total purchase consideration 34.9
Fair value of net assets acquired 10.7
Goodwill 24.2

The goodwill is attributable to the workforce of the acquired business and the significant synergies expected to arise after 
the Group’s acquisition of TCC as part of the overall Australian acquisition programme.

The fair value of the shares issued was based on the volume weighted average published share price for the five days prior 
to the completion of the acquisition.

The assets and liabilities as of 31 August 2007 arising from the acquisition are as follows:

Acquiree’s
carrying

Fair value amount
Notes £m £m

Cash and cash equivalents 1.2 1.2
Property, plant and equipment 14 3.9 3.5
Inventories 0.4 0.4
Customer relationships (included in intangibles) 13 1.9 –
Other favourable contracts (included in intangibles) 13 2.0 –
Trade and other receivables 12.1 12.1
Trade and other payables (7.3) (7.3)
Borrowings (2.3) (2.3)
Current tax (0.5) (0.5)
Deferred tax (0.7) 0.5
Net assets acquired 10.7 7.6

Purchase consideration settled in cash 26.0
Cash and cash equivalents in subsidiary acquired (1.2)
Cash outflow on acquisition 24.8
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Concept Hire
On 16 October 2007, Cape announced that its offer for Concept Hire had become unconditional and as a consequence
Cape acquired control of the company from this date. The shares in Concept were acquired for cash in the period 
19 September 2007 to 6 December 2007 and as at 6 December 2007 the Group owned 100% of the share capital.
Concept Hire is a leading supplier of scaffold equipment and associated services to the residential and commercial
construction, civil engineering, mining and petrochemical industries. 

Concept Hire contributed revenues of £6.7 million, operating profit before amortisation of £0.5 million and a net profit after
amortisation, interest and tax of £3.0 million to the Group for the period from 17 October 2007 to 31 December 2007. If the
acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2007, Concept would have contributed revenues of £32.3 million and a net profit after
amortisation, interest and tax of £3.5 million. These amounts have been calculated using the Group’s accounting policies and
by adjusting the results of the subsidiary to reflect additional amortisation that would have been charged assuming that the
fair value adjustments to intangible assets had been applied from 1 January 2007, together with any consequential tax effects.

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

£m
Purchase consideration:
– Cash paid 44.9
– Direct costs relating to the acquisition 1.3
Total purchase consideration 46.2
Fair value of net assets acquired 12.1
Goodwill 34.1

The goodwill is attributable to the workforce of the acquired business and the significant synergies expected to arise after
the Group’s acquisition of Concept as part of the overall Australian acquisition programme.

The assets and liabilities as of 16 October 2007 arising from the acquisition are as follows:

Acquiree’s
carrying

Fair value amount
Notes £m £m

Property, plant and equipment 14 20.2 20.2
Customer relationships (included in intangibles) 13 0.5 –
Technological assets (included in intangibles) 13 0.3 –
Inventories 1.3 1.3
Trade and other receivables 8.5 8.5
Current tax 0.7 0.7
Trade and other payables (5.7) (5.7)
Deferred tax (2.9) (2.7)
Overdrafts (0.5) (0.5)
Borrowings (10.3) (10.3)
Net assets acquired 12.1 11.5

Purchase consideration settled in cash 46.2
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts in subsidiary acquired 0.5
Cash outflow on acquisition 46.7
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PCH Group Limited
On 26 November 2007, Cape announced that its offer for PCH had become unconditional and as a consequence Cape
acquired control of the company from this date. The shares in PCH were acquired for cash in the period from 7 December
2007 and as at 31 December 2007 the Group owned 96.94% of the share capital. The Group acquired the remaining
3.06% of shares on 17 January 2008. PCH is headquartered in Perth and provides services including scaffolding and
access management, formwork and shoring, temporary fencing, aluminium light access and materials hoists. The business
is diversified across a range of industries with construction and maintenance activities in Australia, the Caspian, South East
Asia and the Middle East.  

PCH contributed revenues of £4.0 million, operating profit before amortisation and restructuring costs of £0.4 million and 
a net loss after amortisation, interest and tax of £0.2 million to the Group for the period from 27 November 2007 to 
31 December 2007. If the acquisition had occurred on 1 January 2007, PCH would have contributed revenues of 
£50.4 million and a net profit after amortisation, interest and tax of £3.5 million. These amounts have been calculated using
the Group’s accounting policies and by adjusting the results of the subsidiary to reflect additional amortisation that would
have been charged assuming that the fair value adjustments to intangible assets had been applied from 1 January 2007,
together with any consequential tax effects.

Details of net assets acquired and goodwill are as follows:

£m
Purchase consideration:
– Cash paid 106.0
– Direct costs relating to the acquisition 2.5
Total purchase consideration 108.5
Fair value of net assets acquired 30.1
Goodwill 78.4

The goodwill is attributable to the workforce of the acquired business and the significant synergies expected to arise after 
the Group’s acquisition of PCH as part of the overall Australian acquisition programme.

The assets and liabilities as of 26 November 2007 arising from the acquisition are as follows:

Acquiree’s
carrying

Fair value amount
Notes £m £m

Cash and cash equivalents 0.6 0.6
Property, plant and equipment 14 47.1 47.1
Customer relationships (included in intangibles) 13 2.2 –
Inventories 1.7 1.7
Trade and other receivables 12.7 12.7
Current tax 0.5 0.5
Trade and other payables (7.2) (7.2)
Bank overdrafts (2.9) (3.0)
Borrowings (17.6) (17.5)
Deferred tax (6.0) (5.3)
Net assets 31.1 29.6
Minority interests (3.06%) (1.0)
Net assets acquired 30.1

Purchase consideration settled in cash 108.5
Cash, cash equivalents and bank overdrafts in subsidiary acquired 2.3
Cash outflow on acquisition 110.8
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32. Contingencies
i. There is a history of industrial disease claims being lodged against the Group for a number of years. Where the Group

has determined that it is appropriate to do so, settlement has been made. Based on this experience, it is likely that
similar claims will continue to be received for the foreseeable future. However, there is significant uncertainty over the
number, nature, timing and validity of such future claims. This is as a result of, inter alia, uncertainties concerning the
population that may have been exposed to asbestos and that may develop asbestos-related diseases, the nature and
timing of the diseases that may develop, the impact of other factors which might have contributed to the claimant’s
condition, changes in the legal environment and to the typical cost of settlement. These factors affect considerations of
liability and the quantum of settlements. Experience to date is that some of these claims will be at least partially covered
by insurance policies but the amount of cover will not be known until the details of the claims are available.

In order to provide for the long term financing of a great majority of all future asbestos-related claims likely to be made
successfully against the Group, Cape has put in place the Scheme details of which are set out in note 33. The Scheme
became effective in relation to Cape plc and 12 of its wholly owned subsidiaries on 14 June 2006. The Scheme
companies are listed in note 33.

In accordance with the terms of the Scheme, the Directors have commissioned independent actuaries to review and
provide an estimate of certain of the Group’s unpaid and uninsured UK asbestos-related claims as at 31 December
2007. Estimates of unpaid asbestos-related claims are inherently uncertain. Although the review did not take account 
of all potential claims against the Group, it covers, in the opinion of the Directors, the overwhelming majority of all UK
asbestos-related claims likely to be made against the Group. The actuaries’ central estimate of the aggregate projected
discounted value, net of insurance recoveries, of the unpaid UK asbestos-related claims they reviewed is £74.0 million
(2006: £119.4 million). This estimate is contained within a range of low and high estimates of £48.0 million (2006: 
£70.2 million) and £203.0 million (2006: £240.3 million) respectively, although there can be no certainty that the total cost
of such claims will fall within the range of such estimates. As at the date of the last actuarial review (31 December 2004),
the actuaries’ central estimate of the aggregate projected discounted value, net of insurance recoveries, of the unpaid
UK asbestos-related claims they reviewed was £119.4 million, contained within a range of low and high estimates of
£70.2 million and £240.3 million respectively. The change in central estimate and the ranges is due to recent experience,
changes in legislation and up to date views of the legal position. The discount rate applied is 5%. Claims not covered by
the review include, inter alia, overseas claims and certain potential claims for reimbursement from insurers and others. 

Given the wide range of the estimates and the significant degree of uncertainty surrounding them, the Directors take 
the view that the amount of the Group’s overall obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. Accordingly, the
Group provides in the income statement each period for the estimated liability in respect of industrial disease claims
lodged and outstanding at the period end. The accounting treatment of claims lodged and outstanding has not been
changed as a result of the implementation of the Scheme. Upon consolidation, the potential liability shown in the Group
Balance Sheet remains unchanged as a result of the implementation of the Scheme. However, the effect of the Scheme
is to protect the Group to a significant extent from the risks of insolvency of the Scheme companies if there is a
significant increase in either the number of claims or the quantum of damages or costs the Group has to settle or a
material deterioration in the Group’s trading performance which would otherwise have caused the Group to be unable to
settle Scheme claims payable by it in full. Nevertheless, if it were possible to assess reliably the present value of amounts
that might be paid in future settlements such that this was to be provided in the Balance Sheet, there would be a
materially adverse effect on the Group’s financial position. There is great uncertainty over the net present value of the
future claim settlements. These could occur over a period of more than 40 years. However, in aggregate they are unlikely
to exceed the amount of the net assets included in the current Group Balance Sheet. Based on the recent history of
settlements, the Directors anticipate that, assuming there is no material deterioration in the Group’s trading performance
nor a significant increase in either the number of asbestos-related claims or the quantum of damages or costs the Group
has to settle, nor any significant shortfall in the recoveries that the Directors expect the Group to make from its insurers
and under third party indemnities and the Scheme fund achieves investment returns in line with current expectations, the
Group will be able to ensure that (i) its newly formed subsidiary Cape Claims Services Limited (‘CCS’) will be sufficiently
funded to satisfy all Scheme claims and (ii) the Group will be sufficiently funded to satisfy any UK asbestos-related claims
falling outside the Scheme. Should the future pattern as regards timing and quantum of claims prove to be materially
and adversely different from the historic trend, there could be a material adverse effect on the Group’s financial position. 

ii. The Company was the defendant in proceedings brought by some 7,500 South African residents who claimed that they
suffered injury as the result of mining activities in South Africa undertaken by former subsidiaries of Cape plc. The
Company entered into an agreement on 13 March 2003 with the claimants in the group action and new claimants who
had come forward in 2002.

It is possible that claims could arise in the future from claimants who were not included in the group action, or who claim
they have developed an asbestos-related disease since the date of the settlement and as a result of the Group’s former
mining activities in South Africa. There is a significant uncertainty as to whether such future claims will be made and as
to the number, nature, timing and validity of such claims. However, no such claims have been received to date.



79 Cape plc Annual Report and Accounts 2007

32. Contingencies (continued)
iii. Certain companies in the Group continue to be named, along with several asbestos fibre and asbestos product suppliers,

as defendants in a number of legal actions in North America. The plaintiffs in such actions are claiming substantial
damages as a result of the use of these products. The Company has received legal advice in the UK that default
judgments obtained in North America against Companies within the Group which are not present in North America,
would not be enforceable in the UK. Consequently the Directors believe that the above-mentioned matters are unlikely 
to have a material effect on the Group’s financial position.

iv. The Company’s subsidiary, Cape Industrial Services Limited, together with other companies involved in offshore
contracting work, is a defendant in proceedings before the Employment Tribunal under the Working Time Regulations
1998 brought by a small number of employees claiming that their paid annual leave should be taken from scheduled
working time. If successful, the claimants (and other affected employees who are not party to the proceedings) could be
entitled to compensation. Under the terms of certain of its contracts, Cape Industrial Services Limited would be entitled
to additional payment from its clients. There is significant uncertainty as to whether the claimants will succeed and, 
if they do, as to the number of affected employees, the amount of any compensation that would be awarded and the
extent to which it could be recovered under relevant contracts.

v. There are a number of leasehold properties in respect of which the Group is liable for dilapidations, and rent in the event
of default by its sub-tenants. Given the nature of these arrangements it is difficult to assess the potential liability with
certainty and as a consequence contingent liabilities may exist. The Directors believe that any such contingent amounts
would not have a material effect on the Group’s financial position.

vi. The Group has contingent liabilities in respect of guarantees and bonds entered into in the normal course of business, 
in respect of which no loss is expected.

33. The Scheme of arrangement
On 14 June 2006, the Scheme became effective and binding upon Cape plc and the following 12 of its wholly owned
subsidiaries:

Cape Building Products Limited
Cape Calsil Systems Limited
Cape Contracts International Limited
Cape Durasteel Limited
Cape East Limited
Cape Industrial Services Limited
Cape Industries Limited
Cape Insulation Limited
Cape Specialist Coatings Limited
Predart Limited
Somewatch Limited
Somewin Limited

The detailed terms of the Scheme are set out in the Scheme itself, a copy of which has been filed with the Registrar of
Companies, the Articles of Association of Cape and CCS and a number of other ancillary agreements. The effect of the
Scheme as a whole can be summarised as follows:

(a) While Scheme creditors retain their rights against Scheme companies, and may bring proceedings against Scheme
companies for declaratory relief to determine whether they have a claim and, if so, of what amount, their rights, 
subject as provided in sub paragraphs (k) and (m) below are only enforceable against CCS under the terms of the
Scheme guarantee;

(b) CCS was funded in the first instance with a sum of £40 million which represented what was considered to be a 
sufficient sum to discharge CCS’s liabilities to Scheme creditors which became payable over at least eight years 
from 1 January 2006;

(c) Every three years there is an assessment of the projected Scheme claims against Scheme companies payable 
by CCS over the following nine years, by reference to which the Funding Requirement, is established;

(d) The use of Scheme funds is restricted to the payment of established Scheme claims and Scheme creditor costs;
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33. The Scheme of arrangement (continued)
(e) In the event that an assessment reveals a shortfall between the Scheme assets and the Funding Requirement, the

Company will top up CCS’s funding over the following three years provided that sufficient cash is available, Cape’s
obligation being limited to 70% of the Group’s consolidated adjusted operational cash flow (including, for example,
adjustments to take account of acquisitions, an element of capital expenditure and repayment of borrowing facilities); 

(f) Should the Company not be able to meet its top up obligation in any one year, it will be required to make good the
shortfall in the next year, again subject to sufficient cash being available;

(g) Alongside the Funding Requirement there is the Scheme Funding Requirement which is assessed every year by
reference to projected Scheme claims against Scheme companies payable by CCS over the next six years;

(h) If at any time the ratio of the Scheme assets to the Scheme Funding Requirement (the Scheme Funding Percentage)
falls below 60%, CCS will have the ability to reduce the percentage (the Payment Percentage) of each established claim
which it pays to Scheme creditors until such time as the Scheme Funding Percentage is restored to 60%;

(i) Cape is permitted to pay dividends provided that at the time of payment (i) the Scheme Funding Percentage in relation
to the last preceding financial year was certified to be not less than 110%, (ii) the Directors of Cape certify that they
anticipate that the Scheme Funding Percentage for the current and following financial year will be not less than 110%
and (iii) the Payment Percentage has not at any time within the previous 40 business days been below 100%. Any
distribution which Cape proposes to make to its shareholders may not, without the consent of the Scheme Shareholder,
exceed the greater of (i) 50% of the consolidated operating profits of the Group for the last preceding Financial Year and
(ii) the aggregate of any permitted dividends made in the preceding financial year. This restriction therefore places a cap
on the amount of dividends that the Company may pay in any one year;

(j) There have been established special voting shares (the Scheme Shares) in CCS and Cape which are held by an
independent third party (the Scheme Shareholder) on trust for Scheme creditors. The Scheme Shares have special rights
which are designed to enable the Scheme Shareholder to protect the interests of Scheme creditors;

(k) In the case of certain Scheme creditors (Recourse Scheme Creditors), who are those Scheme creditors whose claims
are in whole or in part the subject of a contract of insurance (Recourse Scheme Claims) their rights to enforce their
Recourse Scheme Claims against a relevant Scheme company will revive in certain circumstances. These circumstances
are where the relevant Scheme company is insolvent or where there has been a specified reduction in the Payment
Percentage and if the Scheme creditor was able to bring about the insolvency of the relevant Scheme company he
would be able to recover greater compensation from the FSCS (“Financial Services Compensation Scheme”) or, in
certain circumstances, from a solvent insurer than is available from CCS at that time under the Scheme. There will be a
specified reduction if either (i) the Payment Percentage has been reduced below 100% but above 50% and the Scheme
creditor has not been paid in full after 12 months or (ii) the Payment Percentage is reduced to 50% or below;

(l) Each Scheme company will agree to hold on trust for any Scheme creditor concerned the proceeds of any policy 
of insurance (or any compensation received from the FSCS) referable to that Scheme claim;

(m) The restriction described in sub-paragraph (a) above will not apply to proceedings to enforce the right to confer under
sub-paragraph (l) above; and

(n) There are provisions contained in two reimbursement agreements which preserve certain rights of proof by CCS and
Cape respectively in any insolvency of Cape or any of the other Scheme companies.
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34. Related party transactions
The Company has taken advantage of the exemption available under IAS 24 not to disclose any transactions or balances
between Group entities that have been eliminated on consolidation. 

2007 2006
(a) Key management compensation £’000 £’000
Salaries and other short-term employee benefits 1,405 1,487
Post-employment benefits 78 47
Share-based payments 259 223

1,742 1,757

(b) Directors
Aggregate emoluments 1,246 1,319
Company contributions to defined benefit pension scheme 27 26
Company contributions to defined contribution pension scheme 51 21

Highest Paid Director
Aggregate emoluments 735 668
Defined contribution pension scheme:
Contributions in year 51 21

The directors are considered to be the key management of the Group.

Retirement benefits are accruing to one (2006: one) Director under the Group’s defined benefit pension scheme.

During the year £nil (2006: £160,000) was paid to M&J Associates (1953) Limited for management services provided 
by Martin May, a Director, in connection with his duties as a Director of Cape plc.

(c) Sales of goods and services
During the year Cape Perlite Systems, a 51% joint venture undertaking purchased goods totalling £nil (2006: £nil) from the
Group. There was a £0.2 million balance (2006: £0.2 million) owed by Cape Perlite Systems at the year end.

There have been no other material transactions with related parties during the year.

35. First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards
This is the first year that the Group has presented its financial statements under IFRS. The following disclosures are 
required in the year of transition. The last financial statements under UK GAAP were for the year ended 31 December 2006.
The date of transition to IFRS was therefore 1 January 2006.

These financial statements have been prepared in accordance with the revised accounting policies set out in note 2 above.
These policies have been revised from those published in the Group’s 2006 Report and Accounts following the Group’s
transition to reporting under IFRS. The following notes and reconciliations provide an explanation of the impact of the
transition to IFRS. There are no material differences between the IFRS cash flow statement and the cash flow statement
prepared under UK GAAP.

The rules for first-time adoption of IFRS are set out in IFRS 1 “First Time Adoption of International Financial Reporting
Standards”. The Group is required to establish its IFRS accounting policies which it will use to prepare its results for the 
year to 31 December 2007 and, in general, apply these retrospectively to determine its opening balance sheet under IFRS
at 1 January 2006, the date of transition. Details of the transitional arrangements adopted on the implementation of IFRS is
given in the basis of preparation on page 40.
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35. First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (continued)
Reconciliations from UK GAAP to IFRS
The following reconciliations are presented below in order to explain the effect of the transition to IFRS and to show how 
the comparative results have been restated:

– Reconciliation of the profit for the year ended 31 December 2006
– Reconciliation of equity at 1 January 2006
– Reconciliation of equity at 31 December 2006

The IFRS adjustments included within these reconciliations are explained below.

Reconciliation of profit for the year ended 31 December 2006

Adjustments
IFRS 3 IAS 19 IAS 39 IAS 38 IAS 12

Per Business Retirement Financial Intangible Income
UK combinations benefits instruments assets taxes IFRS

GAAP (note b) (note c) (note d) (note e) (note f ) Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Continuing operations
Revenue 274.0 274.0
Operating profit 14.3 0.2 0.9 0.5 (0.1) 15.8
Finance costs (1.7) 0.1 (1.6)
Finance income 2.2 (0.9) 1.3
Share of post tax profits from 

joint ventures 0.1 0.1
Profit before tax 14.9 0.2 0.6 (0.1) 15.6
Taxation (2.6) 0.6 (2.0)
Profit from continuing operations 12.3 0.2 0.6 (0.1) 0.6 13.6
Discontinued operations
(Loss)/profit from discontinued 

operations (1.0) 1.9 0.2 1.1
Profit for the year 11.3 2.1 0.8 (0.1) 0.6 14.7

Reconciliation of consolidated statement of equity as at 1 January 2006

Adjustments
IAS 32

Preference IAS 19 IAS 39 IAS 12 IFRS 1
Per shares Retirement Financial Income First-time
UK classification benefits instruments taxes adoption IFRS

GAAP (note a) (note c) (note d) (note f ) (note g) Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Shareholders’ equity
Ordinary shares 25.5 (0.3) 25.2
Share premium 25.0 25.0
Other reserves 2.2 (0.5) (2.2) (0.5)
Retained earnings 11.5 (0.2) (0.6) (1.9) 2.2 11.0
Total shareholders’ equity 64.2 (0.3) (0.2) (1.1) (1.9) – 60.7
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35. First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (continued)
Reconciliation of consolidated statement of equity as at 31 December 2006 

Adjustments
IAS 32

Preference IFRS 3 IAS 19 IAS 39 IAS 38 IAS 12 IFRS 1
Per shares Business Retirement Financial Intangible Income First-time
UK classification combinations benefits instruments assets taxes adoption IFRS

GAAP (note a) (note b) (note c) (note d) (note e) (note f ) (note g) Total
£m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m £m

Shareholders’ equity
Ordinary shares 25.5 (0.3) 25.2
Share premium 25.0 25.0
Other reserves 2.0 0.2 (4.4) (2.2)
Retained earnings 28.5 0.2 (5.2) (0.1) (0.6) 4.4 27.2
Total shareholders’

equity 81.0 (0.3) 0.2 (5.2) 0.2 (0.1) (0.6) – 75.2

IFRS adjustments
(a) IAS 32 Financial Instruments: Presentation
The preference share capital has been restated as a financial liability rather than equity. At 1 January 2006, the preference
share capital of £0.3 million has been reclassified as a long-term financial liability. This reclassification should have been
made under UK GAAP, but was considered not significant.

(b) IFRS 3 Business Combinations
Under UK GAAP, goodwill was amortised on a straight line over its estimated useful economic life. Under IFRS goodwill is
not amortised but must be tested annually for impairment. The goodwill amortisation charge in the year to 31 December
2006 of £0.2 million under UK GAAP has been reversed. 

Under UK GAAP, goodwill previously written off to reserves was recycled to the profit and loss account when the investment
to which the goodwill related was disposed of. Under IFRS no adjustment is required for goodwill previously written off to
reserves. On transition to IFRS goodwill recycled from reserves in the year ended 31 December 2006 of £1.9 million has
been reversed. 

(c) IAS 19 Employee Benefits
Under UK GAAP, the assets of the defined benefit pension schemes were valued at mid market prices. Under IFRS the
assets are valued at bid prices. IAS 19 requires the recoverability of a pension surplus to be assessed on a different basis 
to UK GAAP. The recoverability of the pension surplus has been adjusted to reflect guidance in IAS 19 where necessary.
The recognised pension surplus at 31 December 2006 has been reduced by £5.2 million to reflect these changes.

Under UK GAAP, the deferred tax liability relating to the retirement benefit surplus is netted off the surplus. Under IFRS the
deferred tax liability is shown separately. The deferred tax liability and pension surplus at 31 December 2006 have been
adjusted by £2.4 million to reflect this change. 

Under UK GAAP, the net of the interest expense on liabilities and the expected return on assets of £0.9 million income for
the year ended 31 December 2006 was disclosed as other financial income and shown net. Under IFRS these items have
been included within operating costs.

Under UK GAAP an accrual for leaving indemnities of £2.2 million at 31 December 2006 was classified in other payables.
This has been reclassified to retirement benefit liabilities under IFRS.
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Notes to the financial statements continued

35. First-time adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards (continued)
Notes to IFRS adjustments (continued)
(d) IAS 39 Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement
Under UK GAAP derivatives were not recognised as assets and liabilities on the balance sheet, and gains and losses arising
on them were not recognised in the income statement until they crystalised. Under IFRS all derivatives must be valued at fair
value on the balance sheet, and the movement in fair value recognised in the income statement unless is can be demonstrated
that the derivative is being used as an effective hedge.

Under IFRS derivative financial assets of £0.3 million and derivative financial liabilities of £0.1 million have been included
within the balance sheet as at 31 December 2006 to reflect this change and £0.2 million has been credited to other reserves.

(e) IAS 38 Intangible Assets
IFRS requires identifiable intangible assets to be recognised separately on the balance sheet and amortised over their useful
economic lives. Intangible assets of £1.2 million have been identified that were previously recorded as part of goodwill under
UK GAAP. These have been separately classified as intangible assets under IFRS and an amortisation charge of £0.1 million
has been charged to the income statement during the year to 31 December 2006.

(f ) IAS 12 Income Taxes
For share based payments IFRS requires that where the estimated future tax deduction exceeds the cumulative charge 
to the income statement, the excess of the associated current or deferred tax should be recognised directly in equity. 
A deferred tax asset of £0.6 million was recognised in the year ended 31 December 2006.

IFRS requires that a deferred tax liability should be recognised based on the value of intangible assets recognised. A deferred
tax liability of £0.3 million was recognised in the year ended 31 December 2006 in respect of acquisitions made during the year.

An adjustment has been made to the deferred tax asset recognised in error under UK GAAP in relation to losses brought
forward in the parent Company following a reassessment of the accounting for the pension scheme asset and its related
deferred tax liability. The effect of this was a debit to retained earnings of £1.9 million as at 1 January 2006 and a credit 
to the profit and loss account of £0.6 million for the year ended 31 December 2006.

(g) IFRS 1 First-time Adoption of International Financial Reporting Standards
The Group has elected under the transitional arrangements of IFRS 1 that the valuation of properties at 1 January 2006
should be treated as deemed cost. The revaluation reserve of £2.2 million has been transferred to the retained earnings.

36. Post balance sheet event
On 5 March 2008, Cape Pension Trustees Limited, the Trustee of the Cape plc Staff Pension and Life Assurance Scheme
(‘the Scheme’) made the decision to buy-out the pensioner liabilities with an insurance policy. The initial premium was 
paid to Legal & General to secure terms on 30 March 2008. This agreement is between the Scheme and the insurance
company and as such does not constitute a buy out of the individual pensioner liabilities. The effect of this is to reduce the
Scheme’s liabilities on a scheme funding basis and it is expected that on a minimum funding requirement under IFRIC 14, 
a surplus would be available to the Group in excess of £2 million.
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We have audited the parent Company financial statements
of Cape plc for the year ended 31 December 2007 which
comprise the Balance Sheet and the related notes. These
parent Company financial statements have been prepared
under the accounting policies set out therein. 

We have reported separately on the Group financial
statements of Cape plc for the year ended 31 December
2007. That report is modified by the inclusion of an
emphasis of matter.

Respective responsibilities of directors and auditors
The directors’ responsibilities for preparing the Annual
Report and the parent Company financial statements in
accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally
Accepted Accounting Practice) are set out in the Statement
of Directors’ Responsibilities.

Our responsibility is to audit the parent Company financial
statements in accordance with relevant legal and regulatory
requirements and International Standards on Auditing (UK
and Ireland). This report, including the opinion, has been
prepared for and only for the Company’s members as a
body in accordance with Section 235 of the Companies
Act 1985 and for no other purpose. We do not, in giving
this opinion, accept or assume responsibility for any other
purpose or to any other person to whom this report is
shown or into whose hands it may come save where
expressly agreed by our prior consent in writing.

We report to you our opinion as to whether the parent
Company financial statements give a true and fair view 
and whether the parent Company financial statements have
been properly prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 1985. We also report to you whether in our opinion the
information given in the Directors’ report is consistent with
the parent Company financial statements. The information
given in the Directors’ report includes that specific
information presented in the Chief Executive’s business
review, Chairman’s statement, Five year financial summary
and Principal risks and uncertainties review that is cross
referred from the Business review and Group results
section of the Directors’ report.

In addition we report to you if, in our opinion, the Company
has not kept proper accounting records, if we have not
received all the information and explanations we require for
our audit, or if information specified by law regarding directors’
remuneration and other transactions is not disclosed.

We read other information contained in the Annual Report
and consider whether it is consistent with the audited
parent Company financial statements. The other
information comprises only the Directors’ report, the
Chairman’s statement, the Chief Executive’s business
review, the report on Health, safety and the environment,
the Corporate Governance report, Group at a glance, Year
at a glance and the Principal risks and uncertainties review.
We consider the implications for our report if we become
aware of any apparent misstatements or material
inconsistencies with the financial statements. Our
responsibilities do not extend to any other information.

Basis of audit opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International
Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland) issued by the
Auditing Practices Board. An audit includes examination,
on a test basis, of evidence relevant to the amounts and
disclosures in the parent Company financial statements. 
It also includes an assessment of the significant estimates
and judgments made by the directors in the preparation 
of the parent Company financial statements, and of 
whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the
Company’s circumstances, consistently applied and
adequately disclosed.

We planned and performed our audit so as to obtain all 
the information and explanations which we considered
necessary in order to provide us with sufficient evidence 
to give reasonable assurance that the parent Company
financial statements are free from material misstatement,
whether caused by fraud or other irregularity or error. In
forming our opinion we also evaluated the overall adequacy
of the presentation of information in the parent Company
financial statements.

Opinion
In our opinion:

– the parent Company financial statements give a true
and fair view, in accordance with United Kingdom
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice, of the state 
of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2007.

– the parent Company financial statements have been
properly prepared in accordance with the Companies
Act 1985; and

– the information given in the Directors’ report is
consistent with the parent Company financial statements.

Emphasis of matter – Contingent liability for industrial
disease claims
In forming our opinion on the financial statements, which 
is not qualified, we have considered the adequacy of the
disclosures made in note 12 to the financial statements
concerning the impact of, and accounting for, potential
future claims for industrial disease compensation. 
An independent actuarial estimate of the range of certain
potential liabilities has been performed. However, given 
the wide range of the estimates and significant degree 
of uncertainty surrounding them, it is not possible for the
Directors to quantify, with sufficient reliability, the amount
required to settle future claims and accordingly claims are
generally accounted for on the basis of claims lodged or
settlements reached and outstanding at the balance sheet
date. However, if it were possible to assess reliably the
present value of the amount required to settle future claims
such that this was provided in the balance sheet, there
would be a materially adverse effect on the Company’s
financial position.

PricewaterhouseCoopers LLP
Chartered Accountants and Registered Auditors
Leeds
9 May 2008

Independent auditors’ report to the members of Cape plc
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2007 2006
restated

Notes £m £m
Fixed assets
Investments 4 138.3 98.1

138.3 98.1

Current assets
Debtors 5 176.5 4.3
Cash at bank and in hand 5.6 –

182.1 4.3

Creditors: amounts falling due within one year
Short-term borrowings 7 (20.0) (6.6)
Other creditors 7 (4.0) (0.9)

(24.0) (7.5)
Net current assets/(liabilities) 158.1 (3.2)

Total assets less current liabilities 296.4 94.9

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 8 (148.7) (56.2)

Provisions for liabilities and charges 9 (7.6) (8.9)

Net assets excluding pension (liability)/asset 140.1 29.8
Pension (liability)/asset (0.3) 10.9
Net assets including pension (liability)/asset 139.8 40.7

Capital and Reserves
Called up share capital 10 32.8 25.2
Share premium account 11 7.5 25.0
Revaluation reserve 11 99.9 60.2
Special reserve 11 1.0 –
Retained earnings 11 (1.4) (69.7)
Total shareholders’ funds 139.8 40.7

These accounts were approved by the Board of Directors on 9 May 2008 and were signed on its behalf by:

D McManus Chairman
MT Reynolds Group Finance Director

The notes and information on pages 87 to 94 form part of these accounts.

Parent Company balance sheet (UK GAAP)
at 31 December 2007
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1. Accounting policies
a. Basis of preparation
The financial statements are prepared on the going concern basis under the historical cost convention with the exception 
of the revaluation of subsidiary undertakings as described in part b, and in accordance with the Companies Act 1985 and
applicable accounting standards. The Company’s financial statements have been prepared in accordance with accounting
principles generally accepted in the United Kingdom and are therefore being presented separately from the consolidated
financial statements of Cape plc, which have been prepared in accordance with International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRS) as adopted by the European Union (EU) and International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee (IFRIC)
interpretations.

As permitted by section 230 of the Companies Act 1985 the Company has elected not to present its own profit and loss
account for the year. In accordance with FRS 1 (revised 1996) and FRS 8 the Company has taken advantage of the
exemptions not to prepare a cash flow statement and not to disclose transactions with related parties. FRS 29 ‘Financial
instruments: Disclosures’ became effective from 1 January 2007. As the consolidated financial statements have been
prepared in accordance with IFRS 7, the Company is exempt from the disclosure requirements of FRS 29. Other new
accounting standards issued by the Accounting Standards Board and effective from 1 January 2007 have had no impact 
on the accounts of the Company.

b. Fixed asset investments
The cost of investments is revalued each year to the net asset value of the Company’s subsidiaries with changes above 
and below cost dealt with through the revaluation reserve and profit and loss account reserve accordingly. Provision has not
been made for any taxation liability on capital gains that might arise on the disposal of the subsidiary undertakings at the
amount at which they are stated in the balance sheet.

c. Use of estimates and assumptions
The preparation of these financial statements requires management to make estimates and assumptions that affect the
reported amounts of assets and liabilities at the date of the financial statements and the reported amounts of revenue during
the reporting period. Actual results could differ from these estimates. Information about such judgements and estimation 
is contained in individual accounting policies.

Key sources of estimation uncertainty that could cause an adjustment to be required to the carrying amount of asset 
or liabilities within the next accounting period are:

– Estimation of liabilities for pension and other post retirement costs;
– Liabilities in relation to industrial disease claims; and
– Recoverability of deferred tax assets.

d. Compensation for industrial disease
Provision is made for compensation for industrial disease where it is possible to estimate the liability with sufficient reliability.
This is generally only currently possible in respect of claims lodged and outstanding at the period end. Where this is not
possible, a contingent liability is noted. Benefit is recognised for insurance recoveries for claims provided when they are
anticipated with virtual certainty.

e. Provisions
Provisions for liabilities, except for those for industrial disease, are made where the timing or amount of settlement is
uncertain. A provision is recognised when: the Company has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of past
events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation and the amount has been reliably
estimated.

f. Deferred income taxation
Deferred taxation is recognised in respect of all timing differences that have originated but not reversed at the balance sheet
date where transactions or events have occurred at that date that will result in an obligation to pay more, or a right to pay
less, tax in the future. Resultant deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is considered more likely than
not that there will be suitable taxable profits from which the underlying timing differences can be deducted, or where there
are deferred tax liabilities against which the assets can be recovered. Deferred tax is measured on an undiscounted basis 
at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the periods in which timing differences reverse, based on tax rates and laws
enacted or substantively enacted at the balance sheet date.

Parent Company 
Notes to the financial statements (UK GAAP)
For the year ended 31 December 2007
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Notes to the financial statements (UK GAAP) continued
For the year ended 31 December 2007
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1. Accounting policies (continued)
g. Borrowings
Borrowings are recognised initially at the amount of the consideration received after deduction of issue costs. Issue costs
together with finance costs are charged to the profit and loss account over the term of the borrowings and represent 
a constant proportion of the balance of capital repayments outstanding.

Cumulative preference shares are classified as liabilities. The dividends on these preference shares are recognised 
in the income statement as interest expense. 

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Company has an unconditional right to defer settlement 
of the liability for at least 12 months after the balance sheet date.  

h. Cash at bank and in hand
Cash at bank and in hand include cash in hand, deposits held on call with banks and other short-term highly liquid
investments with original maturities of three months or less. Bank overdrafts are shown within borrowings in current liabilities
on the balance sheet.

i. Share capital
Ordinary shares and deferred shares are classified as equity. 

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a deduction, 
net of tax, from the proceeds.

j. Share based payments
The Company issues equity settled share based payments to certain employees which must be measured at fair value and
recognised as an expense in the profit and loss account with a corresponding increase in equity. The fair values of these
payments are measured at the dates of grant using option pricing models, taking into account the terms and conditions
upon which the awards are granted. The fair value is recognised over the period during which employees become
unconditionally entitled to the awards subject to the Company’s estimate of the number of awards which will lapse, either
due to employees leaving the Group prior to vesting or due to non-market based performance conditions not being met.

Proceeds received on the exercise of share options are credited to share capital and share premium.

k. Pensions
The Group operates two major pension schemes in the UK, one is a defined benefit scheme and the other is a defined
contribution scheme. The assets of the plan are held separately from those of the Company in an independently
administered fund.

Defined benefit plan
The Company is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme on a consistent and
reasonable basis and therefore, as permitted by FRS 17, accounts for the plan as if it were a defined contribution plan. 
The consolidated financial statements include full disclosures of the UK defined benefit plan in accordance with IAS 19
which is similar to FRS 17 (note 24).

Defined contribution plan
Payments to the defined contribution plan are charged as an expense as they fall due.
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2. Loss of the Company
The retained loss for the financial year attributable to the Company was £12.3 million (2006: £43.1 million).

3. Employee and directors
Details of Directors’ emoluments are shown in note 34 to the Group accounts.

(a) Average number of employees (including executive Directors)

2007 2006
Number Number

Number of employees 24 17

(b) Employment costs, including Directors’ emoluments

2007 2006
£m £m

Wages and salaries 2.1 0.7
Social security 0.2 0.3
Other pension costs 0.2 0.3
Cost of employee share scheme 0.3 0.4

2.8 1.7

4. Fixed asset investments

Group undertakings
Total Shares Loans

£m £m £m
Cost or valuation at 1 January 2007 98.1 94.4 3.7
Reversal of provision charged to profit and loss account 0.5 0.5 –
Unrealised gain on revaluation of investments in subsidiary undertakings 39.7 39.7 –
Cost or valuation at 31 December 2007 138.3 134.6 3.7

Group undertakings
Total Shares Loans

Included within the above are the following movements on provisions £m £m £m
At 1 January 2007 (37.8) (32.5) (5.3)
Reversal of provision charged to profit and loss account 0.5 0.5 –
Provision at 31 December 2007 (37.3) (32.0) (5.3)

If investments in subsidiary undertakings had not been revalued they would have been included at the following amounts:

2007 2006
£m £m

Cost 66.6 66.6
Aggregate amounts provided (32.0) (32.5)
Net book value 34.6 34.1

The principal subsidiary undertakings at 31 December 2007, which are all included in the Group consolidated financial
statements, are shown on pages 97 to 99.
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5. Debtors

2007 2006
£m £m

Amounts owed by Group undertakings 172.7 –
Other debtors 0.5 0.4
UK taxation 2.0 1.5
Prepayments and accrued income 0.5 0.5
Deferred tax 0.8 1.9

176.5 4.3

6. Deferred taxation

2007 2006
£m £m

Deferred taxation asset comprises:
Short-term timing differences 0.8 0.7
Losses – 1.2
Deferred taxation asset included in debtors 0.8 1.9
Deferred tax liability on pension asset – (4.6)

0.8 (2.7)

Net deferred taxation asset/(liability)
At 1 January (2.7) –
Amount debited to profit and loss account (1.1) (0.5)
Amount credited/(debited) to statement of total recognised gains and losses 4.6 (2.2)
At 31 December 0.8 (2.7)

7. Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

2007 2006
£m £m

Bank loans 20.0 2.6
Bank overdrafts – 4.0
Short-term borrowings 20.0 6.6
Payroll and other taxes, including social security 0.1 –
Other creditors 1.0 0.6
Accruals and deferred income 2.9 0.3

4.0 0.9
Total amounts falling due within one year 24.0 7.5

Parent Company 
Notes to the financial statements (UK GAAP) continued
For the year ended 31 December 2007
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8. Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year

2007 2006
restated

£m £m
Bank loans 148.4 9.9
Amounts owed to Group undertakings – 46.0
Cumulative preference shares 0.3 0.3
Total amounts falling due after more than one year 148.7 56.2

The bank loans and overdrafts are secured by fixed and floating charges over the assets of the Group.

The cumulative preference shares were classified as share capital as at 31 December 2006. These have now been correctly
classified as a long term creditor and the balance sheet as at 31 December 2006 has been restated.

3.5% cumulative preference shares 
The Company has in issue 250,000 cumulative preference shares of £1 each with a fixed cumulative preferential dividend of
3.5% per annum, payable half yearly in arrears on 31 March and 30 September. Over the last 5 years the dividends have
been deferred as the Company did not have distributable reserves from which to pay the dividends. The shares have no
redemption entitlement.

9. Provisions for liabilities and charges

Compensation
for industrial Other

Total disease Provisions
£m £m £m

At 1 January 2007 8.9 5.9 3.0
Charge to profit and loss account 1.7 0.5 1.2
Utilised in the year (3.0) (2.8) (0.2)
At 31 December 2007 7.6 3.6 4.0

(i) The provision for industrial disease represents the expected costs of settling notified claims. It is anticipated that most
of these claims will be paid within the next two years. The charge to profit for the compensation for industrial disease 
in the year net of insurance recoveries is £0.5 million (2006: £2.3 million). The provision charge is recognised within net
operating expenses. Insurance recoveries of £0.3 million (2006: £0.4 million) are receivable against certain of these
claims and are included in the Balance Sheet under ‘other debtors’. The basis for the provision and the contingent
liability in respect of future settlements is described in note 12 (i).

(ii) Other provisions relate to the decision made in 2002 to sell and close the Calsil business and provisions for property
dilapidations and national insurance on share options.
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Parent Company 
Notes to the financial statements (UK GAAP) continued

10. Share capital

2007 2006
restated

(a) Authorised £m £m
153,600,000 ordinary shares of 25p each (2006: 105,683,762 ordinary shares of 25p) 38.4 26.4
431,906,031 deferred shares of 1p each (2006: 431,906,031) 4.3 4.3
1 plc scheme share (2006: 1) – –

42.7 30.7

2007 2006
(a) Called up, fully paid and allotted £m £m
113,837,618 ordinary shares of 25p each (2006: 83,523,101 ordinary shares of 25p) 28.5 20.9
431,906,031 deferred shares of 1p each (2006: 431,906,031) 4.3 4.3
1 plc scheme share (2006: 1) – –

32.8 25.2

For details of the rights of each class of the Company’s shares and the Company’s employee share option schemes refer 
to note 28 in the Group financial statements.

11. Reserves

Share Profit
premium Revaluation Special and loss

Total account reserve reserve account
£m £m £m £m £m

At 1 January 2007 15.5 25.0 60.2 – (69.7)
Unrealised gain on revaluation of investments in 

subsidiary undertakings 39.7 – 39.7 – –
Issue of share capital 70.7 70.7 – – –
Issue expenses (2.1) (2.1) – – –
Issue of share capital – share options 0.3 – – – 0.3
Reduction in share capital – (86.3) – 1.0 85.3
Exchange gain 1.8 – – – 1.8
Loss for the year (12.3) – – – (12.3)
Adjustment in respect of employee share scheme 0.2 0.2 – – –
Removal of pension scheme asset (6.8) – – – (6.8)
At 31 December 2007 107.0 7.5 99.9 1.0 (1.4)

As at 31 December 2006 the Group’s defined benefit pension scheme was incorrectly included as an asset in the accounts
of the Company. This has been corrected during the year and the main Group defined benefit scheme is now treated as if it
was a defined contribution scheme in the accounts of the Company.



93 Cape plc Annual Report and Accounts 2007

12. Contingencies
i. There is a history of industrial disease claims being lodged against the Company for a number of years. Where the

Company has determined that it is appropriate to do so, settlement has been made. Based on this experience, it is likely
that similar claims will continue to be received for the foreseeable future. However, there is significant uncertainty over
the number, nature, timing and validity of such future claims. This is as a result of, inter alia, uncertainties concerning the
population that may have been exposed to asbestos and that may develop asbestos-related diseases, the nature and
timing of the diseases that may develop, the impact of other factors which might have contributed to the claimant’s
condition, changes in the legal environment and to the typical cost of settlement. These factors affect considerations of
liability and the quantum of settlements. Experience to date is that some of these claims will be at least partially covered
by insurance policies but the amount of cover will not be known until the details of the claims are available.

In order to provide for the long term financing of a great majority of all future asbestos-related claims likely to be made
successfully against the Company, it has put in place the Scheme details of which are set out in note 33 to the Group
accounts. The Scheme became effective in relation to Cape plc on 14 June 2006.

In accordance with the terms of the Scheme, the Directors have commissioned independent actuaries to review and
provide an estimate of certain of the Company’s unpaid and uninsured UK asbestos-related claims as at 31 December
2007. Estimates of unpaid asbestos-related claims are inherently uncertain. Although the review did not take account of
all potential claims against the Company, it covers, in the opinion of the Directors, the overwhelming majority of all UK
asbestos-related claims likely to be made against the Company. The actuaries’ central estimate of the aggregate projected
discounted value, net of insurance recoveries, of the unpaid UK asbestos-related claims they reviewed is £74.0 million
(2006: £119.4 million). This estimate is contained within a range of low and high estimates of £48.0 million (2006: £70.2
million) and £203.0 million (2006: £240.3 million) respectively, although there can be no certainty that the total cost of
such claims will fall within the range of such estimates. As at the date of the last actuarial review (31 December 2004),
the actuaries’ central estimate of the aggregate projected discounted value, net of insurance recoveries, of the unpaid
UK asbestos-related claims they reviewed was £119.4 million, contained within a range of low and high estimates of
£70.2 million and £240.3 million respectively. The change in central estimate and the ranges is due to recent experience,
changes in legislation and up to date views of the legal position. The discount rate applied is 5%. Claims not covered by
the review include, inter alia, overseas claims and certain potential claims for reimbursement from insurers and others. 

Given the wide range of the estimates and the significant degree of uncertainty surrounding them, the Directors take 
the view that the amount of the Company’s overall obligation cannot be measured with sufficient reliability. Accordingly,
the Company provides in the profit and loss account each period for the estimated liability in respect of industrial disease
claims lodged and outstanding at the period end. The accounting treatment of claims lodged and outstanding has not
been changed as a result of the implementation of the Scheme. The potential liability shown in the Company Balance
Sheet remains unchanged as a result of the implementation of the Scheme. However, the effect of the Scheme is to
protect the Company to a significant extent from the risks of insolvency of the Scheme companies if there is a significant
increase in either the number of claims or the quantum of damages or costs the Company has to settle or a material
deterioration in the Group’s trading performance which would otherwise have caused the Company to be unable to
settle Scheme claims payable by it in full. Nevertheless, if it were possible to assess reliably the present value of amounts
that might be paid in future settlements such that this was to be provided in the Balance Sheet, there would be a
materially adverse effect on the Company’s financial position. There is great uncertainty over the net present value of the
future claim settlements. These could occur over a period of more than 40 years. However, in aggregate they are unlikely
to exceed the amount of the net assets included in the current Company Balance Sheet. Based on the recent history of
settlements, the Directors anticipate that, assuming there is no material deterioration in the Group’s trading performance
nor a significant increase in either the number of asbestos-related claims or the quantum of damages or costs the Group
has to settle, nor any significant shortfall in the recoveries that the Directors expect the Company to make from its
insurers and under third party indemnities and the Scheme fund achieves investment returns in line with current
expectations, the Group will be able to ensure that (i) its newly formed subsidiary Cape Claims Services Limited (‘CCS’)
will be sufficiently funded to satisfy all Scheme claims and (ii) the Group will be sufficiently funded to satisfy any UK
asbestos-related claims falling outside the Scheme. Should the future pattern as regards timing and quantum of claims
prove to be materially and adversely different from the historic trend, there could be a material adverse effect on the
Company’s financial position. 
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ii. The Company was the defendant in proceedings brought by some 7,500 South African residents who claimed that they
suffered injury as the result of mining activities in South Africa undertaken by former subsidiaries of Cape plc. The
Company entered into an agreement on 13 March 2003 with the claimants in the group action and new claimants who
had come forward in 2002.

It is possible that claims could arise in the future from claimants who were not included in the group action, or who claim
they have developed an asbestos-related disease since the date of the settlement and as a result of the Group’s former
mining activities in South Africa. There is a significant uncertainty as to whether such future claims will be made and as
to the number, nature, timing and validity of such claims. However, no such claims have been received to date.

iii. The Company continues to be named, along with several asbestos fibre and asbestos product suppliers, as defendants 
in a number of legal actions in North America. The plaintiffs in such actions are claiming substantial damages as a result
of the use of these products. The Company has received legal advice in the UK that default judgments obtained in North
America against Companies within the Group which are not present in North America, would not be enforceable in the
UK. Consequently the Directors believe that the above-mentioned matters are unlikely 
to have a material effect on the Company’s financial position.

iv. The Company’s subsidiary, Cape Industrial Services Limited, together with other companies involved in offshore
contracting work, is a defendant in proceedings before the Employment Tribunal under the Working Time Regulations
1998 brought by a small number of employees claiming that their paid annual leave should be taken from scheduled
working time. If successful, the claimants (and other affected employees who are not party to the proceedings) could be
entitled to compensation. Under the terms of certain of its contracts, Cape Industrial Services Limited would be entitled
to additional payment from its clients. There is significant uncertainty as to whether the claimants will succeed and, if
they do, as to the number of affected employees, the amount of any compensation that would be awarded and the
extent to which it could be recovered under relevant contracts.

v. There are a number of leasehold properties in respect of which the Company is liable for dilapidations, and rent in the
event of default by its sub-tenants. Given the nature of these arrangements it is difficult to assess the potential liability
with certainty and as a consequence contingent liabilities may exist. The Directors believe that any such contingent
amounts would not have a material effect on the Company’s financial position.

vi. The Company has contingent liabilities in respect of guarantees and bonds entered into in the normal course of business,
in respect of which no loss is expected.

13. Pension
The net pension scheme surplus of the Cape defined benefit scheme should not have been recognised by the Company at
31 December 2006. The asset has therefore been removed in the year. The remaining deficit recognised at 31 December
2007 relates to the guaranteed minimum pension element of a defined contribution pension scheme.

Parent Company 
Notes to the financial statements (UK GAAP) continued
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Five year financial summary

In accordance with current reporting practice a five year record is provided of the performance of the Group.

IFRS IFRS UK GAAP UK GAAP UK GAAP
Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended Year ended

31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December 31 December
2007 2006 2005 2004 2003

Income statement £m £m £m £m £m
Continuing operations
Revenue 428.8 274.0 229.8 238.9 228.3

Group operating profit before exceptional items 36.1 14.8 7.8 5.8 3.6
Exceptional items (0.3) 1.0 (9.7) (1.1) (0.4)
Group operating profit/(loss) 35.8 15.8 (1.9) 4.7 3.2

Profit/(loss) before tax 33.0 15.6 (1.0) 5.8 5.5

Profit/(loss) from continuing operations 27.6 13.6 (0.3) 5.3 4.3

Discontinued operations (0.7) 1.1 0.3 0.5 1.6
Profit for the year 26.9 14.7 – 5.8 5.9

Compensation for industrial disease (1.6) (3.4) (4.6) (3.7) (3.8)

Balance Sheet
Non-current assets 299.4 60.4 35.5 27.5 29.9
Net current assets 70.6 58.0 49.6 25.0 26.8
Non-current liabilities (189.3) (43.2) (20.9) (21.6) (27.0)
Net assets 180.7 75.2 64.2 30.9 29.7
Earnings per share
– Basic 26.0p 17.6p – 10.7p 10.9p
– Diluted 25.5p 17.3p – 10.6p 10.9p

The amounts disclosed for 2005 and earlier periods are stated on the basis of UK GAAP because it is not practicable to
restate amounts for periods prior to the date of transition to IFRS. The principal differences between UK GAAP and IFRS 
are explained in note 35 to the Group financial statements which provides an explanation of the transition to IFRS. 
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Principal subsidiary undertakings
As at 31 December 2007

Cape Industrial Services Limited
Chief Executive Martin May 
Telephone +44 (0) 203 178 5380

The provision of specialized services to major industrial
groups in the UK and internationally, primarily in the energy
sector. Services include: scaffolding, insulation, specialist
coatings, fire protection, refractory linings, industrial and
specialist cleaning, inspection and other associated
services including asbestos removal.

Wakefield
Co-ordination of industrial services activities in the UK.

St Albans
Co-ordination of international industrial services activities.

Cape Industrial Services Limited has overseas branches
located in Ireland, Azerbaijan, Kazakhstan and 
New Caledonia.

DBI Industrial Services Limited and DBI Offshore
Services Limited
Paisley, Scotland
Specialist industrial cleaning in the UK.

Cape East EC (Incorporating RB Hilton Limited) 
Bahrain
Co-ordination of industrial services activities in the 
Middle East.

Cape East Private Limited
Singapore
Co-ordination of industrial services activities in the Asia
Pacific region.

Cape Australia Holdings Pty Limited
Perth, Western Australia
Co-ordination of industrial services activities in Australia.

Notes:
1. The principal subsidiary undertakings listed are those whose results, in the

opinion of the Directors, principally affected the revenue or assets of the
Group. The subsidiary undertakings operate principally in the countries in
which they are incorporated.

2. The principal subsidiary undertakings listed are wholly but indirectly owned.
3. Of the principal subsidiary undertakings listed, Cape Industrial Services

Limited, RB Hilton Limited, DBI Industrial Services Limited and DBI Offshore
Services Limited are incorporated and registered in England and Wales.

4. There are no subsidiary undertakings that have been excluded from 
the consolidation.
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The following Companies are either wholly owned or
majority held subsidiary Companies within the Group and
all of whose ultimate parent Company is Cape plc:

UK
Cape East (UK) Limited
Cape Building Products Limited
Cape Calsil Limited
Cape Calsil Group Limited
Cape Calsil International Limited
Cape Calsil Systems Limited
Cape Claims Services Limited
Cape Industrial Services Europe Limited
Cape Industrial Services Group Limited
Cape Overseas Limited
Cape Perlite Systems Limited
Predart Limited

UK DORMANT
Altitude Scaffolding Limited
Capasco Limited
Cape Contracts Limited
Cape Contracts International Limited
Cape Defined Pension Trustees Limited
Cape Durasteel Limited
Cape Environmental Services Limited
Cape Fire Protection Products Limited
Cape Hire Limited
Cape Industrial Services Holdings Limited
Cape Industrial Training Services Limited
Cape Industries Limited
Cape Insulation Limited
Cape Mechanical Services Limited
Cape Painting Contractors Limited
Cape Pension Trustees Limited
Cape Scaffolding Limited
Cape Specialist Coatings Limited
Cape Security Services Limited
CISG Limited
Datadeep Limited
Duffy & McGovern Maintenance Services Limited
HPC Coatings Limited
Investable Limited
Joseph Nadin Limited
Maintenance Insulation Limited
RB Hilton Refractories Limited
RBH Limited
Somewatch Limited
Somewin Limited
Stockfocal Limited
T.A.P. Ceilings Limited
Wildboost Limited
Winfield Insulation Services Limited

International
Algeria
Cape East Algeria SARL

Australia
Cape Industrial Services (Australia) Pty Ltd
Cape Contracts International (WA) Pty Ltd
Cape Australia Holdings Pty Ltd
Cape Australia Investments Pty Ltd
TCC Holdings (2005) Pty Ltd
Total Corrosion Control Pty Ltd
TAM Group Pty Ltd
Total Scaffold Services Pty Ltd
Total Project (WA) Pty Ltd
Concept Hire Ltd
Scafftech Pty Ltd
Concept Hiring Services Pty Ltd
Romteck Monitoring Services Pty Ltd
Blackadder Scaffolding Services Pty Ltd
Blackadder Contracting Australia Pty Ltd
Ridgebay Holdings Pty Ltd
Westform Scaffolding & Rigging Services Pty Ltd
Total Trades Services Pty Ltd
Total Trades Personnel Pty Ltd
Passline Holdings Pty Ltd
Construction Fitout Pty Ltd
SEQ Scaffolding Pty Ltd
Concept Hiring Services (Qld) Pty Ltd
PCH Group Ltd
PCH Australia Pty Ltd
PCH Personnel Pty Ltd
PCH Offshore Pty Ltd
Geelong West Scaffolding Pty Ltd
PCH Scaffolding Pty Ltd

Bahrain
Orascom Cape WLL
Cape East (UK) Albahrain Holding S.P.C.

Belgium
Cape Calsil Belgium SPRL
Cleton Insulation Belgium NV

Brunei
Cape International Sdn Bhd

Cayman Islands
Cape Cayman (No.2) Ltd

Egypt
Cape East Egypt LLC

France
Cape France Holdings SARL
Cape Calsil France SA

Other subsidiary undertakings
As at 31 December 2007
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Other subsidiary undertakings continued
As at 31 December 2007

Germany
Cape Boards Siborit GmbH 
Cape Entsorgungs-technik GmbH 
Minora Luneburg GmbH
CSP GmbH
Cape Calsil Deutshland GmbH
Cleton Isolierungen GmbH

Hong Kong
Cape Asia Pacific Ltd

India
Cape Industrial Services Private Ltd

Indonesia
PT Cape East Meiso Ltd

Kazakhstan
Cape Kazakhstan LLC

Kuwait
Cape East General Contracting Company Ltd

Libya
Cape East Libya Ltd

Malaysia
Cape Asia Pacific Sdn Bhd
Cape East Malaysia Sdn Bhd

Malta
Cape East (Malta) Limited

Netherlands
Cleton Insulation BV
Cleton Maintenance BV
Cape Milieutechniek BV
Fibertec Europe BV
Cape Netherlands BV
Cape Marine & Offshore BV

Oman
Cape East & Partners LLC

Philippines
Cape East Philippines Inc.

Russia
Cape Industrial Services LLC
Cape Industrial Services (Sakhalin) LLC

Saudi Arabia
R B Hilton Saudi Arabia Ltd
Cape Industrial Services Ltd

Singapore
Cape Asia Pacific Pte Ltd
PCH Contracting Pte Ltd

Spain
Cape Ailsamientos S.L.

Thailand
Cape East (Holdings) Ltd
Cape East (Thailand) Ltd
PCH (Thailand) Ltd

Tunisia
Cape East Tunisia SARL

U.A.E.
Cape East LLC
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£428.8m
Group revenue
+56.5% (2006: £274.0m)

£36.1m
Group operating profit from continuing 
operations before exceptional items 
+143.9% (2006: £14.8m)

£33.0m
Group profit before tax
+111.5% (2006: £15.6m)

£17.8m
Cash generated from operating activities 
before industrial disease scheme funding
up 29.9% (2006: £13.7m)

£180.7m
Net assets
+140.3% (2006: £75.2m)

26.2p
Diluted EPS from continuing operations
+63.8% (2006: 16.0p)

23.6p
Underlying adjusted EPS 
from continuing operations 
+47.5% (2006: 16.0p)

> High levels of organic growth 
in every region; order book
continues to strengthen

> Australian acquisitions;
diversification into 
resources sector

> Acquisition of additional
complementary services 
within the UK 

> Group reorganised into four 
key geographic regions;
Regional Directors appointed

> Appointment of additional
Non-Executive Director and
Group Human Resources &
Safety Directors

> Continued investment in
training; CISRS approved
training centre in the Philippines

> Every region recognised by
clients for safety performance

> Rebranding of all Group
businesses as Cape – replacing
previous trading styles CIS,
RB Hilton and Cape East
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